

UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG school of business, economics and law

Cluster Initiative Success Management – a single case study on Telematics Valley

Emma Åström & Saima Shahid

Graduate School

Master of Science in Knowledge-Based Entrepreneurship

Supervisor: Ethan Gifford

Spring, 2021

Cluster Initiative Success Management – a single case study on Telematics Valley.

By Emma Åström & Saima Shahid © Åström, Emma & Shahid, Saima. 2021. Supervisor: Ethan Gifford

Master's Thesis MSc in Knowledge-based Entrepreneurship 2021 Institute of Innovation and Entrepreneurship Department of Economy and Society School of Business, Economics and Law University of Gothenburg S-405 30 Gothenburg Telephone +46 31-786 0000

Gothenburg, Sweden June 2021

Acknowledgement

First of all, we would like to thank all the respondents from various organisations for their contribution in the form of interviews. The perspectives and insights shared by them have been invaluable for the study and we highly appreciate their contributions. We are impressed by their expertise and have thoroughly enjoyed the discussions with them.

We would also like to give our special thanks to Per Österström and Ulrike Firniss from Business Region Gothenburg, who have given us exceptional guidance and engagement during the process, it has been a pleasure to work with them. Also, we want to thank our supervisor Ethan Gifford for giving his valuable support and inputs throughout the entire master's thesis.

Gothenburg 2021-06-06

Emma Åström

rather

Saima Shahid

Abstract

Regional Innovation System (RIS) and clusters have long been argued for having a positive impact on regional growth. Also, the eminence of cluster initiatives and how in turn they support regional growth and development are becoming important questions for scholars and practitioners as well. However, there is limited prior qualitative research which investigates how cluster initiatives become successful and what their influence on regional development is. The purpose of this study is therefore to investigate the area of cluster initiative success and management. This research is a qualitative single case study on the cluster initiative - Telematics Valley, situated in the region of Gothenburg. The study aims to identify the 'crucial success factors' that are needed by the cluster initiative to become successful and the potential future actions that Telematics Valley can take in order to attain the success factors. The respondents for the interviews were selected through purposive sampling of actors from the telematics industry and cluster organisations focused on regional growth. In order to analyse the results, a merged framework incorporating 'crucial success factors for cluster initiatives' and 'cluster effect on regional growth and development' was used as the theoretical perspective and lens throughout the study. A 'thematic analysis' approach was used, which assisted in the generation of crucial patterns and themes. The authors deduce that the identified empirical results and the derived themes correspond with the incorporated theoretical framework. The crucial success factors: idea, driving forces & commitment, a critical mass, activities and organisation, were concluded to be essential for the cluster initiative's success. The results indicate that having a: well defined idea, mission and vision, a unique membership base, motivated members, open atmosphere, opening up for external actors, relevant activities and taking the role of a facilitator of networks, are all important for Telematics Valley to develop and facilitate the links between the actors in the cluster. This in turn, creates cluster competitiveness which leads to a favourable environment for business growth which enhances regional growth and development within the region of Gothenburg.

Keywords: Telematics, Telematics Valley, Clusters, Cluster Initiative, Regional Innovation Systems (RIS).

Reference: Åström, E. & Shahid, S. (2021) 'Telematics Valley for the industry in Gothenburg region'. Master Thesis. University of Gothenburg, School of Business, Economics and Law.

Table of Contents

	1
1.1 BACKGROUND	1
1.2 PROBLEM DISCUSSION	
1 3 PURPOSE OF STUDY	3
1 4 Research Ouestions	4
1.5 DELIMITATIONS	
3 I ITEDATIIDE DEVIEW	6
J. LITERATURE REVIEW	0
3.1 SELECTION OF PAST LITERATURE	6
3.2 REGIONAL GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT	6
3.3 REGIONAL INNOVATION SYSTEMS (RIS)	7
3.4 CLUSTERS	9
3.5 THE RELATIONSHIP OF RIS & CLUSTERS	10
3.6 CLUSTER INITIATIVES	11
4. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	13
4.1 Success Factors In cluster Initiatives	13
4.2 CLUSTER INITIATIVE AS DRIVING FORCE FOR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT	15
4.3 The Four Actions Framework	18
5. RESEARCH METHODS	20
51 RESEARCH ADDOACH	20
5.2 RESEARCH STRATEGY	20
5.2 RESEARCH DESIGN	21
5.4 DATA COLLECTION	22
5 4 1 Primary Data	
5.4.1.1 Semi-Structured Interviews	
5.4.2 Interviewee Selection	24
5.4.3 Secondary Data	26
5.5 Thematic Analysis	
5.6 Research Quality	27
5.6.1 Validity	27
5.6.2 Reliability	27
5.6.3 Research Ethics	28
6. EMPIRICAL CONTEXT	29
6.1 Telematics	29
6.1.1 Telematics Industry Development	29
6.1.2 Telematics & Its Role Today and in the future	30
6.1.3 Telematics Markets	30
6.1.4 Utilization Of Telematics Within Different Industries and Services	31
6.1.4.1 Automotive Industry	
6.1.4.2 Other Industries and Services	
6.2 THE TELEMATICS INDUSTRY IN GOTHENBURG REGION	
6.3 TELEMATICS VALLEY	35
7. EMPIRICAL FINDINGS	36
7.1 The Perceived Role of Telematics Valley Today	
7.2 The Importance Of Networks	

7.2.1 Openness & Trust Within Networks	
7.3 KNOWLEDGE EXCHANGE	41
7.4 COLLABORATION BETWEEN ACTORS IN RELATED INDUSTRIES	
7.5 REVAMPING OF TELEMATICS VALLEY	
7.5.1 Defining The Mission & Vision	
7.5.2 Value Offering	
7.5.3 Name Change	
7.5.4 The Need To Redesign Telematics Valley	
7.5.5 Recruitment Of An Employee	50
7.6 THE POTENTIAL FUTURE STRATEGY AND ACTIONS OF TELEMATICS VALLEY	51
7.6.1 Strategic Future Role of Telematics Valley	55
7.6.2 The Sustainability Perspective	
7.6.3 Strategy During and After Covid 19	
7.7 THE GLOBAL VS. REGIONAL PERSPECTIVE	61
7.7.1 Gothenburg Region	61
7.7.2 Open vs. Closed Community	
7.7.3 Regional Approach	63
7.7.4 Global Approach	64
8. ANALYSIS	66
8.1 IDEA	67
8.2 Driving Force and Commitment	69
8.3 Critical Mass	71
8.4 Activities	74
8.5 ORGANISATION	79
9. DISCUSSION	85
10. PRACTICAL RECOMMENDATIONS	
11. CONCLUSION	
11.1 Contribution Of The Study	
11.2 FUTURE RESEARCH PROPOSAL	
REFERENCES	

1. Introduction

This section aims to introduce the research topic and the background of the study. The background gives a brief overview of Regional Innovation System (RIS), clusters, telematics, the regional industry in Gothenburg and the cluster initiative - Telematics Valley. The section will also touch upon the research problem discussion and the purpose of the study. Thereafter, the research questions and the delimitations of the study will be presented.

1.1 Background

It has been long recognised that the geographical agglomeration and concentration of firms stimulates innovation, knowledge spill-overs and competitiveness in a region (Audretsch & Feldman, 2004). The notable concepts of Regional Innovation Systems (RIS) and clusters have been extensively argued for having a positive impact on the interconnected organisations and also the region overall (Cooke, 2001). Prior research defines RIS as *'interactive knowledge generation subsystems'* which has an effect on a region's innovation performance and competitiveness (Önday, 2016). RIS is also described as the institutional infrastructure that supports innovation within the region. Regional clusters exist within the structure of the RIS, and can be defined as the regional ecosystem of organisations, institutions and actors within the same field, who are located in the same geographical area (Delgado & Porter, 2014). Extensive research has been conducted on clusters and on the advantages it brings for the co-located organisations (Porter, 1998; Delgado & Porter, 2014; Duranton & Kerr, 2015; Ketels, 2003).

Clusters are considered to be vital contributors to regional competitiveness and development through stimulating innovativeness, job creation and technological progress (Porter, 2000). The key actors within the cluster can share and develop specialised knowledge, skills, resources and service within the particular industry (Andersson et al., 2004). These key players within clusters can be complemented by 'brokers' also known as the 'cluster initiatives' or intermediaries. Cluster initiatives are defined as the facilitators for connecting the links between the different actors within a cluster, to stimulate and encourage the innovation processes (Cook et al., 2007). Clusters can exist in various geographical areas and industries and the various co-located organisations benefit from being a part of a regional ecosystem of interconnected companies and institutions of a specific field.

The region of Gothenburg has had a unique cluster within telematics since 2000. Telematics is a technology that started to develop two decades ago, and since its inception gradually began to revolutionize user experiences. When telematics technology started evolving 20 years ago, several organisations within Gothenburg decided to form a joint association in order to keep up with the global competition. Together they formed the cluster initiative 'Telematics Valley'. The aim of Telematics Valley was to support the regional telematics industry to reach full potential in the region. The members of the West Sweden telematics cluster now form a variety of specialized suppliers, service providers and other interrelated organisations within the particular field of telematics (Telematics Valley, n.d). The platform brings together a mix of firms,

connecting them through organising various networking and knowledge sharing events. By having the access to intensive regional networks, the co-location and the opportunity to cooperate, members can achieve competitive advantages by being established in Gothenburg. In this study, Telematics Valley is considered as a cluster initiative with an intermediary role for the telematics cluster in the Gothenburg region. The association aims to encourage regional networking, communication and knowledge sharing for the members within the telematics industry, which is also known as connected industries. The aim of Telematics Valley is to be a hub that connects all relevant organisations and actors.

Telematics has applicability and use across diverse industries, and is what makes connectivity and mobility a reality today. The term 'telematics' is a combination of the word 'tele' and 'informatics' (Mikulski, 2010). 'Tele' originates from the Greek word 'at distance' meaning remote communication, and 'informatics' refers to the structure and interactions of both artificial and non-artificial systems which handle information processes and storage. This combination of the two words represents what 'telematics' is all about (Mikulski, 2010); the technology systems that combine information with telecommunication, which enables wireless information sharing (Telematics, n.d). Today, telematics is mostly recognised through its enabled services and solutions in the automotive sector. Automotive telematics facilitates data collection which can be used in many different and important ways. However, the common misconception is that telematics systems are only used in the automotive industry. Lately, the world has seen a great increase in the use of telematics and especially the changing role of telematics in society. Today, telematics serves across several industries, organisations and societies. Examples of other industries where telematics plays an important role are healthcare, finance, insurance and energy (Telematics Valley, n.d.). Due to the complexity of the telematics technology, the service of realtime information to distant networks requires that many different types of actors are involved in the value chain of Telematics (Ball, 2009). In order to facilitate collaboration within the value chain of telematics and boost regional development and growth within the industry in Gothenburg, Telematics Valley wants to act as a catalyst to fuel and strengthen the regional innovation and development and intends to also encourage cross industry collaboration.

Regional cluster initiatives have been gaining more attention from several policy makers, researchers and practitioners (Berzina & Garanti, 2013). Cluster initiatives contribute towards the development of the entire cluster by identifying the actors' needs and offering services which fulfil those needs (Moss, 2009). Hence, cluster initiatives play an important role within a cluster and its successful management and progress consequently impacts the cluster competitiveness. The identification of the factors and elements influencing cluster initiative's success are therefore essential. According to Klofsten et al. (2015) the identification of success factors is necessary for the assessment and the development of a cluster initiative. Through identification of the success factors needed, Telematics Valley can find ways of how to effectively function and prosper in the region of Gothenburg. Telematics Valley hence needs to explore which crucial components and features are required to become a successful cluster initiative. Furthermore, what actions the cluster initiative needs to undertake for the involved member organisations, and thus enhance regional growth and development.

1.2 Problem Discussion

The significance of RIS and geographical clusters have long been addressed and discussed in numerous academic literature and research (Wennberg & Lindqvist, 2010; Cook et al., 2007). Much is known about its effects, not only on a firm level, but also for a region collectively (Wennberg & Lindqvist, 2010; Cook et al., 2007). Baptista & Swann (1996) highlight how strong regions attract more new entrants and firms in strong regions tend to innovate more and grow faster. Moreover, Baptista and Swann (1998) also underline increased innovation as one of the results of strong regions. It is stated that innovation, entry and growth tends to be higher in clusters (Baptista & Swann, 1998).

When it comes to the telematics cluster in Gothenburg, Telematics Valley aims to play an important role as a cluster initiative. The association desires to further reinforce the regional competence agglomeration through arranging several networking events and activities which intend to bring all the connected and relevant firms in the industry together and gain from each other. There is extensive prior research on the effectiveness of RIS and geographical clusters and how they augment innovation. However, there is a lack of information available on the underlying processes and how the organisations within the clusters are facilitated through cluster initiatives. In addition, according to Klofsten et al. (2015) there are very few qualitative studies that are directly concerned with the success factors needed by cluster initiatives; specifically, operationally related factors. Klofsten et al. (2015) highlight that the qualitative success factors are less studied because they are difficult to define and measure.

Since Gothenburg region makes up specialised competence and network within telematics, it is thus essential to delve deeper into this domain through academic research and look into the success factors that a cluster initiative like Telematics Valley needs. Additionally, what cluster initiatives further needs to contribute towards regional growth and development is an area which has not been looked into or explored at depth, where empirical research would be valuable. The crucial factors are defined as important elements or components that a successful cluster initiative needs to entail. This study therefore intends to look into what these factors are for Telematics Valley. Furthermore, to explore what future actions Telematics Valley can undertake to become successful and further enhance regional growth and development.

1.3 Purpose Of Study

The aim of this study is to investigate and identify the success factors that cluster initiatives need in order to become successful and how the incorporation of the specific success factors can contribute towards regional growth and development of the region where the cluster initiatives are geographically located. This research takes the perspective of a single-case study, investigating Telematics Valley as a cluster initiative in the region of Gothenburg. Since its inception, Telematics Valley has had a vision to promote Gothenburg as a leading and unique telematics cluster. The telematics industry has evolved at a rapid pace, however lately the activities and the progress of Telematics Valley has not kept pace. The purpose of the study is categorized as:

- 1. Investigate and identify the essential success factors that are required by Telematics Valley in order to become a successful cluster initiative in the region of Gothenburg.
- 2. Explore what actions Telematics Valley should take to reinforce the regional telematics competence and thus contribute towards regional development and growth.
- 3. Provide suggestions and recommendations for Telematics Valley regarding what will be needed to focus on in order for the organisation to move forward.

The purpose of the study will be achieved through collecting insights and perspectives from selected relevant respondents such as several member organisations of Telematics Valley, various actors within the telematics industry and other cluster initiatives/organisations. In addition, the thesis has been initiated by Business Region Gothenburg, who have been setting the stage for the research process and have provided the necessary guidance to the authors.

1.4 Research Questions

The main question for the research derived from the research purpose is stated as:

- What are the crucial factors for Telematics Valley in order to become a successful cluster initiative?

Depending on what crucial factors Telematics Valley needs in order to become a successful cluster initiative, the study also aims to investigate what actions Telematics Valley should take to contribute towards regional growth and development. Therefore, the sub-research questions is stated as follows:

- What potential actions should Telematics Valley undertake to enhance regional growth and development?

1.5 Delimitations

This research takes the perspective of Telematics Valley in the region of Gothenburg, however the results of the study can be applied to all kinds of cluster initiatives in different industries and regions. The purpose of the study is to investigate the success factors of a cluster initiative and explore how a cluster initiative can become successful. This study only focuses on the internal factors that are needed for managing and developing a successful cluster initiative.

Furthermore, the purpose of this study is also to investigate the actions that the cluster initiative Telematics Valley should undertake to enhance regional growth and development. It is therefore important to define regional growth. Regional growth can be defined and measured through quantitative factors and change in the regional economy. This can be measured from a holistic view on aspects like living standards and the technological base in a region. However this study

is not focusing on exactly how regional growth is achieved, in terms of quantitative measures. It is rather investigating the potential that actions are essential to take to boost growth and development in a region. Due to the variety of the term 'cluster initiatives' and 'intermediaries' in different contexts, this study will refer to Telematics Valley as a cluster initiative with an intermediary role in the regional cluster.

Furthermore, even though RIS, clusters and cluster initiatives are argued for having a positive impact on a region's success and development, it is clear that the growth and development of a region is not solely reliant on them. There are many other aspects such as political and sociocultural factors that need to be present in a region to achieve regional growth and development. The focus in this study will however solely lie on the perspective of Telematics Valley and what it needs to entail in order to become a successful cluster initiative that can potentially boost regional growth.

The regional industry focus within the study is the telematics industry within the region of Gothenburg. The main organisations interviewed to answer the research question are primarily within the automotive sector. In addition, the study does not aim to explore and delve deep into the technology aspect of telematics.

3. Literature Review

This section aims to provide an understanding of the different concepts - in the view of prior literature. Firstly, the definition of regional growth and development is briefly discussed. Then, Regional Innovation Systems (RIS). Furthermore, the term cluster is explained, followed by the relationship between RIS and clusters and the role of cluster initiative as an intermediary is discussed.

3.1 Selection Of Past Literature

Lately, scientific research has increasingly focused on 'regions' and its significance towards accelerating innovation and regional economic development. It is stressed that geographical proximity and concentration leads to innovation occurring more smoothly and effortlessly (Doloreux & Parto, 2005). In order to provide an understanding regarding how regional growth and development is defined and measured, past research within these areas is delved into for this section.

The two concepts of *RIS* and *clusters* have gained prominence and are concepts which are quite similar and interlinked to each other. The literature review section will aim to explain RIS and provide a broader view of this phenomenon. Clusters and regional networks have long been argued for having a positive impact on interconnected organisations located in the geographic concentration. Therefore, the meaning of the term cluster will also be elaborated. It is essential to decipher these concepts since Telematics Valley as a cluster initiative can play an important role to enhance innovation and development within the telematics competence in the Gothenburg region. Therefore, the role of a cluster initiative will be elaborated on. It is crucial to comprehend the mentioned phenomena in the view of prior literature to get a better understanding regarding the background of the study.

3.2 Regional Growth & Development

The definitions and measurements of regional growth and development can be defined differently depending on different perspectives from various stakeholders. Rocha (2004) stated that regional growth can be measured through quantitative change in the regional economy. These quantitative changes can be measured by data from example income, employment, investments and purchasing power. This in turn, can lead to regional development that is observable through qualitative observations such as living standards and the technological base in a region (Rocha, 2004). Poveda (2011) argues that growth in a region delivers various resources which in turn develop the region's ability to shift from lower income and living standard to higher income and higher living standard. Fritsch (2008) differentiates the direct and indirect effect on regional development. The direct effect is job creation and larger market shares and the indirect effect is the increase of innovation and productivity.

According to Chapman (2009) the factors that contribute to a region's growth are factors of cost (land, energy, labour, capital), factors of income (competition and market) and cost-income factors (for example policy and infrastructure). Cluster theories argue that the productivity,

competitiveness and innovation capacity of a cluster can stimulate job opportunities in a region (Puga, 2009; Porter, 2003). A cluster is built on interactions between these factors (Chapman, 2009), and according to Stimson et al. (2006) clusters can ensure regional development through providing a supportive environment for business development. Pachura (2010) states that regional clusters act as promoters for regional development and that clusters often are used as a way of building regional development policy. Ketels (2003) argues that regional clusters act as essential driving forces for development in a region. Further, Berzina & Garanti (2013) argue that regional clusters play a crucial role when it comes to organisations performance, competitiveness which creates a favourable environment which enhances the growth and development of a region (Berzina & Garanti, 2013). However, it is evident the development of a region does not only rely on the presence and expansion of a regional cluster. Nevertheless, a cluster does consist of various interactions of the factors that are needed for a region to grow and develop. The cluster can therefore provide the region with advantageous conditions which can enhance the regional competitiveness (Chapman, 2009).

Several authors have varied definitions regarding how regional growth and development is achieved. However, in this study, the authors take the perspective of how Berzina & Garanti, (2013) describe how a cluster ensures regional development through providing a supportive environment for business development which impacts the competitiveness of the cluster. This in turn, creates a favourable environment for business growth, survival and establishment of new businesses which enhances the growth and development of a region. Further, for achieving regional growth and development in a region, great emphasis lies on that organisations join forces and innovate together (Asheim & Coenen, 2005). However, the organisations in a cluster are not only dependent on each other, they are also greatly dependent on the structure and systems of the nation and the region (Asheim & Coenen, 2005).

3.3 Regional Innovation Systems (RIS)

Innovation processes are complex and are often characterized by interactions involving policies, demand, technology, science and learning (Edquist, 1997). There are often many different factors which influence innovation processes and due to the complexity of innovating, it is common that actors join forces and innovate together (Chung, 2002). These actors could be enterprises, institutions, universities, patent systems, research institutes and governmental agencies. Hence, governments must support and stimulate the interaction and trust building between the actors in the innovation system (Chung, 2002). Through the interaction between other firms and organisations, different types of resources, information and knowledge can be created, gained and exchanged (Edquist, 1997). The interaction between these organisational and institutional elements is called 'systems of innovation'.

According to Korres (2012), the interaction between technological innovation and social learning

is fundamental for a system of innovation to grow and develop, both on a national and regional level. The specified representation of organisations and institutions that are relevant for driving innovation and creating knowledge differ depending on the various approaches in national and regional innovation systems (Edquist, 1997; Lundvall, 1992; Cooke et al., 2004). The concept of National innovation system (NIS) is to rely on the different linkages between various actors in a nation which are involved in improving technologies and developing innovation. Due to globalization and changes in the global economy, there has been more focus on regional specific advantages in order to achieve growth and competitiveness lately (Asheim, 2012). To understand how Telematics Valley can contribute to regional growth and development depending on what actions that the organisation undertakes, the meaning of a regional innovation system (RIS) in a region must be further explained.

RIS has gained much attention from several researchers and policy makers since the 1990s (Cooke, 1992; Asheim, 1995; Braczyk et al., 1998). RIS impacts a region's innovation and it is also anticipated to have an effect on a region's success and competitiveness (Önday, 2016). According to Cooke (2004) a regional innovation system 'consists of interacting knowledge generation and exploitation sub-systems linked to global, national and other regional systems for commercializing new knowledge' (Cooke, 2004; 4). Asheim & Gertler (2004) define a regional innovation system as 'the institutional infrastructure supporting innovation within the production structure of a region' (Asheim & Gertler, 2004; 299). According to Rogers et al. (2013) a regional innovation system is a network approach between the private and the public sector which creates regional economic development involving innovation processes, new product development and value adding. The RIS approach includes the interaction of governmental agencies, institutes, firms and other users of knowledge that are involved in the processes of creating and applying knowledge in a region. Rogers et al. (2013), argue that a region is an ideal scale for such a system, since all the actors within a region have the possibility to build a platform where a RIS be developed. Clusters within a region can constitute a subsystem which involves firms within a specific sector, supporting organisations, service providers and other related organisations such as customers and competitors (see figure 1 below) (Cook et al., 2007).



Figure 1: 'Illustrative representation of a Regional Innovation System' (Cooke et al. 2007)

The RIS includes different policy actions and support organisations who act like promoters of innovation and learning in the region. The RIS approach requires that regional authorities provide infrastructure for education and R&D and that the social capital in the region is encouraged (Tödtling & Tripp, 2005). By the set up or by the expansion of research and educational institutions, science parks and for example innovation centres, more knowledge can be created, diffused and applied within the regional sectors. In this study, the authors define RIS as an infrastructure supported by various users of knowledge that are involved in the processes of creating and applying innovation and knowledge in a region in order to strengthen regional development.

According to Cook et al. (2007) for a RIS to function, it is a prerequisite that the actors in the RIS continuously work to create and connect 'links' between firms within the region in order to facilitate innovation processes. The various key players within a RIS can be complemented by 'brokers' such as intermediaries, training organisations, venture capitalists and development and transfer agencies (Cook et al., 2007). Lately, several initiatives like entrepreneurial networks and clusters have been established. Growing research has given attention to the relationship between innovation and clusters (Asheim & Coenen, 2005; Cooke, 2001). So as to to create knowledge within the region, clusters have become greatly emphasized since the knowledge spill-overs from cluster networks has shown great impact on the regions localized knowledge processes (Markusen, 1996). Clusters have therefore come to play a great role in regions' innovation processes and activities (Ligenzowska, 2016).

3.4 Clusters

Andersson et al. (2004) highlight that when groups of organisations in related industries, institutions and other interrelated actors are located in the same geographical area, specialized capabilities, resources and skills can be created. According to the European Cluster Collaboration Platform, a cluster acts like a regional ecosystem which consists of competences within related industries and which feature an extensive collection of inter-industry interdependencies (European Cluster Collaboration Platform, n.d.).

The term clusters derive from the industrial districts from Marshall's theory in 1890. The interests of clusters increased in the 1990s when Michael E. Porter renewed the cluster theory which was considered more modern (Porter, 1990; 1998; 2000). Porter (1998) defines the phenomenon of a cluster as "geographic concentrations of interconnected companies and institutions in a particular field" (;78). The regional clusters consist of various organisations which are operating in the same industry. The actors in a cluster are collaborating, competing and complementing each other (Porter, 1998, 2000). Delgado et al. (2013) stressed that 'clusters are geographic concentrations of industries related by knowledge, skills, inputs, demand and/or other related (;1). Even though the enterprises in a cluster play an important role, they are influenced by several other actors in the regional cluster. According to Porter (1998, 2000), clusters are connected with various institutions in a region, such as education, research, financial, governmental and other institutions. These institutions are crucial for a cluster's development since they can support

enterprises with support regarding financing, innovation and knowledge transfer among other benefits (Porter, 1998, 2000).

Berzina & Garanti (2013) describe a regional cluster based on five elements; governmental institutions, education and other institutions, enterprises from the industry, related companies and lastly, the regional dimension which combines the four dimensions which were stated below:

- *Governmental institutions* stand for the public institutions who are interested in a sector's or a region's economic development
- *Education and other institutions* are the institutions that acts like the drivers of for example research, science and finance in a region
- *Enterprises from the industry* are firms that compete, collaborate and complement each other
- *Related companies* are organisations from various sectors who act as support for the actors in the sector or region who can offer and serve the firms in the cluster with services and products (Berzina & Garanti, 2013).

The combination of these four dimensions form a particular regional cluster. Porter (2000) and Delgado et al. (2013) stress that the fifth dimension which constitutes the region that is shaped by the four individual dimensions, are the main dimension of a cluster. This dimension acts like the net that ensures that all actors in the clusters have the geographically proximity to each other.

According to Porter (2000) and Krugman (1991), cluster provides organisations with the access to specialised skills, resources, customers and labour. The cluster can also facilitate the process of the organisation's knowledge gaining and sharing of specialized skills (Krugman, 1991). This could in turn lead to a competitive environment since the effects of this could be higher productivity and efficiency (Lin et al., 2006). This enhances the region's innovation capacity and development. Clusters can therefore be seen as drivers of innovation in a region. The reason for this is that the cluster can provide the access to various networks between the different actors which can commercialize innovations (Künzel et al., 2016). Porter (2000) states that organisations ability to innovate is greatly dependent on the collaborative ties and cooperation between the actors in a cluster. These collaborative ties have a strong positive impact on both a firm level and on a regional level which creates competitiveness (Porter, 2000). Competitiveness can be referred to as prosperity in particular enterprises, sectors, industries, regions and nations. Competitiveness is important since it increases abilities to improve the quality of product and services and being able to offer it at a lower cost than other actors can (Kassalis, 2010).

3.5 The Relationship of RIS & Clusters

Asheim & Coenen (2005) state that there are two concepts that belong to the same territorial innovation theory family: *RIS and Clusters*. It is further reiterated that these two concepts are very closely related but should not be intermixed with one another. To visualise the relationship of RIS and a cluster *(See figure 1)*. The most complex and confusing aspect within RIS, is the distinction and relation of RIS and clusters (Jang, 2006). Both the concepts can in fact coexist in the same geographical territory (Asheim & Coenen, 2005). A RIS is distinct from clusters

primarily as it stretches across several sectors, only if the knowledge organisations and firms interact with each other consistently and orderly. It is also concluded that the clusters and RIS are mutually interdependent (Jang, 2006). Clusters are part of the broader RIS, and there can be several clusters within a regional system and each cluster has its own innovation system and internal network (Jang, 2006). Specialization, proximity, and cooperation are said to be the most common factors within clusters, which leads to alliance, spill-overs and innovation in the regional innovation system (Doloreux & Parto, 2005). Asheim & Coenen (2005) add that in a policy context it is important to recognize the sector specificness of clusters and the more general and broad sector inclination of RIS.

According to Berzina & Garanti (2013), clusters play a crucial role when it comes to encouraging and facilitation of organisations performance, innovation capacity and competitiveness. To achieve competitiveness, the various key players within clusters can be complemented by 'brokers' known as intermediaries or cluster initiatives. Cluster initiatives can be considered as a 'middle hand' that works for connecting the nodes between the different actors within both a RIS and a cluster to facilitate innovation processes (Cook et al., 2007).

3.6 Cluster Initiatives

According to Laur et al. (2012) cluster advantages are often facilitated by certain organisations that take an intermediary function in the cluster. The actors who work as the 'links' between the different nodes, are called intermediaries (Howells, 2006). In a cluster, these types of organisations can both be referred to as intermediaries or cluster initiatives (Laur et al., 2012). As stated in the delimitations, in this study, the authors have chosen to refer to the term as a cluster initiative which takes the role as an intermediary between the actors in a cluster.

Regional cluster initiatives have been gaining more attention from several policy makers, researchers and practitioners (Berzina & Garanti, 2013). Cluster initiatives are often organized with the intention to facilitate and develop services and activities for the specific members (Laur et al., 2012). According to Kettles & Memedovic (2008), the definition of a cluster initiative is collective activities that are planned and performed by actors in a cluster such as groups of firms, governmental agencies and various institutions in order to increase a specific cluster's competitiveness. These activities could for example be to create platforms which facilitate the interaction between the members in the cluster (Ketels & Memedovic, 2008). According to Howells (2006) the definition of a cluster initiative with an intermediary role is "an organisation or body that acts as an agent or broker in any aspect of the innovation process between two or more parties" (;720). Inkinen & Suorsa (2010) argue that the role of cluster initiative and regional intermediaries is to act like networking organisations. The work of the cluster initiative is to communicate funding opportunities and regional development activities to businesses and the public sector. The work of a cluster initiative is often communicated through smaller meetings or conferences (Inkinen & Suorsa, 2010). Clark & Ramirez (2014) stress that a broad range of organisations can play the role as an intermediary in a cluster. Examples of these organisations can come from the private, public and the nonprofit sector (Clark & Ramirez, 2014).

According to Foster et al. (2015) organisations which have the role of intermediaries are to be embedded in clusters in various scopes. These organisations should have specific knowledge, competences and skills concerning the area of field (Foster et al., 2015). Additionally, the role of an intermediary should to a large extent have knowledge regarding the specific region. By having knowledge about the specific region, it facilitates the recognizing of the needs that actors within the cluster and specific industry have. This is beneficial when the cluster initiatives try to enable interaction between the actors (Smedlund, 2006). The role of a cluster initiative in RIS and clusters, is spread from acting as a bridge between different actors, connecting them and encourage relationships and collaboration and to act as a facilitator to spread capability, knowledge and competency and to fill in the gaps needed (De Silva et al., 2017; Smedlund, 2006; Howells, 2006). In order to facilitate innovation processes in a RIS and in clusters, the main task of a cluster initiative is to link actors together, establish relationships, gather and communicate information to the actors in the RIS, act like a support in the different steps in the innovation process (Howells, 2006).

Several authors define cluster initiative diversely, however the main interpretation of a cluster initiative according to the authors is of an organisation that facilitates the links between various actors in a cluster to increase the specific cluster's competitiveness. This statement also corresponds with what the association Telematics Valley aims to do. In the perspective of intermediaries who work as 'links' between actors in innovation processes, Telematics Valley can be considered as a cluster initiative with an intermediary role for the organisations within the field of telematics in the Gothenburg region.

4. Theoretical Framework

This section will provide a detailed explanation of the theoretical framework used for the study. The model of 'crucial success factors for cluster initiatives' by Klofsten et al. (2015) is used as the main theoretical framework, which is further merged with the framework "Regional Cluster Effect on Regional Growth and Development" by Berzina & Garanti (2013) to create an adapted framework to answer the research question regarding regional growth and development. In addition, the Four Actions Framework by (Kim & Mauborgne, 2010) is also briefly presented, which will be utilized to communicate the recommendations for potential future actions for Telematics Valley.

4.1 Success Factors In cluster Initiatives

In order to answer the research question regarding what crucial factors that are needed for Telematics Valley to become successful in the regional cluster, a theoretical framework focusing on the general success factors of a cluster initiative will be presented and explained in depth.

Klofsten et al. (2015) have presented the *qualitative success factors* for cluster development. According to these authors, qualitative success factors are used less because they are hard to measure and define. The crucial success factors that are presented by Klofsten et al. (2015) presents a framework for managing and monitoring cluster initiatives. The framework enables performance evaluation and is useful for everyday management as well as policy programmes created to aid cluster initiatives (Klofsten et al., 2015). The defined factors provide assessment for not only a single cluster but rather diverse clusters, which differ in size, characteristics, activities etc. Therefore the framework aims to present a holistic perspective and visualise the success factors for a cluster initiative development, which are applicable and useful for a diverse range of cluster initiatives. The idea is to identify success factors that are capable of assessing the cluster dynamics and to analyse the qualitative elements like focus and environment, irrespective and independent of the cluster type.



Figure 2: 'General success factors in cluster initiatives' (Klofsten et al., 2015) (Adapted by the authors)

The five essential factors identified by Klofsten et al. (2015) for successful cluster initiatives are as follows:

Idea: Klofsten et al. (2015) stress on the importance of a well-defined and properly visualized idea. This assists in the identification of the right target group and learning about the exact needs ought to be addressed by the cluster initiative. Also, this factor enables the cluster initiative to be aware about the resources that need to be available for the members. Several studies emphasize the presence of a feasible cluster idea as a key to its success. Moreover, Klofsten et al. (2015) state that representing a cluster initiative in a strong trademark creates and contributes towards a sense of community and belonging, among the cluster initiative members.

Driving Forces & Commitment: The basis of the second factor is focused on the involvement of committed members, who embody the right eagerness, enthusiasm and vigour, to be able to carry out the necessary activities by a cluster initiative. According to Klofsten et al. (2015) managing networks and exploiting potential opportunities in a cluster, are a big part of developing a cluster initiative. Therefore, if there is an absence of dedicated and motivated individuals, it is difficult for a cluster to further develop and progress. In addition, Klofsten et al. (2015) highlight the importance of the presence of a core group to support various activities. This group comprises core individuals supported by a steering committee. It is emphasized that the core group and the driving factors are essential elements, which characterize the ability or inability of organisations.

Critical Mass: This factor stresses on the significance of having a sufficient number of members for a cluster initiative to develop, and for it to have meaningful interactions and exchange. The group of active members should be large enough to constitute critical mass (Klofsten et al., 2015). Furthermore, it is also stated that lack of diversity limits the opportunities for valuable exchange between the members, specifically if the cluster initiative is small. Similarly, if the variety is immense in larger cluster initiatives, then that could negatively impact the cohesion and effectiveness of exchange as well. Klofsten et al. (2015) also addresses the importance of informal and formal networks of exchange in cluster development. Committed members and a culture that promotes trust and openness are important for cluster development. It is stressed that for a cluster to grow and strengthen, there is a need for a constant diverse influx of individuals with a range of varying skills, experiences, background and knowledge. The type of actors involved also plays a critical role beyond a certain number of members. For example the Triple Helix model visualises 3 main actors to be involved in the regional development: firms, universities and society. These actors can be in the private or the public sector and also in the non-governmental organisations, which provides diversity in outlook and perspectives (Klofsten et al., 2015).

Activities: This factor denotes the needs for planned activities, which makes it beneficial to be a part of the cluster initiative. Some key activities highlighted by Klofsten et al. (2015) are: training and education programmes, activities to promote networking and creation of relationships. The crucial aspect is that the activities should complement and not compete with the existing activities

which are being offered in the cluster. The activities need to be based on the skills and services which are already available in the region and specifically have been developed for the cluster. Furthermore, several factors which might enhance the attractiveness of the activities have been stated. For example how well the activities are adapted to the firm and its degree of maturity. Another example is the presence of entrepreneurs, who are also labelled as 'champions' and how they impact and act as mentors and role models for young entrepreneurs in the region. These individuals can also act as the visionary forces for the cluster initiative development.

Organisation: This factor refers to the skilful and organised ways of coordinating and developing activities for the cluster initiative, and the management of relations essential for its development and further growth. The activities and programmes carried out include the kind which are developed to suit the needs and desires of the members. Also, establishment of links with outside actors like financiers and policy actors, who have the potential to influence the cluster activities.

4.2 Cluster Initiative As Driving Force For Regional Development

Berzina & Garanti (2013) describe a regional cluster based on five elements; governmental institutions, education and other institutions, enterprises from the industry, related companies and lastly, the regional dimension which combines the four dimensions which were stated above. These key actors in the cluster are greatly dependent on the structure and support of the region (RIS) (Asheim & Coenen, 2005). Even though the development of a region does not solely rely on the presence and expansion of a regional cluster, the cluster consists of various interactions of the actors that are needed for a region to grow and develop. In order to facilitate the interaction between the various actors in a cluster, cluster initiatives can act like the middle hand between the various actors in a cluster to encourage innovation and develop regional growth (Cook et al., 2007). Sölvell et al. (2003) state that cluster initiatives can be defined as organized efforts that aim to increase a regional cluster's competitiveness and growth. (See figure 3 below).



Figure 3: 'Cluster initiative in a regional cluster' (Berzina & Garanti, 2013) (Adapted by the authors)

In order to answer the research question regarding how Telematics Valley can contribute to regional growth and development depending on the actions it takes, prior literature was looked into to describe the relationship between how the success factors of a cluster initiative can contribute to regional growth and development.

Previous studies have proven that regional clusters can contribute to value enhancement for the actors in the clusters and the economy of a region (Porter, 2000; Sölvell et al., 2003). This type of enhancement derives from knowledge transfer, flows of information, networks, collaboration and infrastructure (Porter, 1998; Sölvell, 2009). According to Berzina & Garanti (2013) clusters play a crucial role when it comes to encouraging and facilitating organisation's performance, innovation capacity and competitiveness. Further, cluster theories argue that the productivity, competitiveness and innovation capacity of a cluster can stimulate job opportunities in a region (Puga, 2009; Porter, 2003). Clusters can therefore ensure regional development through providing a supportive environment for business development (Stimson et al., 2006). Since it is stated that clusters can enhance productivity, competitiveness and innovation capacity in a cluster, this means that the cluster can enhance innovation and create job opportunities. This can result in cluster competitiveness (Berzina & Garanti, 2013).

In order to achieve cluster competitiveness, the various key players within clusters can be complemented by cluster initiatives who work for connecting the nodes between the different actors within both a RIS and a cluster to facilitate innovation processes (Cook et al., 2007). The main thing that is crucial for a cluster initiative to do, is to identify the needs of the actors within the cluster and facilitate and support these needs (Sölvell et al., 2003). The success factors of a cluster initiative can therefore impact the whole cluster which in turn can have impact on the whole region. If a cluster initiative that it needs to become competitive, this can in turn affect the region's growth and development since the cluster creates a favourable environment for business growth, survival and establishment of new businesses (Berzina & Garanti, 2013). In turn, a favourable environment will also have an impact on regional growth and development (Berzina & Garanti, 2013).

The stated success factors of a cluster initiative (a distinct and fundamental idea; driving force and commitment; well-developed and structured activities; a defined target group and a functioning organisation structure) can facilitate the processes in a cluster and benefit the members within the cluster (Klofsten et al., 2015). The competitiveness of the actors in the cluster and the regional cluster in whole can therefore also lead to that the region benefit from how well a cluster initiative handles the stated success factors that are needed in order to become successful. The merged framework is visualised in the figure 4 below.



Figure 4: '*Framework of* ''*General success factors that contribute to regional growth and development*' (Compiled by the authors)

However, it is evident that the growth and development of a region is not only reliant on the presence of a cluster or the success factors of a cluster initiative (Asheim & Coenen, 2005). Nevertheless, a cluster and the organisations that act like an intermediary in a cluster consists of numerous interactions of the main factors that are needed for a region to grow and develop (Chapman, 2009). If cluster initiatives achieve the success factors from the stated theoretical framework, it can in turn provide the region with favourable conditions which impact the competitiveness of the cluster. This can in turn contribute to a favourable environment for business growth, survival and establishment of new businesses, which are key factors that can provide the region (Berzina & Garanti, 2013). For this to function, the structure and systems of the region needs to support the cluster with the preconditions that are needed. Therefore, there lies a great emphasis on the RIS of a region (Asheim & Coenen, 2005).

4.3 The Four Actions Framework

The Four Actions Framework is derived from the Blue Ocean Strategy by Kim & Mauborgne (2005). The main idea of this strategy is for an organisation to find a market space which is uncontested (the blue ocean) and stay away from establishment in a marketplace where there is a lot of competition (red ocean). The Four Actions Framework focuses on the crucial elements or factors that aid in the creation of a new value curve. The framework poses four key actions or questions that will lead to the creation of value innovation that will aid to enhance a current product or offering (Kim & Mauborgne, 2005). The key factors mentioned in the framework are: *raise, reduce, eliminate and create*. The framework is visualised in the *figure 5* below.



Figure 5: '*The four actions framework of Blue Ocean strategy*' (Kim and Mauborgne, 2010) (Adapted by the authors).

The key dimensions/factors mentioned in the framework are explained below:

1. Eliminate: The first question focuses on the elimination of the factors that are taken for granted in the industry and have long been competed on. Kim & Mauborgne (2005) state that oftentimes factors do not offer any value since the market constantly undergoes fundamental changes and the industry and the companies are unable to perceive the change. The factors that are taken for granted therefore needs to be eliminated.

2. Reduce: This factor forces organisations to reconsider whether their offerings are overdesigned and over-serving the consumers, simply to match and beat the relevant competition, thus increasing the costs. **3. Raise:** This factor aims to minimise and reduce the compromises that the industry compels the consumers to make. Therefore, it stresses on the factors that are required to be raised well above the current set standard of the industry.

4. Create: This involves creating and finding new value for the consumers and the creation of a new demand, offerings that have previously not been offered in the industry.

The four key dimensions from this framework will thus be used to frame and present the recommendations for Telematics Valley. This particular framework is used because there are various types of literature that focuses on how organisations can beat competition and gain competitive advantage. Kim & Mauborgne (2005) however argue that organisations should not focus on the existing competition in the market. The Four Actions Framework therefore focuses on challenging the ordinary success strategies and how an organisation should create an unchallenged market space through creating value that has not previously been offered on the market. Since Telematics Valley wants to provide more value for its member organisations and explore how the association can contribute to regional growth and development, the Four Actions Framework is a suitable way of structuring future recommendations since it is about the systematic approach of making competition irrelevant. Furthermore, the Four Actions Framework has proven effective for bridging theory to practice in the past (Morris, 2007; Madden 2009).

5. Research Methods

This section will focus on the research methodology and will include the research approach, strategy and study design. After that, the data collection and analysis approach is presented. Finally, some important considerations regarding the research quality will be addressed.

5.1 Research Approach

Bell et al. (2019) state two methodological strategies which are the most common in research: *inductive and deductive*. Each one takes a different approach to how they connect a phenomenon to an existing theory. According to Bell et al. (2019) the deductive approach involves the formulation of hypotheses about the research phenomenon, to test the fit between the already existing theories. Therefore the deductive approach is all about testing the theories. Whereas the inductive approach studies a phenomenon, and then develops an appropriate theory to explain the studied phenomenon.

For this study, the chosen theoretical approach is the *inductive* approach. Since the authors began with collecting the data which is relevant and appropriate for the research question. After this, patterns in the data were analysed and observed to develop a theoretical framework which could explain these patterns. The reason for choosing the inductive approach was due to the inductive approach being linked to qualitative research. Moreover, it suits the interest of the study, which aims to investigate what actions Telematics Valley should undertake to provide more value for its members and also to enhance the regional industry. Multiple actors relevant for the aim of the study were interviewed to collect appropriate data, which allowed us to analyse the collected raw data and the development of an adapted framework, to answer the research questions.

Furthermore, the scientific perspectives for the research had to be considered. For this study the ontological position can be stated as *constructionism*, since there was a certain degree to which subjectivity was applied during the process of the interpretation and analysis of the collected data and the theoretical perspectives (Slevitch, 2011). The epistemological position and perspective of the research is *interpretivism*. As the authors interpreted the collected data, which can be subject to their biases. This is similar to the *post-positivist* approach as well where the values of the researchers can have an influence on what is observed (Slevitch, 2011).

5.2 Research Strategy

To answer the research questions regarding the crucial success factors required by cluster initiatives and what actions Telematics Valley should take to contribute towards regional growth and development, a *qualitative research* strategy was chosen. According to Bell et al. (2019) the qualitative research strategy primarily emphasizes an approach that is inductive and is suitable when the aim of the research is to discover observations and patterns to develop a theory.

According to Bell et al. (2019) the qualitative research strategy is a way for the researcher to attempt to look at this specific phenomenon through the perspective of the selected respondents.

In order to get the perspectives and insights from actors that are involved in the telematics industry, a rich set of data is needed to be able to gain an overview of the area. This type of data can be collected through the investigation of the interpretations and experiences from actors in the industry - justifying a qualitative research strategy.

The qualitative research strategy can be described as a strategy that emphasizes words and other non-numeric data to be able to collect and interpret text. The qualitative research strategy is the opposite of the quantitative research strategy that is used for analysing numerical data (Creswell, 2014). The qualitative research primarily takes perspectives of how individuals interpret their social reality that continuously changes, which differs from the quantitative research. Quantitative research does not have the same objectives to create understandings of the environment and how the social world is interpreted by different individuals and groups (Bell et al., 2019). According to Creswell (2014), the qualitative research strategy should be used when the aim is to comprehend groups and individuals' diverse experiences and insights regarding a certain phenomenon. The aim is later to gather the different observations and try to find and identify relationships or patterns that can be used as a foundation for additional exploration and new hypotheses (Creswell, 2014).

A qualitative research strategy was the most appropriate strategy for this particular study for the investigation of the stated research questions. It was required to collect a rich qualitative data set through exploring different opinions and perspectives of several organisations and relevant individuals in the industry. The respondents that participated in this study, represented relevant organisations with valuable insights regarding Telematics Valley. The insights that were given from the respondents, generated a bigger picture of what Telematics Valley can do and offer for the member organisations and what Telematics Valley needs to entail to boost regional development and growth. Since the aim of the study is to explore and gather the different observations and opinions regarding Telematics Valley, the research is exploratory in nature.

Bell et al. (2019) highlight the risks that are related to the qualitative research strategy. This specific chosen strategy has a tendency to be biased due to the possibility that the researcher unconsciously applies subjective interpretations that can affect the data collection and the result of the research. Another risk is that the data collected from a sample does not represent the entire population and therefore, lack of data is a fact. This choice of strategy can therefore hinder the analysis of the results and create misleading conclusions. However, the qualitative research strategy allows the researcher to explore a focus area more in depth, which cannot be done in the same way if choosing a quantitative research strategy. However the authors have tried their best to be objective in the analysis and interpretation of the data collected.

5.3 Research Design

This research is a single case study, which takes the perspective of a specific organisation -Telematics Valley into account. Multiple organisations are involved in Telematics Valley as members which requires the collection of data from multiple relevant organisations and individuals in the industry, which gives different opinions through qualitative interviews. The single-case study can contribute to the in-depth-understanding and investigation of a certain organisation, individual or community (Bell et al., 2019). In contrast to a multiple case study which compares several cases and compares the data that is collected with each other, a single case study aims to deep dive into one specific case.

The aim is to investigate Telematics Valley and how the organisation is perceived and experienced by several actors in the telematics industry. The chosen research question was constructed in a way to find the crucial success factors that could benefit the member organisations and the enhancement of regional growth and development. A single case study was therefore chosen as the study design for this study. According to Siggelkow (2007) case studies can be perceived as a struggle, since it can be seen as a challenge to convince the readers. Siggelkow (2007) further states that many researchers perceive the obstacles of not having a sample that is big enough and that the data have a tendency to be biased. However, the selected respondents provide the type of data that is relevant for investigating the specific topic (Siggelkow, 2007).

This research was based mainly on the conducted interviews with relevant organisations. The greatest benefits with the single case study is that it can improve theory-building. Furthermore, this research design can also help to suggest several concepts that can be relevant to a theory that are emerging. According to Yin (1984) and Eisenhardt (1989), the researchers have a better position to create the conditions when it comes to which a certain theory will hold or not hold (Yin, 1984; Eisenhardt, 1989). Flyvbjerg (2006) argues that there are five usual misunderstandings when it comes to case studies, and one example of these misunderstandings is that a case study tends to be subjective. However, Flyvbjerg (2006) argues that biased interpretations and subjectivism are not just applied in qualitative methods, it applies to all methods. The authors further state that the advantage of the case study is that the researcher can go into depth of the topic but the disadvantage is the breadth (Flyvbjerg, 2006).

Before the interviews took place, all actors that were of value for the data collection of the study were accurately inspected. To ensure the quality of the study, only actors that can provide valuable insights of the ongoing activities in the telematics industry and the perceived dynamics of being a part of a cluster were chosen for interviews.

5.4 Data Collection

The goal of Telematics Valley is to facilitate the network of the actors in the telematics industry who are based in Gothenburg. Companies that are members of Telematics Valley would therefore be suitable for the researchers to interview since they can provide with internal insights of how Telematics Valley functions. To get a broader understanding about how Telematics Valley is perceived from the outside and to get a more general understanding regarding what actions the organisation can take, actors who are involved both in the telematics industry, non-profit organisations focused on regional development and a few cluster organisations were chosen for interviews. Some of these actors were located in different parts of the world, such as France, Finland, United States, Israel and Germany. Actors from other organisations and associations

within the automotive, telecommunications and other connected industries were also interviewed. The aim was to interview respondents from relevant companies who could give valuable insights regarding Telematics Valley.

5.4.1 Primary Data

This study is qualitative in nature and this required obtaining insights and information from various business executives working in the telematics industry, cluster organisations and members connected with Telematics Valley. Therefore, interviews are deemed to be the most suitable and appropriate method for primary data collection. Interviews are crucial and the most widely used method for data collection in qualitative research (Bell et al., 2019) and their significance and effectiveness has been widely recognized. It enables the researcher to investigate respondents' views and perspectives in great detail (Alshenqeeti, 2014). The interviews produce narrative data which is derived from a conversation that reveals in-depth insights and information regarding a certain domain or topic and assists in comparability of collected responses. Interviews are generally broadly divided into two main categories: *unstructured* and *semi-structured* interviews (Bell et al., 2019).

5.4.1.1 Semi-Structured Interviews

In order to answer the research question, the authors chose to conduct *semi-structured interviews*, which follow a predesigned interview guide (Appendix A) to collect the data. Semi-structured interviews are chosen to be most suitable for answering the research question and collecting primary data since this method allows for having a structure yet also provides flexibility to the interviewees to express their viewpoints (Bell et al., 2019). This method also provides room for interviewers to ask any additional questions and thus gives freedom for both the parties to engage in meaningful conversations and discussions on specific topics (Bell et al., 2019). It is of great importance that the pre-formulated questionnaire for the interview has to be precise and well-formulated (Bengtsson 2016), so the researchers are able to collect useful and accurate data for the study.

The interviews were conducted through two main channels: *face-to-face* (F2F) and *digital*. The F2F interviews are valuable since they provide the opportunity to observe the interviewees' body language and visual cues (Bell et al., 2019). In addition, they are good in terms of avoidance of distractions and any kind of technical difficulties that may arise during the interview. However, considering the current scenario with Covid 19, conducting digital interviews will be inevitable and a viable option to connect with the interviewees. Thus, digital tools like Zoom and Microsoft Teams were utilized for seamless communication. An achievable number was to be aimed for the interviews, which allowed for the adequate collection of appropriate data. In total, 18 respondents were interviewed. One pilot interview also was conducted, however this interview was not intended for data collection. The estimated time period for each interview was between thirty minutes to an hour approximately, which the researchers believe to be sufficient time for engaging in worthwhile and insightful discussions.

The interviews were audio recorded with the consent of the interviewees and once the interviews were successfully carried out, the collected data was then manually transcribed. Audio recording of the interviews is considered to be pivotal since it allows the interviewers' to be alert and maintain focus on the conversation and not on the writing of notes, which could be a possible source for distraction (Bryman, 2012). In addition, recorded interviews are useful tools since they can be used to refresh the memory in case of neglected or forgotten details (Bryman, 2012) thus, it can assist in the minimisation of potential errors. Additionally, it was made certain that both the researchers were present for the interviews. This was to ensure that no bias should interfere with the study, since qualitative research is prone to generating biased results on the basis of subjectivity of the interviewer (Andersen, 1998). Therefore, the presence of both the researchers was for the elimination of the subjectivity bias to get in the way of the study.

5.4.2 Interviewee Selection

The participants for the study were chosen through *purposive* sampling. The purposive sampling is incorporated in most of the qualitative research (Bell et al., 2019) and is conducted based on the aim and purpose of the study. For this study, the participants were chosen and provided by the network of Business Region Gothenburg and Telematics Valley. The chosen respondents were based on purposive sampling to specifically find participants who match the objective of the study and will be from organisations across telematics and connected industries. Majority of the respondents were located in the Gothenburg region, in addition actors related to telematics, which are located internationally were looked into. The respondents will thus have valuable information and insights to share on how this platform further can positively impact the members in the cluster initiative and also, the region. The list of respondents is provided below.

Organisation	Respondent code	Role	Involvement in Telematics Valley (TMV)	Interview Duration	Channel
Pilot Interview: E-Mobil	Will not be considered in the data (pilot)	Director of International Cooperation		21 min	Digital
Volvo Cars	Respondent 1 Respondent 2	Business Strategist, Volvo Cars System Developer	President of TMV Board	1h 09 min	F2F
Next Forward	Respondent 3	Founder & Senior Advisor	Former Board member of TMV	34 min	Digital
Business Oulu	Respondent 4	Risk Management Consultant Director, Internationa		34 min	Digital
Business Finland	Respondent 5	Operations IIF			

Wireless Car (US)	Respondent 6	Regional Director of America	Former Board member of TMV	42 min	Digital
Carmenta	Respondent 7	Head of Developmen	Current Board member of TMV	35 min	Digital
Fordonskomponentgruppen	Respondent 8	Senior Advisor & Project leader		31 min	Digital
WirelessCar (Sweden)	Respondent 9	Vice President Strategy, Product Management & Partnership	Former Board member of TMV	28 min	Digital
Cara (France)	Respondent 10	General Director		38 min	Digital
Ericsson	Respondent 11	Head of Portfolio Marketing IoT	Current Board member of TMV	42 min	Digital
Here Technologies	Respondent 12	Head of Nordic Automotive	Current Board member of TMV	31 min	Digital
MobilityXlab	Respondent 13	Director		17 min	Digital
Publicis Sapient	Respondent 14	Head of Nordics	Current Board member of TMV	36 min	Digital
Volvo Group	Respondent 15	Director CoE Advanced Analytics	Current Board member of TMV	47 min	Digital
Telia	Respondent 16 Respondent 17	Head of Industry, Urban Transport, Division X Business Partner Manager	Current Board member of TMV Current Board member of TMV	56 min	Digital
DRIVE Tel Aviv	Respondent 18	CEO		29 min	Digital

Table 1: 'List of respondents' (Compiled by the authors)

5.4.3 Secondary Data

The secondary data was collected by learning about the telematics industry, RIS, clusters and cluster initiatives. The secondary data was used to get an understanding regarding telematics and the cluster initiative Telematics Valley. Furthermore, how it works within the regional industry in Gothenburg, and to gain relevant information regarding the research topic. This was carried out in the early phases of the project to develop a broad perspective around the subject and help the authors to get familiar with it. The secondary data collection was essentially carried out by searching for keywords regarding 'Telematics Valley' on the web, which was the key to finding crucial information which is easily accessed online. The authors will also conduct an extensive literature review in the starting phase and since the study aims to investigate how Telematics Valley can contribute towards the development and growth of Gothenburg region within the telematics industry.

5.5 Thematic Analysis

Thematic analysis is one of the most common approaches for qualitative data analysis (Bell et al., 2019) and it is argued to be the fundamental analysis method in qualitative research (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This is a procedure which entails the generation and categorisation of *themes* based on the analysis and description of the collected empirical data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). A thematic analysis was considered appropriate to answer the research questions. This is because thematic analysis leaves more space for the researchers to have an illustrative approach. However, it has to be acknowledged that themes are subject to interpretation bias (Bryman and Bell, 2015) and thus the researchers ensured to employ ways to minimise its influence on the analysis.

The authors first began with transcribing the data verbatim and then familiarised themselves with it. Thereafter, the collected data was coded. Bryman & Bell (2015) describe how the transcribed data can be coded into several levels for the qualitative data analysis. The coding process begins with the first-level coding (Bell et al., 2019), which summarizes all the interesting and relevant information into different terms and phrases. In the next step, the authors used the coherence of the first-level codes and used them for the generation of second-level codes - which was further sorted into different concepts or categories. It is of utmost importance that the researchers do not lose the context when coding the data, which can potentially lead to misinterpretations. Also, it needs to be ensured that any vague and unclear message should also not be taken into account when coding in order to eliminate the risks of citation bias. The next step was to involve the identification and generation of themes based on the derived concepts, and the final step was about further refining and evaluating these themes and eventually giving them names. The data analysis process is visualised and elaborated in the Appendix B.

Bryman & Bell (2015) also suggest the researchers to code the same data separately to mitigate the possibility of subjectivity bias. Therefore the researchers went through the transcriptions individually and gave their suggestions in order to arrive at a consensus.

5.6 Research Quality

5.6.1 Validity

Validity is a very important criterion of research, since it refers to the measurement of legitimacy and truthfulness of the results and the conclusions made from a specific field of research. To be able to ensure the validity of the research, several methods were used throughout the process. Throughout the study, there has been an immense effort on keeping the validity high of the study. According to Bell et al. (2019) qualitative data can have the tendency to be subjective. Since qualitative data can fail in quality due to the lack of consistency and the full overview over the entire population, the choice of the interview structure was semi-structured interviews. Another way to create validity of the study was through carefully identifying and selecting appropriate respondents when collecting data. The respondents were individuals with great insight within the industry and who had a relevant management position in the chosen organisations.

Another way to certify the validity of the work throughout the study, was to constantly work towards the research aims that were clarified in the beginning of the process. This resulted in the process having a steady direction from the beginning to the end. Through providing the reader with an explanatory and in-depth research methods description, the trustworthiness can be considered higher since the reader can follow the decisions and procedure in detail. The study will throughout the entire process be reviewed, evaluated and analysed by a supervisor from the Gothenburg University and two supervisors from Business Region Gothenburg, who are well-informed within the area of investigation.

All information that has been gathered throughout the study has been revised to ensure that all sources and facts are trustworthy and up to date. The secondary data that has been gathered has been assessed by the use of a triangulation method. This means that all information which has been provided by secondary data has been separately validated from more than two sources (Bell et al., 2019). In order to avoid biased results, an objective and neutral perspective was applied both during the collection and analysis of the qualitative data.

5.6.2 Reliability

Reliability is referred to the concern of a study being repeatable. Reliability is often a concern in quantitative research since we cannot trust unreliable measures since there is no faith in its consistency. Reliability is also often referred to the replicability of a study which can be a problem with qualitative studies. Sometimes findings from other researchers can be replicated by other researchers for different reasons (Bell et al., 2019). To be able to prove the level of reliability throughout the study, there has been a constant strive towards a high level of transparency and comprehensive clarifications and regarding choices throughout the process.

According to Bell et al. (2019) the reliability of research is the extent where results are steady and reliable over time and if the same study could be recreated with the use of the same methodology. The telematics industry is evolving and a lot has happened in the last 20 years. With the technology and knowledge that are accessible today, this means that the industry will go through major changes in the near future. This means that the findings in this research, which are based on the current situation and circumstances, might have been different in the future where the conditions will be changed. Therefore, the data and the findings from this study cannot be ensured to be stable over time.

5.6.3 Research Ethics

When conducting the interviews, there was a solid focus on that no harm should cause the respondents of the study. To ensure this, all respondents' names were therefore anonymized. All respondents were informed about the purpose of the research and the interview. Further information about the research area was also given in advance for their consensus for participation. In order to find and uncover the possible challenges with the chosen qualitative strategy, the interview questions were relevant, open, non-leading and of high quality so as to not mislead the respondents.

6. Empirical Context

This section gives additional detailed background of the current and future state of the telematics industry. Thereafter, telematics within the context of different industries is elaborated on and clusters and telematics competence within the Gothenburg region is also discussed. Lastly, a brief overview of the association - Telematics Valley is briefly presented.

6.1 Telematics

Telematics systems can be used in different kinds of network-enabled devices and examples of the areas are; wireless connectivity, electrical engineering, computer science, and vehicle technologies. Telematics has a broad range of applications in the automotive sector, which is why this sector is highlighted the most within the telematics industry.

6.1.1 Telematics Industry Development

Even though telematics has grown more popular during the last two decades, the term first developed during the 1960s. In the late 1990s, when the three breakthrough innovations; Internet, Global Positioning System (GPS) and communication between machines emerged, the development of telematics advanced (Telematics, n.d). This is the time when the information society was born. In the beginning of the 21st century, the development of telematics systems developed and the service of real-time information to distant networks began to be used more frequently world-wide. Back in the 1990s, telematics was used mainly for vehicle tracking (Frana, 2018). The application of telematics has shifted from focusing on localizing vehicles to focusing on the driver of the vehicle, the safety of the driver and the people around the vehicle (Mordor Intelligence, 2021). Today, Telematics systems can help to increase driving behaviour, road safety, minimize accidents, track stolen vehicles, support usage-based-insurance (UBI) and provide route and fuel optimization which is beneficial from an environmental perspective (McKinsey & Company, 2018).

Telematics is used in various industries and the development of telematics services today and the devices are constantly evolving. According to Vision Research Reports (2020), the reason why advanced telematics technologies are accelerating is due to the increasing consumer demand of high connectivity in cars and to that authorities mandate telematics services globally. Since telematics systems today can improve driving behaviour and road safety, this also means that the development of the telematics industry is opening up for cooperation and collaboration between businesses who are a part of the complex value chain of telematics.

With an increasing demand with a combination of governmental support, telematics technology will eventually become more and more conventional (McKinsey & Company, 2018). Another reason why the telematics industry development is advancing, is because the telematics industry is strongly interrelated with the development of the 5G technology. Real time data transmission between different devices demands advanced networks and 5G technology can increase the speed, handling and even the reliability of telematics systems. Another important technology that

has led the telematics industry to where it is today, is the technology of Artificial intelligence (AI) which transforms connected services to intelligent services. The smartphone has also enabled the development of telematics since it is the main source of connectivity today. Applications within smartphones facilitate the integration with connected solutions and it also replaces the traditional computer-based hardware. This means that the production costs are lower since it eliminates the manufacturing of physical devices and increases the accessibility of information for the users (Fortune Business Insights, 2020).

6.1.2 Telematics & Its Role Today and in the future

Telematics technology is the provider of several enticing and valuable services for people today. It is often referred to as the enabler of a variety of connected services and is the technology that has made the idea of a digital and connected car a reality. The term has a history of solely being associated with the automotive sector and is often cited as 'automotive telematics' as well (Cho et al., 2005). This notion still holds true, since the technology has gained most recognition and exploitation within the automotive industry, which has revolutionized the driving and the vehicle experience for the consumers today.

In the last two decades, the automobile has transformed from being an analogue machine to a digital car with computer-based systems (Cho et al., 2005). Where valuable services are provided through collection of data from vehicles, drivers and the overall telematics environment, which includes; traffic information, road conditions, weather data etc. (Yoon et al., 2008). We are now at a juncture, where telematics is not a future but a currently available technology (Yoon et al., 2008) that is in a need to be exploited and explored to create more value-added digital solutions and services. The question is not about the technology anymore, as it was perhaps two decades ago, but rather how to utilize it and how its potential for enabling exciting solutions can be explored in the coming future.

Yoon et al. (2008) stated the potential and possibility of new industries and business models to be exploiting this technology. In current times telematics is used across various industries and sectors, although still predominantly being leveraged in the automotive industry. According to Mckinzey & Company (2018) the current adoption rate still remains low across markets, which certainly has the potential to grow dramatically in the next decade. Today's adoption level remains below 20% for all countries globally. The expansion and development of the telematics market is expected to continue to increase during the coming five years. According to a report about the telematics market which considers growth, trends, Covid 19 impact and forecasts, the telematics market is predicted to have a Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 20.7% between the years 2021 to 2026 (Mordor Intelligence, 2021). According to Vision Research Reports, between 2020 to 2027, the automotive telematics market is predicted to expand at a CAGR of 17% (Vision Research Reports, 2020).

6.1.3 Telematics Markets

The market for telematics and in general automotive telematics, is growing on a global level across regions (Vision Research Reports, 2020). The three main geographical regions which
create, utilize and develop telematics are: North America, Europe and Asia Pacific. All geographical regions differ when it comes to infrastructure, connectivity, overall wireless digital standards, regulations and the end-customers preferences and demand of telematics services (Fortune Business insights, 2020).

According to Vision Research Reports (2020), North America and Europe are the regions that have developed the most when it comes to automotive telematics. North America dominates the global telematics market due to a large amount of vehicles and increasing industrialization. The increasing demand of preventing accidents, theft minimization and safety of the passenger, driver and vehicle contributes to the region's market growth. Another reason why the North American market is one of the leading markets in the world, is because the U.S government is boosting the growth of automotive telematics in the region (Fortune Business insights, 2020). The telematics market in Europe is expanding due to both an increasing demand for precise navigation, remote diagnostics and safety regulations from governmental authorities (Fortune Business Insights, 2020). The telematics market in Asia Pacific is also showing growth. Large populations and high traffic activity increases the demand for Telematics systems in the regions (Fortune Business insights, 2020). According to Statista (2021), the telematics market penetration rate by countries across the world shows that the United States has the highest telematics market penetration (Statista, 2021).

Moreover, the willingness of facilitating and mandating telematics services by governmental authorities, have a large impact on a region's telematics market development (McKinsey & Company, 2018). As an example, European Commission made it mandatory to equip new passenger cars and commercial vehicles from 2018 with telematics eCall systems. The purpose of this decision is that in case the vehicle has an accident, eCall immediately dials the emergency number of Europe. This telematics system then communicates the precise time the accident happened and the position of the vehicle (European Commission, 2015). According to McKinsey & Company (2018), Russia mandated a system for new cars in 2017, comparable with the mandate that European Commission established. Mexico is trying to mandate radio-frequency-identification (RFID) devices in order to strengthen anti-theft systems for vehicles (McKinsey & Company, 2018). Also the GDPR policy impacted the fleet management by the operators and how the telematics data is gathered and processed (Fleet Europe, 2018). The policy forced responsibility for careful management and handling of personal data through telematics and connected cars. The EU implemented heavy fines in case of failure to comply with the policy.

6.1.4 Utilization Of Telematics Within Different Industries and Services

As stated earlier, the main industry that telematics is mostly recognized through is the enabled services and solutions in the automotive sector. However, telematics technologies have increased in various industries, organisations and societies. The rise of Internet of Things, GPS and the communication between machines enables the collection of sensor generated data that in turn generates various types of new business opportunities (Baecke & Bocca, 2017)

6.1.4.1 Automotive Industry

In the automobile sector today, the connected car is a major trend and telematics is used by all big car manufacturers to offer their connected and digital services. The *automotive telematics* refers to the communication service and vehicle information shared through the wireless communication link (Nolte et al., 2005). Integration of the communication technology has allowed for the deployment of new services and applications, and as a result, vehicles are offering more advanced services to the users. Nolte et al. (2005) highlight some of the main examples of telematics services used for vehicles as:

1. *Navigation and traffic information systems:* this involves the use of telematics to assist the driver to reach a required destination with real time traffic information.

2. *Voice recognition and wireless internet connection:* the ability to send and receive voice activated emails by the driver or the passengers.

3. *Safety systems:* Can ensure safe driving experience through collision avoidance systems, intelligent and automatic airbag systems. Enabling communication between the vehicle and its surroundings (vehicles and objects).

4. Security systems: Stolen vehicle tracking services and anti-theft systems.

5. *Diagnostic and maintenance services*: Vehicle data transmission can allow for vehicle and driver monitoring.

6. *Others:* door unlock/lock remote control system, car preconditioning (heating or cooling), emergency call (eCall) service. Black box insurance which can measure the driving style and the aspects of how, where and when the vehicle is driven to enable services like theft recovery and accidental alert.

6.1.4.2 Other Industries and Services

Telematics technologies can be utilized by car insurance companies to offer user-based insurance for the driver. Insurance companies can use the telematics data that is communicated from the car to offer their customers personalized driving feedback and possible cost saving on the customers car insurance depending on the insurance company's safe driving policy (All State, 2020). This enables insurance companies to offer all drivers individual insurance based on the individual's driving behaviour (Telematics n.d). Telematics data can inform the insurance companies about how the driver is observant on speed limits, other vehicles and obstacles close by the vehicle, how the vehicle is placed on the road, how the driver is acting when slowing down and accelerating the vehicle in different types of infrastructure and on different road conditions.

This type of information that the black box can provide to insurance companies gives all drivers individual insurance premiums depending on their driving. During the same time, the user-based insurance can also increase the driver's road safety and reduce the risks for theft and accidents since the telematics data reports the vehicles exact location (Telematics n.d). The data which is collected by the black box in the vehicle can inform the speed, length, time, location and distance of the route of the car, how the environment and the road conditions look like and as mentioned, how the driver acts when driving the car journey. Telematics can also contribute to a more

sustainable society through for example data regarding vehicle emissions and optimization of environmental impact of transport (Sleet & Naumann, 2011).

Telematics technologies can also provide flexible ways of improving transportation in society, such as buses, taxis and carpooling (Sleet & Naumann, 2011). Through communication systems such as vehicle location and positioning, digital maps and image processors, telematics can facilitate society's infrastructure and give precise information that is helpful for individuals, firms and society in general (Sleet & Naumann, 2011). Another important role of Telematics services is the feedback data from various fields into the R&D system (data driven development) for analysing trends and behaviours as an input to new features and products and to offer uptime services instead of products (Koch et al., 2020). Another sector where telematics has started to play a big role, is the healthcare sector. Telematics within health care refers to connected systems, activities and services which are health related and provided at distance (Kirch, 2008). Health telematics support health care in general through increasing the outcomes for patients by the large amount of medical care and information that can be transferred, no matter distances. The communication and information systems provide health care professionals with the information needed in order to evaluate diagnosis, treatments and prevention of injuries and diseases (WHO, 2009).

6.2 The Telematics Industry in Gothenburg Region

The Swedish economy is supported via collaboration between private and public actors (Ligenzowska, 2016). There is a wide-ranging network which consists of various firms and organisations that are supported by governmental bodies. A few examples of these governmental bodies that have the purpose of supporting growth in Sweden, is the Swedish Agency for Economic and Regional Growth (Tillväxtverket) and The Swedish Governmental Agency for Innovation Systems (Vinnova) (Ligenzowska, 2016).

The region of Gothenburg has 580,000 inhabitants and is the second largest city in Sweden. Gothenburg has a strong industry and business community which is wide-ranging (Gothenburg City, 2021). The city has two big universities, University of Gothenburg and the University of Chalmers (Ligenzowska, 2016). The region has three science parks (Sahlgrenska Science Park, Lindholmen Science Park and Johanneberg Science Park), which are owned by society, academia and businesses. These science parks create innovative environments and act like bridges between manufacturing and research. The region's business life has a strong international presence with many large international players who own many of the companies in the city and there are also many regional actors who are leading within their field on a global level (Business Region Gothenburg, 2021).

Gothenburg benefits from the non-profit organisation "Business Region Gothenburg" which is a non-profit organisation owned by the city of Gothenburg. The organisation is responsible for the city's business development with the ambition to contribute to more jobs in the region and therefore also sustainable growth in the region's business community. The aim is to work for an open collaborative environment where businesses, academia and the city are brought closer together. Gothenburg also provides test beds for different sustainable and innovative solutions and the city is currently undergoing a transformation. By the year 2035, the city aims to provide new infrastructure that will benefit both businesses and private individuals (Gothenburg City, 2021).

Gothenburg also provides test beds for different sustainable and innovative solutions and the city is currently undergoing a transformation. By the year 2035, the city aims to provide new infrastructure that will benefit both businesses and private individuals (Gothenburg City, 2021). Gothenburg City also aims to become a green city in the future (Gothenburg City, 2021). The Gothenburg Green City Zone is an initiative from the City of Gothenburg through the Business Region Gothenburg, RISE Research Institutes of Sweden and Volvo Cars. Institutions, universities and many other actors are also involved with the project. The initiative is to create a zone where new technologies in vehicles and infrastructure are being tested. The goal with this initiative is to create a climate-neutral transport system in the zone which is completely emission-free by 2030. The main motive for this initiative is to create new innovative solutions which will benefit the society, businesses and to create a more sustainable living (Business Region Gothenburg, 2021). Another collaboration between industry, research and society, is the ElectriCity project. ElectriCity is an initiative which aims to develop and test new innovative solutions for the future of electrified transport (Electric City Gothenburg, n.d).

Gothenburg has long been known for having an automotive heavy industry and it is of great importance to the Swedish economy (Vinnova, 2020). According to a report by Vinnova, Västra Götaland stands for more than 33 % of the total employment in the automotive industry in Sweden (Vinnova, 2017). One of the major reasons why the region of Västra Götaland became the automotive center of Sweden, was mainly that Volvo established its head office in the city of Gothenburg 1926 (Volvo Group, n.d., Business Region Gothenburg, n.d.). After this more and more automotive companies approached the region and today, there are many large subcontractors, manufacturers, and related companies that are established in Gothenburg, Trollhättan and Skövde. (Vinnova, 2018). Volvo Group, Volvo Cars, SKF, Scania, Autoliv, CEVT, Semcon are a few of the main big players who all are established in the Gothenburg region (Business Region Gothenburg, 2018). Gothenburg has become a strong automotive cluster and many international organisations are making investments, strategic partnerships and collaborations with actors in Gothenburg. (Invest In Gothenburg, n.d.).

Apart from being an automotive cluster, Gothenburg also has a big life science cluster. The GoCo Health Innovation City in Gothenburg has a mission to provide support and boost organisations and individuals who work with finding the solutions to universal health challenges. The GoCo Health Innovation City is a science cluster has the goal to become the largest life science cluster in Sweden, (GoCo, n.d) and according to Invest In Gothenburg, the Health Innovation City might even strengthen the West Sweden region to that extent that it becomes a leading health innovation cluster from a global perspective (Invest in Gothenburg, 2020).

The region of Gothenburg can be considered as one of the world's leading regions within telematics, software development and mobile data design. The region has approximately

30.000 employees within the areas of technology and IT (Invest In Gothenburg, n.d). According to Chalmers University, a strong wireless connectivity will be the enabler for innovative applications and technologies which will create an intelligent society (Chalmers University, n.d). Gothenburg also has a handful of telecom companies who are established in the region. The telecom company Ericsson is one of them and could be considered as one of the world's leading many leading companies within communication and information technologies (Ericsson, n.d).

In order to develop a connected society from the value chain of Telematics, many different players in the regional industry need to be involved. Since all industries are entering a digital era where everything in the society will be more and more connected, this also means that businesses in the different parts of the value chain have to collaborate. Telematics can be considered the driving force of information and communication technologies (ICT) which can have several societal applications (European Commission, n.d). In order to facilitate the companies who work within the value chain of telematics in the Gothenburg region, a non-profit organisation called Telematics Valley was established in Gothenburg in 2001.

6.3 Telematics Valley

Telematics Valley is a non-profit organisation based in the Gothenburg region, which has been connecting telematics professionals since 2001 (Telematics Valley, n.d.). The association is fundamentally a networking and knowledge sharing forum for its member organisations, who are within the field of telematics and connected industries. The aim is to provide a platform and an opportunity for all relevant organisations and actors to come together in order to effectively network, share knowledge and exchange meaningful ideas. This is accomplished via hosting a vast array of planned activities and events like several lunch seminars, annual international conferences and targeted workshops (Telematics Valley, n.d.).

The prime purpose of the association today is to boost innovation and promote regional development by exploiting the region of Gothenburg as a premier telematics cluster. Telematics Valley believes this can be attained via attracting further competences into the region of Gothenburg, collaborating with other similar European actors and most importantly reinforcing collaboration and knowledge sharing. Being an open association, Telematics Valley has members from private as well as the public sector, enterprise start-ups and also small to medium enterprises (SMEs). Today, the organisation is funded through a membership model, where an annual membership fee is paid by all its members. The association has around 21 members currently (Telematics Valley, n.d.), who mainly fall within the automotive, telecommunications and information technology sector. The majority of the members are Gothenburg based, while the remaining others are established in other parts of Sweden.

7. Empirical Findings

This section will present the collected empirical findings. Seven main themes and nine subthemes were derived from the collected data. These identified themes are listed and further described in this section.

For a more specific explanation regarding the codes, context and themes, see Appendix C. The coding scheme can be found in Appendix D.

Codes	Themes
Facilitator, integrator, consultant, innovator, catalyst, advisory role, connector	The Role of Telematics Valley
Network, contacts, meeting people, connections, conversations, interaction, relationships connecting dots, dialogues	The Importance of Networks
Internal Openness between members, activeness, engagement, positiveness, presence, energy, honesty, trust, mindset, passion	Openness and Trust Within Networks
Knowledge, knowledge exchange, discussions, experiences, solutions, information gaining/sharing, learning, ideas, innovation creation	Knowledge and Knowledge Exchange
Collaboration, partnerships, cooperation, finding solutions together, work jointly, occasions, partnerships, cross-industry collaboration.	Collaboration Between Actors in Related Industries
Rebranding, Marketing, 2.0, developing, modernizing, revamping.	Revamping of Telematics Valley
Mission, vision, common expectations and interests, business model.	Defining the Mission and Vision
Value offering, value proposition, value creation, win-win situations, offerings.	Value Offering
name change, telematics, connectivity, IoT, old fashioned	Name Change
Employee, recruitment	Recruitment of an Employee
Activities, arrangements, workshops, round table discussions, students, topics, events, content, involve academia, governmental support/funding opportunities, investments, infrastructure, city, state European Union, triple helix	Potential activities, content and arrangements
Sustainability, Green city zone	The Sustainability Perspective
Short term, Covid 19, Digital interaction, mental presence, physical/online, hybrid approach	Strategy and action during and post Covid 19
Regional, local, closeness, national approach, global approach, international,, globalization	The Global vs. the Regional Approach
Gothenburg, cluster, Lindholmen, proximity, uniqueness, competencies, industry specific knowledge	Gothenburg Region
Open, closed, excluding, including	Open vs. Closed Community

Table 2: 'Codes and themes derived from the collected data' (Compiled by the authors)

7.1 The Perceived Role of Telematics Valley Today

This section describes the respondents' perspectives regarding the role of Telematics Valley today. There seems to be a shared view from the respondents that Telematics Valley has the role of being a *facilitator* for networks in the regional industry and that the organisation can enable knowledge sharing and connecting people and brains together.

"The core of Telematics Valley is information sharing and networking" - (Respondent 11)

"Telematics Valley is about the power of the networks, and the connections of brains and knowledge" - (Respondent 3)

Nine of the respondents agreed that the role of Telematics Valley is to both act as a platform where knowledge and information sharing happens and that Telematics Valley has the role of connecting people in the regional industry and providing the actors with a good network. Three respondents thought that the role was to facilitate knowledge sharing and three respondents talked about the organisations as a facilitator for networking in the industry.

"For me, Telematics Valley is a place where I can be inside of the context and it is a good network. What they offer is a good local network with people within the telematics area" -(Respondent 13)

"I believe in this local hub where you kind of connect between people. That has been kind of the heart of Telematics Valley" - (Respondent 1)

"Telematics Valley fills the function of being for professionals that are working with connectivity. The role Telematics Valley is to connect to networks of skill" - (Respondent 14)

Six respondents mentioned that through different constellations of actors in the industry, actors can learn from each other and come up with joint ideas and solutions.

"We meet and discuss, and I think that Telematics Valley for me, has always been a lot about discussions and building on each other's experiences" - (Respondent 11)

The most common perceived role of Telematics Valley is as stated above, to facilitate the network and the knowledge exchange between the actors in the industry. There also seems to be a common understanding that the role of Telematics Valley is not to generate projects for the member organisations, it is rather about providing a network platform where member organisations can share knowledge and experiences with each other.

"What I get from Telematics Valley is to understand our customers. It is not a platform that actually generates real projects, it is more of a sharing format" - (Respondent 11)

"I think Telematics Valley is more like an informal network where you meet and you don't have to go into projects together, it's more like you go to the last meetings you listen and you learn something and you talk to someone" - (Respondent 16)

Other respondents have agreed with the statements above, the importance lies in understanding the customers for the various member companies, it is not Telematics Valley's role to enable projects for the members. To have the access to this type of network that Telematics Valley provides, can in turn contribute to the understanding of other actors' challenges and opportunities. Respondents 12 and 2 also agree with this. The perceived role of Telematics Valley is instead to contribute with opportunities where organisations in the industry can create informal networks where you can learn from each other. The role of Telematics Valley lies in the importance of connecting actors in the industry and facilitating knowledge and experience exchange.

"I don't think Telematics Valley should run any projects, Telematics Valley should not have any costs or infrastructure. It should be more about connecting people and connecting brains" - (Respondent 12)

"From the perspective of having an organisation to find new customers, it's not the role of Telematics Valley since. It is about networking in the region, to kind of follow up what is going on with the trends in the region" - (Respondent 2)

Further, respondents 11 and 15 believe that the role of Telematics Valley should be to act like a local networking forum and that if there is a need of generating actual projects for companies, there are other organisations that are more suitable for this type of need. Since there are other cluster initiatives that can support the companies with for example venture capital or generating projects.

"Maybe Telematics Valley is that local networking discussion forum where you can bring the local community together and then if you want to do bigger projects, you have DRIVE Sweden, Connect West, is all about venture capital and if you need start-ups for the projects then you have MobilityXlab" - (Respondent 11)

There is nobody that is really targeting the person working in the company that wants to achieve something with connectivity. That to me, is the role of Telematics Valley" - (Respondent 15)

However, one respondent perceives that Telematics Valley contributed to a generation of business opportunities. Respondent 7 mentioned that the organisation where he/she works at, achieved a new project together with another member organisation of Telematics valley, and that this project was facilitated through Telematics Valley.

"My organisation has one example where we had a cooperation agreement through the network of Telematics Valley where we are offering a product to customers together. This would not happen as easy without Telematics Valley" - (Respondent 7)

7.2 The Importance Of Networks

The networking aspect as stressed in the previous theme is a very critical part of Telematics Valley, the respondents have collectively outlined the benefits and importance of networks. Fifteen respondents have a shared view of the association mainly as a networking platform. They have stated how the networking and connectedness enabled through the events and activities organised by Telematics Valley aids to broaden their horizons. Moreover, how it has facilitated them to meet the right people and experts within their field. It was also observed that networking was deemed to be one of the most valued elements by the respondents.

'I think that the networking piece is the most important and it's the people that are involved that makes the difference for me'' - (Respondent 11)

"It's not only about going to lunches and the big events that are hosted by big organisations, you basically grow your network which I think is very good and important. It is a very useful network function" - (Respondent 5)

The networking element is also viewed as the starting point of all the potential future collaborations and partnerships that can be enabled through the platform. The connectedness of expertise and qualified people within a network creates the perfect environment for potential future collaborations and alliances. Respondent 5 stressed on the fact that the telematics network is unique, entails strong expertise and thus creates an ecosystem of competence within the region, which in turn leads to generation of new ideas and innovation.

"I think Telematics Valley is more of a way to ensure that different companies actually do connect. Innovation creates an ecosystem and this is some kind of ecosystem. So by putting these people together in different ways, new ideas can be created" - (Respondent 5)

"You never know what type of opportunities opens up, a change of competences or new partnership or business opportunity. I think it is competence and networking that are focused on" - (Respondent 9)

In addition, a majority of the interviewees highlighted the appeal of lunch seminars, planned after-works and relevant topics on how that assists in bringing people together. This has been observed to be generally appreciated by the current members and attendees of Telematics Valley. According to the collected data, it primarily gives the individuals time off from their busy work schedules and gives an opportunity to connect, discuss and brainstorm ideas and topics with likeminded people, in a professional yet informal way. Some respondents also stated how the only interaction happening for them with the association is through the planned lunch seminars and yearly events, and thus it holds importance for them. Respondent 11 reaffirms the importance of the lunch seminars and yearly events, since that is the only interchange their organisation has with Telematics Valley.

"My organisation is interacting with Telematics Valley mainly through the yearly events and the lunch seminars. That is pretty much the only place where the interaction is happening" -(Respondent 11)

"I joined the annual conferences that Telematic Valley arranges and I think that these conferences have always had very good quality with good energy and super interesting and relevant topics" - (Respondent 14)

7.2.1 Openness & Trust Within Networks

Another highlighted central facet within a network is the existence of *trust and openness* as its vital foundation. Its significance and impact has been highlighted by sixteen respondents, stating how having trust, openness and reliance in the environment - created and offered by Telematics Valley will play a critical role on how the organisation functions, how the members feel and how they potentially collaborate with one another in the future.

"I felt like that was really good network and a good thing about it which made me stay, was that people were very likeable so it was a very good atmosphere, the know-how was great, some of the strongest people within automotive in Sweden I would say" - (Respondent 17)

"[...] however for this type of networking platform to function, the members need to be open" - (Respondent 3)

Four Respondents mentioned that they think that the network that Telematics Valley provides, enables trust and openness amongst the members. Through having this type of network in the region, the members have informal ways of connecting with each other and through this type of relationships, trust can be created which in turn can lead to prosperity.

"Telematics Valley has a special role when it comes to openness and trust. There is trust to share and openness to discuss. I have made connections and friends within Telematics Valley that I can just call on a Friday afternoon and ask if we should do a project for this traffic system in Gothenburg. People know each other and trust each other" - (Respondent 1)

Furthermore, a positive energy and atmosphere is also viewed as the success factor for the organisation to function effectively. For many respondents, the likeability of the members, a positive ambience and the energy of the space defines their eagerness and willingness to be a part of this network. Respondent 12 emphasises on the need of a positive atmosphere and energy that boosts the development of innovative thinking and a collaborative environment. The engagement and the driving purpose of the people involved is also something that was touched upon by respondents 17 and 16, which are all essential factors for such a platform to entail.

"Atmosphere! it needs to be a nice place and it has to be a place people feel 'oh nice to be here again'. The right people are important, people know each other like first names on joke level, to get a very constructive and a very out of the box thinking environment'' - (Respondent 12)

"We have that nice atmosphere, because people are doing it for their passion about networking in transport, so the passion is the driver, not the money" - (Respondent 16)

Therefore, to summarise this section it can be reiterated that the findings suggest the networking aspect to be a critical part for the effective functioning of Telematics Valley. Majority of the respondents have appraised the network obtained from the platform to be advantageous and of great value to them, even from a long term perspective. It is also highlighted that networking is only worthwhile and achievable when there is trust and openness amongst the connected people, which can in turn lead to successful collaboration and generation of new ideas.

7.3 Knowledge Exchange

This particular theme was observed through recurring statements throughout the conducted interviews regarding the importance of knowledge and knowledge sharing in Telematics Valley and in the industry of connectivity. Respondents 11 and 7 state that innovation and solutions are outcomes of knowledge gaining and sharing.

"The idea is that innovation is created when you discuss things from different perspectives. When you talk with people with different backgrounds and perspectives, then you can come up with ideas and solve problems jointly" - (Respondent 11)

"For innovation, you cannot sit in your office and know everything, you need to have inspiration from others as well. I think that is one key thing towards innovation, it gives you the possibility to be inspired by others. After you have met people on these events, you have fed your brain with good ideas" - (Respondent 7)

As stated in the empirical results from the section 'The role of Telematics Valley', several respondents mentioned that Telematics Valley enables knowledge sharing and the connection of brains. Further elaboration on this specific subject was made from the respondents and the observation made was that knowledge and knowledge exchange seems to be a crucial part for organisations innovation capacity and competitiveness. Seven respondents discussed the importance of taking advantage of each other's knowledge, since the members come from different types of organisations with different expertise.

"We learn and improve together to make sure that we can do things like autonomous driving, safety solutions with the cars etc. We also make sure that we support each other from since we all have different capabilities and expertise" - (Respondent 11)

"It is beneficial to have those types of skilled and experienced people who have a lot of knowledge in their fields. It is a lot about gaining knowledge. Knowledge and experience of the people involved is very high so there are a lot of things to talk about" - (Respondent 7)

Six respondents mentioned that other actors in Telematics Valley enhance certain information and knowledge, for example about the trends in the industry and specific technologies and solutions within the area of connectivity. "I felt that getting into the board and the members was really boosting the knowledge that I was lacking. It was quite easy to get information like what is the development of the cars, what are the trends?" - (Respondent 17)

"We have a think tank approach. You have a wide set up of people, competitiveness, customer suppliers, friends, competitors, technical people, business development people in the same room" - (Respondent 12)

Even the respondents that were not members in Telematics Valley, discussed the importance of sharing knowledge between each other.

"As the members are working together, they can share knowledge. This make them stronger as individuals and it also strengthens the region" - (Respondent 10)

"They can bring to the table that they have a larger scale of partners that want to share knowledge within the industry and I think that this is good" - (Respondent 13)

7.4 Collaboration Between Actors in Related Industries

The conversation regarding the importance of collaboration between various actors in the telematics industry was recurring during the conducted interviews. This theme states the respondents' views on the importance of collaboration in related industries. It also touches upon what potential collaboration arenas Telematics Valley should be involved with. Eleven of the respondents mentioned that the network of Telematics Valley can enable collaboration and that the network provides the member organisations with possibilities to explore solutions and cooperation with other members.

"It encourages quite a lot of cooperation between companies and people who would not be able to do that if they did not have this type of network"- (Respondent 7)

"If we can understand each other, that will bring innovation and that is going to bring more cooperation and more things forward. If we can get together and work together, this will be a competitive advantage of the region and also for the companies" - (Respondent 11)

Five respondents discussed that collaboration is a success factor and that it is much better to collaborate than to compete.

"Cooperation is the key here. We have met other companies in Telematics Valley and talked about what we are doing and then we said; ok maybe we should explore more together? We are not competing, we are working in the same direction" - (Respondent 7)

"There are a lot of different organisations in Gothenburg. Since connected cars also broaden into the digital society, maybe it is good to start teaming up and that these types of organisations start to help each other and not try to compete. If they try to compete with each other, I mean Gothenburg is a very small city, nobody will succeed" - (Respondent 9) Four respondents brought up that collaboration between actors in the same industry is not only beneficial for the actors themselves but also for the specific region and nation. Since Gothenburg can be considered as a smaller city compared to other large international cities, it means that organisations benefit from joining forces instead of doing everything alone, both on an individual, regional and national level.

"I think that Sweden is too small of a country to have competition between Stockholm and Gothenburg, we should collaborate better and I think that Stockholm should be a part of the Telematics Valley collaboration" - (Respondent 16)

"It's great to discuss topics to collaborate and share knowledge. If we find partners with whom we can have events with, we can connect together in the industry and create an attractive environment which makes people travel to actually come to these events. This will create attraction to the region" - (Respondent 13)

However, two respondents mentioned that there are of course risks that innovation will be picked up by someone else when you have open dialogues and push for collaborations.

"If Volvo and Scania somehow help each other, then you can always say that "this is not good", from a competitor point of view. From another perspective, it means that Scania and Volvo have the possibility to move faster than any other truck brands. So when you communicate between other companies and competitors of course there is a risk that innovation is taken up by someone else" - (Respondent 12)

An observation was made that a majority of the respondents had a positive attitude towards collaboration in the industry. By joining forces and for example having joint events and conferences with other similar organisations, could be a potential form of collaboration.

"An easy example is to collaborate and arrange conferences, like having one day each at a conference in the same location, that could be a strong collaboration, to use the different networks for invitations. organisations like MobilityXlab, DRIVE Sweden and Telematics Valley all have quite big mailing lists for invitations for events" - (Respondent 7)

"There are many collaboration arenas that Telematics Valley can work with in the future. I mean a very basic way is to help each other to promote each other's events. So let's join forces and split the job or the workload" - (Respondent 12)

As stated, all respondents were positive towards joining forces and they all agreed that collaboration is important in order to trigger innovation and competitiveness. Moreover, the respondents also had some thoughts regarding what potential collaboration arenas that Telematics Valley could potentially work with in the future that would be beneficial both for the development of the organisation itself and for the member companies. Nine respondents mentioned that they thought that Telematics Valley should collaborate with MobilityXlab, (a

collaboration hub that aims to develop new innovation within future mobility through interactions with six partner enterprises and start-ups).

"We should work closely with MobilityXlab, which has a startup community in the domain. If we could cross invite each other for things that would also improve the possibility for new companies to take a space and to move into the domains and support the bigger ones to actually create new business"- (Respondent 11)

"I think now as MobilityXlab is a great example of specific know-how that we could collaborate and that we have synergies with" - (Respondent 17)

One respondent had another viewpoint regarding collaboration with MobilityXlab.

"You can think 'why on earth would we want to have anything to do with MobilityXlab, they are focused on the startup scene, Telematics Valley is not'. But we acknowledge that the startup scene is part of the connectivity, and venture capital is also a part of that" -(Respondent 14)

Another perspective from one of the respondents regarding the potential collaboration with MobilityXlab was that it is hard to argue for what value it actually brings to MobilityXlab to collaborate with Telematics Valley. The respondent had a hard time understanding how that type of collaboration could create a win-win situation for both parties.

"Of course MobilityXlab can say to their start-ups: "go to Telematics Valley, it is a great network there". The thing is, what's the value for MobilityXlab? Why should they encourage their start-ups to go and talk to Telematics Valley that could be viewed as a competitor?" -(Respondent 13)

Four respondents mentioned that the organisation DRIVE Sweden (a strategic innovation program that drives the development towards sustainable mobility solutions) could be a good organisation for Telematics Valley to collaborate with.

"DRIVE Sweden could be something which is a little bit in the same domain that I think we could technically do more activities with" - (Respondent 5)

Respondent 8 who is not a member of Telematics Valley, stated that Telematics Valley needs to collaborate with organisations that incorporate similar activities and who have the same purpose. The respondent further states that there are lots of organisations that they need to collaborate and network with. One example of this type of organisation is Fordonskomponentsgruppen (an organisation for the Nordic subcontractors to the automotive industry).

"Fordonskomponentsgruppen could have a seminar with them. So that they can explain what they do in the automotive industry. It would be really interesting to hear more about what they are doing" - (Respondent 8) One respondent mentioned that Telematics Valley could collaborate with Connect West (a nonprofit organisation that matches entrepreneurs with skills and capital from the business world). Another respondent mentioned the organisation GREAT (organisation that works to develop the IT infrastructure in western Sweden). Two respondents mentioned that Lindholmen Science Park (an international business park with a focus on mobile internet, intelligent vehicles and transportation systems) would be a good collaboration partner. Further, two other respondents mentioned that Telematics Valley potentially could have collaboration with DRIVE Tel Aviv (an innovation hub focused on smart mobility that creates collaborations between Israeli start-ups and corporate partners).

"We have DRIVE in Tel Aviv which a lot of our companies or memberships are working with" - (Respondent 15)

Respondent 18 was highly positive regarding a potential collaboration between the two organisations.

"I definitely can see benefits with DRIVE Tel Aviv and Telematics Valley working together. Maybe they can try to do some experiments together. Further, there are also interesting things with EU funding regarding these types of experiments so this is something that they together can try to challenge themselves with and understand how both parties can be a part of that" -(Respondent 18)

One respondent mentioned that it could be interesting to look into cross-industry collaboration within the fields of Telematics. The respondent further says that Business Region Gothenburg (a non-profit organisation responsible for business development in Gothenburg) can facilitate how Telematics Valley and the member organisations can further establish in the region.

"Maybe there is some really interesting stuff going on in the health industry that you could kind of be inspired from in the automotive industry for instance. That type of cross industry collaboration. Also, Business Region Gothenburg could help Telematics Valley with understanding what place we have in this region and how we achieve more" - (Respondent 9)

Respondent 7 agrees that Telematics Valley could potentially collaborate with DRIVE Sweden and MobilityXlab, however the Respondent reasons that Telematics Valley should not be involved in a great number of collaboration partners.

"I think it is good with cooperation but I don't think Telematics Valley has to start looking for too many partners because that will also be too much" - (Respondent 7)

Respondent 10 who works at a European cluster organisation mentioned that an organisation like Telematics Valley should consider working with various actors within the industry.

"Collaboration is basically the idea of a cluster, just as our cluster organisation. It is about working on solutions together and to get the same amount of information and knowledge" -(Respondent 10) Respondent 10 further stated that it could be beneficial for an Telematics Valley to collaborate with cluster organisations in other nations.

"It could be good to have collaboration between Telematics Valley and our cluster and perhaps even with other clusters as well. All societies are in need of telematics, so an exchange of knowledge would be interesting" - (Respondent 10)

Three of the Respondents talked about how Telematics Valley cannot be as established as for example DRIVE Sweden and Lindholmen Science Park since these are organisations that are governmentally funded.

"If you look at DRIVE Sweden it's also a Lindholmen Science Park initiative, these organisations are getting huge fundings from the Government. When DRIVE Sweden or AI Sweden does an event, either online or physical, it attracts thousands of people. But when Telematics Valley does events, we get 20 people, it's a big big difference!" - (Respondent 14)

However, three Respondents mentioned that Telematics Valley might need a bit more interaction with governmental bodies, traffic agencies and municipalities in order to get more understanding and help regarding systems of innovation and become a part of the automotive environment in Sweden.

"I think the city of Gothenburg should use Telematics Valley and actually I think the city should also be a part of Telematics Valley. Both the city and the transport authority are responsible for the road infrastructure for smart vehicles so having more interaction with these types of actors could be beneficial" - (Respondent 16)

Two Respondents said that if Telematics Valley does not choose to interact with these types of governmental authorities, at least they can seek collaboration with the organisations that have these types of interactions, since this will create larger events and attract more people and networks.

7.5 Revamping of Telematics Valley

This theme involves everything which essentially focuses on revamping Telematics Valley. This is divided into the sub themes of: *mission and vision, value offering, proposal for name change for the organisation and potential recruitment of an employee.*

7.5.1 Defining The Mission & Vision

Nine respondents have highlighted the importance of setting a clear mission and vision for the organisation. It is addressed that currently there is ambiguity in terms of a clear vision and a purpose for what Telematics Valley stands for and what it essentially wants to achieve in the future.

"I started to ask questions about the purpose and the reason to exist and the profile, the target groups etc. Looks like we have kind of a scattered view of what Telematics Valley is or should be. I would say we have a bit of different ambitions on the table" - (Respondent 15)

"I think that it's important that Telematics Valley should be clear about the role that they want, it's important to be clear" - (Respondent 16)

Also, as highlighted by the respondents there needs to be a clarity on what value the platform provides towards its members. Respondent 12 questioned whether a sustainable membership base and future expansion is a primary agenda for Telematics Valley. If not, then what entirely is the purpose that it aims to achieve in the future needs to be specified. According to the interviewees these are the questions that have room to be clarified and stated precisely in a well formulated mission and vision statement of the organisation, stating the purpose of its existence and the value it creates.

"If we just find a way to fill that hole, that was actually filled a few years ago, it would be good. What's the reason? What's the mission, what's in it for the members? Do they want to increase their membership base?" - (Respondent 12)

"Telematics Valley needs to find the offered value creation since they want to take the role of connecting the different links between the organisations in the industry. I think that it's so important that you define the value that you want to achieve and why, and then you find the means in the organisation to do that" - (Respondent 13)

There seems to be unanimous agreement on the perspective that the mission and vision of the platform needs to be explicitly stated for better understanding of their future ambition and role. Moreover, the question of global and the regional approach was also addressed, respondent 15 and 1 stated that it needs to be clarified in the specific mission of the organisation whether it wants to adopt a more local or international approach. It is according to the interviewees one of the main dilemmas that is under discussion for Telematics Valley.

"It could be like an evolution where we say that in 2021 - we reformulate or restate the mission, we do that for like a focus in Sweden and then when we have found this common ground, we then take another decision like a milestone if we are ready to expand it internationally or not" - (Respondent 15)

"I have been part of many 'soul-searching' in Telematics, like should we change name, should we be global, should we be digital, should we be local, should we communicate in English, Swedish etc" - (Respondent 1)

7.5.2 Value Offering

Majority of the respondents have attributed the greatest benefit in being part of a specialised network, which thus drives knowledge and sharing of ideas, which in turn leads to innovation.

Respondents 11, 17 and 3 are just a few examples of how the respondents have attached great importance and value to be a part of a network that gives them access to like-minded professionals in the field.

"The biggest value is the networking to trigger cooperation and to drive innovation and new ideas in the domain. Sharing insights, and moving ourselves forward, giving us the competitive edge towards other places" - (Respondent 11)

"The immediate reward we got was knowledge. So I think that knowledge is super important because knowledge and the concentration of knowledge in such a small group is quite unique! -(Respondent 17)

"What you pay for is that you are a part of a network that is working in a space where there is a lot of knowledge. That is what you pay for. If this would have been free of charge, I don't think you can sustain a platform like this" - (Respondent 3)

In contrast to other views, respondent 6 states that the region gets the most value from an organisation like this. The region is thus able to reap the benefits and the prestige of having a unique cluster of competencies and be able to market itself. Additionally, a cluster organisation like Telematics Valley further facilitates and helps in promotion and getting traction to the region.

"I mean, it is the region that really gets the most value from Telematics Valley. They are the ones that really package like Telematics Valley and profile it out to other regions. To have this cluster of competencies that work with it and I think that it is a large argument for the region to attract people" - (Respondent 6)

Also, it was mentioned that organisations are able to interact with their respective customer groups through the enabled networking at Telematics Valley. For some organisations this is one of the main values that drives them to the association and keeps them active since they are better able to understand the needs and wants of their customers and remain connected to them.

7.5.3 Name Change

There has been a general concurrence from the respondents' side that the term 'telematics' is rather old and not used in the industry anymore. Six respondents have claimed that they are discussing this area with the board and suggest a change of name for the association. This is to lift it up according to the current times and keep it more relevant and up to date. *Connectivity, mobility* and *IoT* are some of the current stated terms which are most used in the industry today. The term telematics is not commonly used these days and this is something that has been repeatedly pointed out by interviewees and there is a desire to address this, however it is still in the discussion phase.

"I think that Telematics Valley has been under discussion whether it is a good name or not, that is the next thing. I don't know where it is coming from, I think that telematics was the first word that we talked about when it comes to the actual link to the car" - (Respondent 11) "Mobility is broader than telematics so that's why I would go for a suggestion to maybe switch name to Mobility Valley I think it could be an opportunity if we make a fresh start or like a 2.0" - (Respondent 16)

"I would say that telematics is a term that we no longer use in our organisation since it's kind of old and we like to be current in trends etc, so we use IoT and other words... you have different names for it" - (Respondent 17)

Although there is a general consensus that has been noticed regarding this topic, there are some respondents who have also shown their concern regarding the output change of name will bring about. Respondent 1 and 11 have pointed out that they are not certain if the name change will have any drastic positive effect on the association.

"We have been speaking about should we just change Telematics Valley to IoT and I have always been negative about it - no it won't solve anything" - (Respondent 1)

"Now we are talking much more about mobility and connected solutions, so maybe Mobility Valley would be better. But maybe it would not really make a difference" - (Respondent 11)

7.5.4 The Need To Redesign Telematics Valley

Eleven respondents highlighted the need for redesigning and modernizing Telematics Valley to make it more in sync with the current needs of the member organisations. There is a potential for restructuring that has been identified, respondent 11 suggests renewing the association and making it more suitable for the digital era. Respondent 9 suggests a change is needed to get more attendees and participants for the organised events and seminars. Thus proposing to formulate a strategy and future plan to make it more accessible and appealing for the participants.

``I think we need to lift Telematics Valley. I am more into the idea that we need to lift Telematics Valley into the new century, I think it was more of a 'coffee corner' thing before and I think we need to move more into the more digital era" - (Respondent 11)

"We have had very poor attendance at the seminars during the last years. Reason: is partly because the subjects have not been spot on. And the other is that we used to have our offices in Lindholmen and now that we are far, it has become a little more cumbersome to go and meet'' - (Respondent 9)

"We have been hesitating for a long time how we should do the 2.0. I think is due for Telematics Valley" - (Respondent 1)

Moreover, working on an active *marketing and communication plan* is an identified gap in the organisation today. There were a number of respondents who did not have any particular insights regarding Telematics Valley as an organisation or what their role is in the telematics cluster in Gothenburg. Respondent 8 was not even aware of the existence of Telematics Valley before the interview was conducted. Another respondent did not know if Telematics Valley currently is still

active. Furthermore, when one potential respondent was contacted for an interview (not included in the respondent list), the response was that this person did not have that much insight in Telematics Valley and as this person understands, there is not too much activity in the organisation.

> "I didn't know we had the organisation Telematics Valley in Gothenburg. I do not know what they do or what they want to achieve" - (Respondent 8)

> > "Are they still active" - (Respondent 6)

Eight respondents proposed the need to build a proper marketing strategy to effectively reach out to the potential participants and relevant actors, who will be interested to participate and be a part of the organisation. The need for branding and adapting to the digitalised world today is a crucial next step, which can require a major revamping and rebranding exercise to take place.

"If we restart Telematics Valley with the right branding and marketing, structuring etc, we can put it on the map. It can become something bigger. We need to do branding, we need to do marketing and we need to surely plan online events" - (Respondent 14)

'Telematics Valley is pretty unofficial. In that way there is quite little noise about Telematics Valley and we do not get into everyone's inbox and we are not necessary for people to think about or to relate to, that's my feeling at least' - (Respondent 1)

'We need to modernize, we need to go through a branding exercise and then we need to go through a marketing campaign exercise' - (Respondent 15)

Respondent 8 stated that their organisation being in the automotive industry in Gothenburg is unaware of Telematics Valley and would be really interested to know more about them.

"I am surprised that we don't know about them, actually. I don't know how to put that in words but they lack marketing skills" - (Respondent 8)

7.5.5 Recruitment Of An Employee

Respondents have shared similar views with regards to hiring an employee dedicated to working for Telematics Valley, who can be actively involved in driving the organisation forward. It was observed through the insights shared by respondents that currently the association is lagging behind in terms of activities and driving of initiatives since the board members are responsible for it in their spare time, which according to them restricts the pace and growth for Telematics Valley today. Since the board members are fully occupied and have limited time and capacity to run the projects for Telematics Valley.

''It would definitely help having someone half time or full time''- (Respondent 7)

"It's a challenge because if there is no one as a full time employee creating value. It's the people doing it in their spare time. I think we need to be more realistic in what's possible and the members need to be active and contribute in creating events and seminars and connections" - (Respondent 5)

"For instance DRIVE Sweden, always had the money and the possibilities to have full time employees and this has made a difference. I mean you look at the score, us not having a full time employee, helping to progress this, the results are obvious, everyone is doing better than us, so it might be something to it" - (Respondent 14)

Another important shared aspect is that the individuals within the association had previously leaned back when there was a full time employee working for Telematics Valley. Respondents 17 and 14 have shared the past experience of how that in the past had created dependency and a lack of passion and enthusiasm from the board member towards the planning of future activities and strategy.

"When there was an employee, a lot of people in the board leaned back"- (Respondent 17)

"I think that if we do it in the right way, it could work. I think what happened last time is that it created a lot of dependency on that one person. I assume that everyone else got a little bit lazy. So that's the flip side"- (Respondent 14)

There was also an indication towards the work that could be assigned to the recruited employee. Respondents 11 and 17 state that it would be more appropriate for the new employee to be working within the operational and administrative tasks. This can be done with the right support and guidance from the board - who will be more dedicated towards the direction, purpose and strategy for the organisation.

"The board should give support and direction rather than do a lot of operational work. It makes a lot of more sense to have a person working and dedicated to this" - (Respondent 17)

"I think it will be good to have someone who will be doing the planning, like an event manager. I don't know if that's a full time job. Or like a consultancy basis, it can be investigated and if we have room in the budget, it would definitely be worth it" - (Respondent 11)

"I think if we employ someone it should be somebody who isn't passionate about the business rather like a project lead or an administrator or something just doing like calling the calls and ordering the catering, shouldn't be the driver of the purpose because that's when people lean back" - (Respondent 17)

7.6 The Potential Future Strategy and Actions of Telematics Valley

As mentioned in the results from the perceived role of Telematics Valley, there has long been a discussion regarding what role the organisations should take. A majority of the respondents had viewpoints regarding what strategy Telematics Valley can develop and what activities they can

indulge in in order to contribute with more benefits for the member organisations. Eight respondents stated that a future strategy for Telematics Valley could be to include other organisations from different industries and two respondents mentioned that Telematics Valley should recruit more members since this provides more revenue.

"I think that Telematics Valley has always been like a small group, it is important to get in people from different industries, because that is the way that you make new projects happen" -(Respondent 11)

"I think that there is a very good use of Telematics Valley in gathering different slightly scattered companies and competences around Gothenburg" - (Respondent 17)

Respondent 1 had ideas about including more people from different departments of the member organisations.

"Perhaps Telematics Valley should engage much more with different departments within our members, for example IP and legal. What we need now is a different layer of interaction with our members" - (Respondent 1)

During the discussion about gaining more members in Telematics Valley, there were some different viewpoints of what type of members Telematics Valley should reach out to. Four members stated that Telematics Valley should not be a big organisation where everybody can become a member. Respondent 15 thought that it could be good that future members have to give an explanation why they want to join Telematics Valley, this could reduce the risk of having unmotivated and inactive members in the organisation.

"One proposal that we had from our team regarding communication, is that the members should present to the board why they want to become members of Telematics Valley. In this way, everyone can present their view and motivate their membership" - (Respondent 15)

Regarding the subject of bringing in new members to Telematics Valley, three Respondents mentioned that it would be good to get in new perspectives from persons other than existing and future members. This could be done through the involvement of younger persons and even students.

"Things are happening so fast, and we need to stay relevant. We need to bring in a younger dimension who has fresh ideas. Telematics Valley could be a bit of a channel for thesis works and bring up students into this space and set up matchmaking. We could make sure that we have a good thesis for them to address or we could have coaches and mentors available. Telematics Valley could also help Chalmers or other universities with relevant input, with what we see as the need or demand in the future and also have a good interaction with the academic perspective" - (Respondent 15) "Telematics Valley needs young people and somebody who is more proficient in the business area, sustainability and so on. So I think that given that the board now consists of mid-aged people and unfortunately this is not a very diverse set of people" - (Respondent 16)

Respondent 12 agrees that it could be a good idea to include students in Telematics Valley, students can even be a part of arranging events and in turn, they can get a chance to be included in the events and get a specific number of 'tickets' to the events. Respondent 12 further says that it is not a good idea to focus the events of Telematics Valley on only students, since this can decrease the participation of the actual member companies.

"We tell the students that they can get 30% attention of our event if they take care of the administration, but we need to steer it. But if you fill the room with too many students just to get more people into the room, the persons that are members in Telematics Valley will feel like "Why am I here today, I need to go back to work" - (Respondent 12)

Furthermore, four Respondents thought that Telematics Valley should start activities like education and training for the member companies. This type of education could be about subjects that concern the industry such as for example technologies and trends.

"Telematics Valley has to put things together to support the companies and try to profile them and educate them in subjects like service-focus, business models, artificial intelligence and cloud computing. Basically the things that are the leading needs to support the industry moving forward" - (Respondent 6)

The survey that was conducted by a couple of members in the board, showed that members are interested in getting training and education from Telematics Valley.

"One of the things that came up in that survey was education and courses, and I think that this is a good idea. I think in general that we lack a series of events that are attractive enough for people to prioritise them" - (Respondent 14)

Regarding the activities that Telematics Valley already is doing, eleven of the Respondents had a positive attitude towards the lunch seminars that used to be arranged before Covid 19.

"Lunch seminars are a good way to connect. People will start buzzing and connecting, sharing ideas, information and getting to know each other" - (Respondent 1)

"I think the lunch seminars are always quite valuable and they are usually pretty well attended. It doesn't cost much and members need to set aside 1 hour for lunch anyways" - (Respondent 6)

Four Respondents thought that round-table discussions should have a bigger part in Telematics Valley. One Respondent stated that what is missing during the Telematics Valley events, is a follow-up on the specific topics that were discussed.

"They should have more round the table dialogues where they invite a few people from the companies to talk about a topic. Like a panel with 5-10 people that sit and discuss with a moderator, and maybe even have an audience" - (Respondent 11)

"I can miss a follow up, having a more formal way of saying: if you want to elaborate and discuss more about this, we will have a workshop about this topic, with somebody that is arranging it. This could deepen the relationship with Telematics Valley and also to get more out of the information and the know-how" - (Respondent 17)

One respondent mentioned that these types of follow-ups were something that Telematics Valley used to do during 2006-2007. But unfortunately there were not enough people that were interested in actually attending these deep-dive sessions/workshops. Another respondent further stated that it could be good to bring this up again in another way. Regarding the specific topics that the respondents would like to see more of during the seminars and events, differ. However, there was a consensus that the topics should be interesting and up to date to what the member companies are currently facing in the industry today.

"They should make sure that the topics are interesting. What could be interesting, that depends of course on how much it is in line with what we focus on or not" - (Respondent 9)

Further ideas of what Telematics Valley can provide to the members is to bring in more inspirational speakers and to give perspectives from different types of industries. Six Respondents wanted to have more subjects regarding innovation and future technologies. Six of the Respondents mentioned that Telematics Valley needs to provide more valuable activities and services for the member companies since an annual meeting and sporadic seminars are something that many other similar organisations do.

"It might be a little bit provocative to say that we are not leveraging enough value by providing seminars on a quarterly basis and having one annual conference, but the thing is that we don't actually do anything spectacular, it's not really leveraging the group of people that we have access to and we could be doing more" - (Respondent 14)

Respondent 6 who used to be a part of Telematics Valley said that during the time this respondent was active, the Telematics Conference was one of the forefront conferences in the world of Telematics.

"We had the ministry of trade and industry who opened it up one year and one year, the CEO of Volvo Cars opened it up. It was very big, it was at Svenska Mässan. Back in those days, I think it created a lot of value" - (Respondent 6)

The respondents that are members of Telematics Valley, explained that each member organisation has one person that acts like an 'ambassador'. Two respondents thought that this type of set-up works well.

"It is very good to have Telematics Valley ambassadors to bring other people to the seminars who can speak about their businesses etc or other interesting fields" - (Respondent 7)

However, one respondent mentioned that the ambassadors probably can do more in order to reach out to more people that can attend events etc.

"Maybe we as ambassadors can help and do a better job in reaching out. I can do a better job regarding how we actually make sure that the different individuals at my organisation know that Telematics Valley exists and help out to market these types of seminars. It would be good to have a mechanism to get a little bit wider out" - (Respondent 11)

Two Respondents mentioned that there is a problem if that ambassador decides to leave the company, then Telematics Valley loses the connection with that specific company.

"Telematics Valley has very little interaction with each organisation that is a member, it's typically one person that is the ambassador for that members organisation of telematics valley. If that person leaves that company, we lose the whole organisation. We need contact points in each member and that could be something very practically addressed by the organisation" -(Respondent 1)

As stated in the empirical results regarding what role the Respondents think that Telematics Valley should play, a majority of all Respondents mentioned that they think Telematics Valley needs to step up and get more well-known and established.

"They need to be forward leaning and start to drive things forward"- (Respondent 15)

"I can see other organisations that are adaptive to digital expressions, becoming more adaptive to the needs of their users/customers. I do not see us in Telematics Valley doing that, and this is one of the things that I am pushing quite hard" - (Respondent 14)

Four respondents mentioned that telematics should start to engage in marketing activities and furthermore, three respondents said that it is important to do market research and perhaps do surveys to really understand what the members want from the organisation.

"Maybe there is a window opportunity to do even more marketing about Telematics Valley now during Covid"- (Respondent 3)

"I have not seen any information about Telematics Valley for a long time. So we will bring this up in the next meeting, some suggestions on how to do marketing and something you should definitely bring up in your work as well" - (Respondent 16)

7.6.1 Strategic Future Role of Telematics Valley

There were some respondents that had additional perspectives of what the role of Telematics Valley can take. Respondent 5 describes that the potential role of Telematics Valley can be to

act as an integrator and business consultant. Respondent 9 states that Telematics Valley could take on more of an advisory and inspirational role for the actors in the industry.

"The role of Telematics Valley could be as an integrator or business consultant that helps companies" - (Respondent 5).

"The role of Telematics Valley could be to take on more of an advisory role in certain areas. Like if you want to get help to facilitate different workshops etc. It could be good for the companies to have some type of a neutral player, a facilitator to arrange different workshops, seminars and to help out with that type of consulting or advisory" - (Respondent 9)

"Gothenburg does have a telematics cluster and there is definitely a cluster effect going on. You need someone that is out there and promoting this type of cluster, and I think that Telematics Valley is on the tipping point of boosting the right environment for this" -(Respondent 2)

Respondent 7 and 16 explains that Telematics Valley could take on a role as a catalyst in order to facilitate collaborative efforts within the industry.

"The role of Telematics Valley could be to be an innovator, but I think the key is to be a catalyst to strengthen the companies in the region by collaboration" - (Respondent 7)

"I think that Telematics valley could be a catalyst of keeping these innovative companies and also merge them into this network" - (Respondent 16)

Respondent 10, who gives a perspective from an international point of view, describes the potential role that Telematics Valley can take is to act like a middle hand who can provide the member organisations with information and help in different areas.

"The role of the clusters is to gather all information and communicate this to the government, so the government can react or adapt to what is happening in the industry. Telematics Valley could identify new subjects which will be interesting in the future and make them see the bigger picture. Telematics Valley could be a structure that will help companies who need the test facility get in contact with a company who has these test facilities. The role of Telematics Valley could be to help them to identify financing, like European funding. Maybe some visibility towards the city, towards the state or even the European Union" - (Respondent 10)

Another role description that Telematics Valley could take in the future was of a 'neutral advisor' when it comes to helping companies with the transformation that is ongoing in the industry. The role of a "thought leader" means that Telematics Valley could help companies with answering relevant questions regarding the industry.

"Telematics Valley could act as a neutral advisor to companies and help companies that are working with telematics to do the right things in the right order. In order to leverage the technology and help them with the transformation in the right way" - (Respondent 3) "Telematics Valley could be like a thought leader in the area because we have a great member base and we have relevant people in the network so that could mean that we can make our voice heard. Perhaps not drive opinions right now, but if there are questions, many questions tend to be EU level for example, maybe Telematics Valley should be a part of answering those types of questions as a relevant partner" - (Respondent 3)

These statements are consistent with what several other respondents said regarding what role Telematics Valley should play in the regional cluster. There seems to be a pattern where several respondents are well familiar with the organisation, but they think that the role of Telematics Valley could be something more than it already is today. Fifteen of the Respondents thought that the role of Telematics Valley could develop to something greater.

"I think that Telematics Valley could be much more than it is today. I think that they have an opportunity to become stronger and become more attractive because they have all the opportunities that the regional provides and all companies are based here" - (Respondent 16)

"Telematics Valley is pretty unofficial, it is not a corporate innovation like Lindholmen Science park, they are not part of the establishment. In that way there is quite little noise about Telematics Valley and they do not get into everyone's inboxes and they are not necessary for people to think about or to relate to, that's my feeling at least" - (Respondent 1)

Two respondents who are in the steering board of Telematics Valley described that a survey was made in order to clarify how the different member organisations perceived the role and value of Telematics Valley. Both respondents stated that the response rate of this survey was low, and that the answers were scattered amongst the survey participants.

"We did a survey which did not receive a lot of answers, maybe 11. Most of them were board members. We can't do much analysis or conclusion of the answers, but it actually showed that we have kind of a scattered view of what Telematics Valley is / or should be. For some people it is a local and nice group in Gothenburg where you share experiences. For some people it is a variant of Silicon Valley with a flavour of telematics that could influence the telematics market" - (Respondent 15)

7.6.2 The Sustainability Perspective

Fourteen respondents mentioned that the area of sustainability should in some way be incorporated within Telematics Valley, either by arranging seminars regarding the subject or to lift how the efforts from the member organisations can contribute to a more sustainable society.

"I think that sustainability is a very important aspect. There are so many sustainability aspects around that it is a guiding star in all our connected transport. So that makes total sense to have the sustainability perspective in an organisation like Telematics Valley" - (Respondent 11)

"I think sustainability is an area that Telematics Valley needs to anchor themselves and to deep dive into how smart cities look like, what is the role of transportation in the urban environment and how can you do this in a sustainable way" - (Respondent 6)

The fourteen respondents that were positive towards including the sustainability perspective in Telematics Valley, had the ideas of using sustainability as a topic for discussion forums. In this way, the member companies could discuss and learn more how they further can add value to this area and help each other with expanding projects. Three respondents had a different view regarding incorporating the area of sustainability into Telematics Valley events.

- "I would say everything we do should be sustainable rather than talk about sustainability. So if Telematics Valley creates an event around electrification of vehicles then we should also explain what kind of impact it would have on the carbon footprint etc. We put sustainability into the topics we don't specifically talk about. That's my view!" - (Respondent 5)
- "I think to just put that focus and just have the focus around the main topics that are discussed. To include sustainability in what you do, no matter what. To show that you care about it and basically knowledge sharing around it" - (Respondent 13)

The opinion of Respondent 5 and 13 is that Telematics Valley should not base events on the topic sustainability, they should rather focus on other main topics that concern the member organisations and always have sustainability included in every topic.

One specific topic that concerns sustainability came up during ten of the interviews. This topic was regarding what Telematics Valley potentially could contribute to the Green City Zone in Gothenburg (a zone where new technology for vehicles and infrastructure are tested with the purpose of achieving a zone with completely emission-free transport). Seven of the Respondents were positive that Telematics Valley potentially could contribute something to this project. The main contribution that can be made according to these Respondents is the network that is already established.

"Telematics Valley can add something in the Green City Zone project. First of all it could be a good source for the different members to expose themselves but also impart innovation and development and so on. There might be members who have been involved before so there might be some learnings and best practices that could be shared" - (Respondent 3)

"What I see is that there are many of the members in Telematics Valley who could contribute to really good collaboration for the Green City Zone. The members in Telematics Valley have a natural network going on, and the persons that are responsible for this project might not have this type of network in Gothenburg" - (Respondent 1)

Respondent 16 thinks that it would be interesting for the members to learn more about what is going on in the Green City project since this could open up opportunities for the organisations.

"To be more involved in the Green City Zone would be fantastic I think. I don't know how but surely to inform the members in Telematics Valley to talk about what will happen in this project and what opportunities there are. That would be interesting to understand" - (Respondent 16)

7.6.3 Strategy During and After Covid 19

Regarding the strategy Telematics Valley can take during the period of Covid 19, the respondents had scattered views. Telematics Valley has not been having any physical events since March (except from one smaller event during the autumn 2020). Seven respondents mentioned that Telematics Valley made an active choice to not transform the lunch seminars and the various events into a digital space, since the common understanding was that this was not going to generate any value to the members.

"Creating fully digital conferences - no! It takes too much energy compared to the value members get out of it and so many companies are trying to do it anyway" - (Respondent 12)

"We have had an active non-digital idea and we do not want to go in the competition with webinars where companies just blast out their whole information globally. There is so much competition for webinars space and interest. We have said that we are not going to try to do that and we don't really have the resources, the know-how or the ambition" - (Respondent 1)

When this study was conducted, it had been over one year since Telematics Valley made the decision to put all seminars and events on hold, until there was a chance to meet physically again. Thirteen of the Respondents mentioned that today, there are a various number of digital events, and that these events do not really generate the same networking benefits that physical events do. However, the benefits that these types of online events give, is that people from all over the world can take their time to join.

"Now during Covid, you have an enormous menu of online seminars which you can attend wherever in the world now. The tradition has been to meet in person and accept the geographical limitations. Today, there are both opportunities and challenges with the situation. We have a completely different reach with the way that we meet, but on the other hand, it is almost impossible to do networking online." - (Respondent 9)

"During Covid, we are interacting with our companies through digital events. It's difficult for people to concentrate on a full online webinar. When you meet in person, you have the chemistry, the vibe that makes the conversation flow better. People are missing the face to face interaction. I do not know how the situation is in Gothenburg, but if Telematics Valley can do a smaller physical event, they should do it"- (Respondent 18)

There seems to be a shared view that all of the Respondents think that it is time for Telematics Valley to take on some type of actions to keep the organisation going. Five respondents think Telematics Valley should arrange a physical event as soon as possible.

"Now I would say that it is all about getting back in people's minds during and after Covid. Create mental presence with people and organisations to not be forgotten... that is one important thing now in the short term" - (Respondent 1)

"As soon as the folkhälsomyndigheten says that it is fine to meet again, I think Telematics Valley should have a planned event and an invitation ready! And they will be the first organisation to open the gate to getting back to proper networking again" - (Respondent 2)

One respondent mentioned that now during Covid 19, Telematics Valley should at least be more active and present on for example LinkedIn and create discussion threads on some type of online platform. Further three respondents like respondent 3, agreed that Telematics Valley should be more active and create digital spaces for discussion now when it is not safe to meet in person. Two of the Respondents argued that online interaction can work if the participants can manage to create trust between each other. Respondent 3 sees that the situation we are in right now, can create opportunities for Telematics Valley to gain more members.

"I think they have a window opportunity to get new members during this period, because in general, executives and people in general have more time since they are not travelling. They are more available, even though it is just half an hour" - (Respondent 3)

Even though there are a majority of the respondents that believe that digital seminars and events are not the right strategy for Telematics Valley, there were four respondents that thought that this could be a good idea. These Respondents however also mentioned that this approach requires effort and resources.

"We need to launch a series of events that are not only physical. As long as we are dependent on events that are only physical, it is like Telematics Valley is not going to do anything until next year" - (Respondent 14)

"If we are more digital now, we need to be able to have those types of platforms, we need to think more about how we should network. how we make the different types of groups meet in better and more modern ways" - (Respondent 11)

"Online seminars are good in the sense that they can reach out much broader. They could do like interview sessions, interviewing their members on certain topics. It could be quite unpolished I guess, but still have good value. I guess it is a matter of being seened I know one company for instance, they run a 25 minute breakfast seminar every Tuesday. Of course that requires quite a bit of effort to do that but it gives a lot of attention" - (Respondent 9)

The conversations regarding a mix-approach, combining both physical and digital events were brought up by seven of the respondents. The respondents mentioned that in terms of the networking aspect, it might be necessary to meet face-to-face. However, Telematics Valley can facilitate the discussions and knowledge sharing through recordings and share these digitally. "Telematics Valley can have events with 25 physical people in a big room and a very nice digital experience at the same time. So we need to choose the right tools for video and audio and mix it with a physical meeting. So turning it around and saying physical is where we drive the meetings but people can listen from their summer houses or one hour between their meetings. I think so hybrid meetings, that's what we should do during Covid" - (Respondent 12)

"I am quite used to working with Teams now. I don't feel very limited, of course you lose a bit of interaction, but at the same time it is quite efficient. So, something to consider is to do a hybrid approach where we combine both physical and digital meetings"- (Respondent 15)

7.7 The Global vs. Regional Perspective

This theme mainly looks into whether Telematics Valley should have a regional or global approach. The identified sub themes within this are: Gothenburg region, open vs. closed community, regional vs. the local approach.

7.7.1 Gothenburg Region

Insights shared by the respondents reveal their shared views regarding the uniqueness of Gothenburg as an intensive cluster within the field of automotive and connectivity. Nine interviewees revealed their perspective of Gothenburg as having a special position and significance when it comes to strong competence and expertise within the automotive sector and connected services. According to them, it surely gives the region a distinct advantage and appeal worldwide. These respondents from Gothenburg and other international regions have collectively recognised the importance and special competence of the Gothenburg region, which can shape the future of the automotive industry and connected industries.

"There is a strong presence of people with industry expertise in the industry in the region. There are no other places in the world where the industry is so close and has this type of unique positioning. Gothenburg has the best opportunities of bringing the companies closer and is very well known in the transport industry." - (Respondent 16)

"Gothenburg is the frontrunner of automotive within AI, self-driving, security, safety in cars etc- and those things are captured within Telematics Valley in a very good way" -(Respondent 17)

"I also think that if you look at Gothenburg, there is a lot of competence within for example autonomous driving and electrification and connected services which is the future for the automotive industry" - (Respondent 5)

The respondents are therefore sure of the cluster effect going on in the region and agree on the further exploitation of the potential of the region to make it even stronger. Respondent 12 shared the view of how Telematics Valley can further strengthen the region by taking down the barriers and facilitating in the knowledge flows, if the region gets stronger the nation gets the benefit from it as well.

"What does it mean for the region? It means that we take down barriers and information flows, between Swedish companies and German competitors. But again, if it makes the region stronger, the whole nation gets an advantage compared to the rest of the world and I think that is very important we need to dare to think like that a bit'' - (Respondent 12)

Several respondents thought that the role and networks that Telematics Valley has in the region of Gothenburg is unique and there are not many other similar organisations that offer the same benefits. Three respondents stated that there is no real direct copy of Telematics Valley and connectivity is still very hot.

"I don't think that there are a lot of similar associations like Telematics Valley around the world. There are a lot of conferences about connected services, but not many networks -(Respondent 3)

One of the Respondents mentioned that there are not many arenas like Telematics Valley, however there are many other ways to network within the industry.

"An organisation like Telematics Valle is very valuable, there are not so many arenas for that. There are also a lot of interesting companies in the region. Gothenburg has a kind of heavy focus on the automotive industry and from that perspective, the type of networking within the region is very valuable. There are many ways to network within the industry, Telematics Valley is one, but there are others as well" - (Respondent 2)

Respondent 6, which comes outside the region of Gothenburg, describes that there are several other organisations that are involved in the telematics industry today, and that the role of Telematics Valley could face challenges since there are many other companies that engage in the same thing today.

"I think that one of the issues that would face an organisation like Telematics Valley today, is that 20 years ago, the industry was not mainstream. Today the industry is mainstream. You have 100 companies that are fully engaged in this industry now". (Respondent 6)

7.7.2 Open vs. Closed Community

Outlook regarding Telematics Valley being closed as a community with a heavy regional focus has also been observed in the data. Four respondents have shared their perspective and concern on how and why it can be difficult to come in and fit into the community of Telematics Valley - if you are from an international background. Since the association is heavily focused on the regional professionals and actors within the field, it tends to form an informal and a close knitted group of individuals.

"It's a small community, they know each other very well there. So it is hard to come outside if you are only there once per year. You should be there perhaps 10 times per year in order to

really get into the community'' - (Respondent 4)

"I think the response has been so and so, it's very difficult to come into these types of communities by just being there once. But if you do it 2-3 times, then you start to notice and know people around you and this is when you can pick up the phone and start to connect with them" - (Respondent 5)

On the other side, there are also views on Telematics Valley to continue being a closed community of individuals within the relevant fields. Respondent 15 confirms the view that the content shared and discussed within the community can be sensitive and exclusive and thus should not be open and accessible by anyone - suggesting closed memberships for the platform as a solution.

"I really think that we should safe-guard what we share and make this a closed community, everything should not be open. I really see that we have some sort of closed memberships where within that can have some really good content to share, exclusive content" -(Respondent 15)

7.7.3 Regional Approach

According to the empirical findings, there is considerable discussion regarding whether the association needs to be exclusively regional or whether it should have a global approach. There are differences in opinion observed amongst the respondents, there is also a certain degree of ambiguity regarding the subject as well that have been noted. For instance, respondent 11 believes that there needs to be a wider outreach however also accepts that Telematics Valley has always been a strong local network with a regional approach. The respondent also indicates that there has been a struggle to reach a unanimous decision on this topic.

"Telematics Valley has always been a small, local thing. But it's needed that we start to think about a little bit wider outreach. We have been struggling with this discussion in the board, do we want to be global? How do we compete with all the other global discussion forums? Or is it actually a Gothenburg industry cooperating thing that is the most appropriate approach? If we are talking like it is a local networking thing for the local industry, then it should be in the local domain, in the local area or the region I mean'' - (Respondent 11)

Eight respondents share similar views on having a very local and regional approach. Their response is mainly derived from the question of what value going international will bring to the regional hub and the member organisations as a whole. Respondent 13 has also pointed out the purpose of the association being diluted in case it adopts a more global approach.

''I'm to the far right, which means very conservative in this case. Sure, I see the world is very global and I am following the global time schedule myself in my work, but as a global organisation I don't see why it could be us. So I am very much into Nordic/Regional approach'' - (Respondent 12)

"An international approach is really not our scope. We believe in it as a local hub. We have had very little progress, use or kind of value found in international connected events in a way" - (Respondent 1)

"I think it would be good for them to remain regional, because they would leverage on a regional network, people being local and making really good connections. If they become international, I have difficulty seeing the main purpose for it since I can see that the network can become diluted. I have seen this with other organisation, they go global and they have 150 partners and nobody really knows each other but everybody is a part of it" - (Respondent 13)

7.7.4 Global Approach

There are eleven respondents who believe in the strong global presence for Telematics Valley. The reasons highlighted are mainly because the industry and the markets for automotive, connectivity and mobility are international and thus many believe that the members specifically will lose out if they are not connected with global actors and players within the field.

"My spontaneous thought is that if it is not looked at from a global perspective, you are going to lose out because nobody in this industry is going to survive if they only have a regional outlook" - (Respondent 6)

It is reiterated by respondent 17 that this issue has been under spotlight and discussion in the annual meetings of Telematics Valley, stressing on the fact that the nature of the business is certainly global and thus having a focused regional outlook will not be beneficial. Respondents 3 and 10 also share the same perspective on the approach towards going international.

"We have discussed this many times, almost every annual meeting. I think that it would be good to be open to the global approach and I think that it is an absolute necessity since the nature of the business is truly global" - (Respondent 17)

"I think that you can do a lot with a global presence. Globalization is something that Telematics Valley is missing. It could be a bit challenging if we start to go a bit local and everyone is working global, we are cutting ourselves of with this dimension" - (Respondent 3)

"I don't really agree with just a regional approach because the market is not only in Gothenburg. if you stay only in your small region there is not a lot of perspectives I think especially for the companies because all of the players are now international, or at least the markets are international" - (Respondent 10)

In addition, respondent 14 shared the view and vision to make Gothenburg as a connectivity hub for players and actors within the field, from all over the world. It was stated that Telematics Valley can assist in this and play a role to bring professionals within related fields to Gothenburg annually and according to the respondent this will truly benefit the region and put Sweden on the map. Similar view has been observed by respondent 16, who believes that regional strength can be exploited further by inviting people from all around the world to visit the local hub for interesting exchange of ideas and knowledge.

"Telematics Valley can create a platform for international professional connectivity people, give them a reason to come to Sweden once a year which is both good for Sweden and Gothenburg. Telematic Valley is the key to the evolution of Sweden, as a connected nation, but also for the Gothenburg cluster. My vision for Telematics Valley is that it should be the one event in Sweden that everyone around the world pins in their calendars every year. Sweden does not have an event like that so there is no reason for an international connectivity professional to come to Sweden" - (Respondent 14)

"This is a way of positioning, but also to open up for the world. I agree that we do not need to be active with events abroad, it is good to have our base in Gothenburg. I think the strength is not only local, you can also invite people from other parts of the world because then you get an interesting mixture of knowledge" - (Respondent 16)

It was also highlighted by respondent 7 further that the ambition and inclination for the regional and the local perspective varies depending on the size of the member companies. With larger companies having a distinct preference than the small to mid-sized companies.

"I think the role of Telematics Valley is perceived differently from the smaller and the bigger member companies. Bigger companies want to expand Telematic Valley and do something big, go abroad and collaborate with a lot of other bigger organisations. For them, it is not that important to have a regional or national perspective. But for smaller companies like us, there is big value to having this as a more local network, but value for the big companies is maybe something else" - (Respondent 7)

8. Analysis

This section will present the analysis of the empirical data. In order to answer the research question regarding the 'crucial success factors' for Telematics Valley, the analysis is based on the highlighted success factors from the theoretical framework by Klofsten et al. (2015). The themes and sub-themes from the empirical results are thereafter divided into each factor, based on relevance. To answer the sub-research question regarding the actions Telematics Valley should undertake to enhance the regional growth and development, each success factor is analysed and based on the adapted theoretical framework of Berzina & Garanti (2013) and the prior literature within the area.

As stated, the derived themes and sub-themes from the empirical results were divided into the five success factors by Klofsten et al. (2015), based on relevance. This was done to better understand each factor and how it correlates with the collected empirical data. In order to answer the sub-research question, the collected data was analysed from the view of the adapted framework that aims to show how a cluster initiative's success factors can contribute towards regional growth and development.

Success Factors	Main themes & sub-themes corresponding with the success factors
Idea	Defining the mission & vision, Value offering
Driving Force & Commitment	Recruitment of an employee, Openness & Trust within networks
Critical Mass	The importance of networks, Open vs. closed community, Knowledge exchange
Activities	Potential activities, content and arrangements, The sustainability perspective Strategy and action during and post Covid 19, Collaboration between actors in related industries
Organisation	The Role of Telematics Valley, Revamping Telematics Valley, Name change, Gothenburg region, The regional vs. global approach.

 Table 3: 'Main themes & sub-themes corresponding with the success factors' (Compiled by the authors)
8.1 Idea

Defining The Mission & Vision

Klofsten et al. (2015) stress on the importance of a well-defined and visualised idea for a successful cluster initiative. This assists in the identification of the specific need that the cluster initiative fulfils. It also aids in the development of appropriate activities that ought to be planned for the members, since an important purpose of cluster initiatives is to facilitate activities for its members (Laur et al., 2012). It was observed that the majority of the respondents have stressed on the importance of a clear idea for the cluster initiative as well. This resulted in derivation of the theme regarding a well formulated mission and vision for Telematics Valley. This was noted to be a dominant theme amongst the interviewees which corresponds with one of the stated success factors for cluster initiatives by Klofsten et al. (2015).

The collected empirical data shows that currently Telematics Valley lacks having a clear purpose and vision for itself. Therefore for the organisation to move forward and thrive, it needs to have a clearly stated vision and mission statement. This will assist it in driving its activities and projects forward and also define the need that the organisation wants to fulfil for its member organisations and for the regional industry in general. It is crucial for a cluster initiative to identify the needs of the actors within the cluster and facilitate and support these needs, as highlighted by Sölvell et al. (2003). It will also further ensure that everyone within the board of the organisation works towards a defined purpose, which will help to enhance the efficiency of the organisation. According to Klofsten et al. (2015) several studies have stressed on the importance of a viable idea as a keystone for a cluster initiative's success. The fact that Telematics Valley has not yet specifically stated a strategic mission and vision for the organisation, leaves room for ambiguity on how the organisation wants to drive its processes and activities further. This was reflected in the expressed views of the respondents, that it needs to be the necessary first step for the organisation. A vision statement will determine the future state and the necessary strategic decisions that cluster initiatives need to take in the future. It will also communicate the purpose to the members of the organisation and other relevant stakeholders, influencing them to together achieve that purpose.

The authors interpret that there are many questions which need to be addressed and resolved by the board of the organisation. Telematics Valley has lately remained on a stagnant path and therefore to prepare the organisation for its future endeavours requires setting a specific goal that it wants to achieve and setting a vision and a purpose for its existence. Many facets were discussed with the respondents regarding the ambiguity of whether the aim for the cluster initiative is to expand internationally, whether it is to attract more members and whether the expansion needs to be diverse - attracting more start-ups and international organisations within the association. All of these distinct questions, according to the authors, are directly linked to a properly set aim and vision for the organisation and if that is well formulated then Telematics Valley can set off in a defined direction, leaving less ambiguity and question marks for the organisation. Therefore it can be argued that a clear vision and mission is an important action crucial success factor for Telematics Valley in order to become a successful cluster initiative. If the cluster initiatives function effectively then it can lead to favourable conditions like establishment of new businesses and business growth, which are the key factors needed for creating a favourable environment for the development of a region (Berzina & Garanti, 2013; Stimson et al., 2006). Moreover, a viable and defined idea for the cluster initiative will attract more actors within the telematics and connectivity sector to the region. This is crucial since the role of cluster initiatives is to act as a bridge that connects different actors in the industry and facilitate them to share, communicate and collaborate. This in turn can create a strong cluster and Ketels (2003) argues that regional clusters act as essential driving forces for development in a region. Thus, boosting innovation and the overall cluster competitiveness, which in turn brings about regional growth (Howells, 2006; Berzina & Garanti, 2013).

Defining the Value Offering

Another aspect within having a 'clear idea' for Telematics Valley is for it to determine and clarify the value offering for its members. This element is not covered by the suggested framework by Klofsten et al. (2015), however, the collected empirical data greatly suggests an ambivalence amongst the respondents regarding the specific value and niche of Telematics Valley. A viable idea can be a success factor for a cluster initiative because it can then show how the cluster initiative generates benefits for the members and also further attract more members by offering them value and a sense of community (Klofsten et al., 2015). Therefore, having a clear value proposition and offering is essential for Telematics Valley. It will enable the organisation to connect with the right target audiences and gain suitable members and actors involved in the association. This is also highlighted by Klofsten et al. (2015) that a clear idea aids in the identification of the right target group and understanding the members specific needs.

It is evident through the empirical results that the members associate certain elements to be highly valuable for them. These elements broadly include: *stong network and connectedness, knowledge exchange, exposure to their customer groups etc.* Many respondents recognise these benefits as the key values that are derived and generated by Telematics Valley. The respondents expressed their views that being part of a specialised network enhances knowledge exchange and sharing of relevant ideas, which in turn leads to collaboration and innovation.

However, there is another perspective by the respondents which denotes that there exists a need for a formal value proposition and offering to be defined and identified. One of the respondents pointed out that having an identified value offering is essential to form future partnerships and to work with potential collaboration arenas in the future. The collaboration platforms need to recognise the exact value that Telematics Valley brings to the table and how it matches with their current offering. A potential collaboration arena for Telematics Valley has highlighted that in order to collaborate with Telematics Valley in the future, they need to understand what the value is that Telematics Valley offer, since that will assist them to understand the organisation's niche and make it easier to decipher if a future collaboration is desirable or feasible. Therefore, the current empirical results suggest a gap, which could be looked into further.

Hence, defining the value offering is another element within the factor 'Idea' that needs to be addressed by Telematics Valley to effectively function as a cluster initiative. The authors also deduce that framing of a value proposition could also assist the organisation to specifically carve down its unique value offering for its members. However, framing of the value proposition is a long process that perhaps Telematics Valley needs to invest time and energy into. The authors believe that a defined value offering and niche will enhance the chances of Telematics Valley to establish collaborative partnerships with relevant arenas and organisations within the region. This would thus bring about regional interaction, networking and innovation. Moreover, Fritsch (2008) also argues that the direct outcome of regional growth is larger market shares, and the indirect effect of it is increased innovation and productivity in the region. Porter (2003) and Puga (2009) also assert that productivity, competitiveness and innovation capacity can stimulate opportunities in the region. A viable idea and a well framed value offering, will thus stimulate the cluster initiative's performance and its innovation capacity which would eventually lead towards the cluster gaining more competitive advantages which could promote the region as a favourable environment for actors in the industry which could lead to regional growth (Berzina & Garanti, 2013).

8.2 Driving Force and Commitment

This factor is about the involvement of key individuals with the right motivation and enthusiasm who can facilitate the activities and networking for the cluster initiative. Klofsten et al. (2015) suggests that in the absence of committed and motivated individuals it is difficult for a cluster to successfully progress and grow. It is further stated that there needs to be the existence of a core group of individuals who are like driving actors and support the strategies and goals for the cluster.

Openness & Trust In A network

Klofsten et al. (2015) have asserted that for a cluster initiative to develop, it needs to have committed members and also have an environment of trust and openness among those involved. This has also been collectively addressed by the respondents, who perceive trust and openness to be important elements that are crucial for Telematics Valley to succeed. The empirical data suggests that respondents attach great value for the environment offered by Telematics Valley to reflect positivity and trustworthiness. Since it is a platform that connects various organisations and professionals, who share ideas and exclusive information, it is crucial for the trust factor to be present and the individuals to feel secure in sharing insights and information.

Majority of the respondents attribute positive energy and an open atmosphere to be the key factors for the success of Telematics Valley. It has been expressed that a positive ambience and energy leads to effective engagement which thus boosts collaboration and innovative thinking. It can also be argued that an open environment and trust within the organisation can be attained through involving individuals and members in the organisation who are truly driven and passionate about the purpose and the goals for Telematics Valley. This has also been confirmed through the respondents' views who think it is the non-profit purpose that acts as a catalyst and

creates the right energy for the organisation. Currently, it is solely the passion of the board members which is the driver for Telematics Valley, and this is an element which the respondents want to sustain. Moreover, it was also mentioned that trust and openness is what makes networking achievable and valuable and is what leads to successful generation of new ideas which is necessary to boost innovation and progress in the cluster.

Recruitment Of An Employee

Recruitment of an employee for Telematics Valley was a recurrent theme in the empirical data. The authors perceive it to sync with this factor, since its crux as highlighted by Klofsten et al. (2015) is to have key individuals who are dedicated to the cluster initiative and can actively work towards driving its activities forward. The respondents in general have conveyed that there could be a potential recruitment for an employee working for Telematics Valley, half time or full time. The employment could be on a set contract for a 6 or 12 month period. It was collectively expressed that what the organisation currently lacks is the presence of a driven individual who is wholly dedicated in facilitating its operations and the planning of different activities and events.

It was also observed through the shared insights that Telematics Valley is currently lagging behind and has remained on a stagnant path. This is because it is only the board members who are responsible for driving its processes forward in their free time. This directly impacts the pace and progress of various initiatives and activities for the organisation, since the board members have limited time and availability to run the projects and actively advance Telematics Valley. Therefore, many respondents are in the favour of recruiting an employee who can speed up the processes. In case there is enough funds and budget available for the recruitment, the respondents believe it could be the ideal scenario to have someone committed towards handling the administration for the association.

However, it was also found in the collected data that when Telematics Valley had employed a full time individual, the rest of the board members had leaned back and reclined a little. This not only created over-reliance on that one employee but it also created a lack of passion and motivation amongst the board members, which according to the respondents was not a positive outcome. In addition, it was also highlighted by the respondents that when a unanimous decision was made to not have a hired employee, that is when the energy and enthusiasm in the association was ignited again. This denotes that in order to keep the spark and the energy alive within the organisation, it is preferred that the board remains in control and in charge of the future strategy and plan of action. Klofsten et al. (2015) also highlight the importance of the presence of a core group for the cluster initiative, which allows for some independent action. It is also further stated that the core individuals should work to channel and take advantage of the energy and the passion of the core group so that the future goals of the cluster can be fulfilled.

Furthermore, it was stated by the respondents that it would be appropriate for the hired employee to specifically work within the operational and administrative tasks for Telematics Valley. The respondents believe that the board members should still remain responsible for setting the strategy, purpose and strategic direction for the organisation. However, they should not be involved in the operational work and just provide necessary guidance and support to the

employee - who can carry out the administrative tasks. Klofsten et al. (2015) also pointed out the importance of finding the right balance between freedom of action for the core individuals and some degree of control. By still being involved as the key decision makers for Telematics Valley, the core group of individuals will not lose focus or enthusiasm and as they will have the power and will be key driving factors for Telematics Valley. Klofsten et al. (2015) also state that much of a firm's ability or inability can be analysed by evaluating its core group and the driving actors.

The authors are in agreement with the respondents' views that if Telematics Valley aims to achieve progress, then it requires an employee to run its operations. This employment could be for a shorter period of time to support Telematics Valley with the necessary development of the organisation needed. It is surely essential for Telematics Valley to remain competent in the regional landscape and at par with other organisations. Since as mentioned by the respondents, other organisations like DRIVE Sweden are doing much better and progressing fast. Since Klofsten et al. (2015) states that the employee and the core group need to work unitedly for smooth cluster initiative management and this is how the cluster overall can become competitive and flourish as well. The authors therefore believe that the key individuals who are dedicated to the cluster initiative can actively work towards driving its activities forward and thus enhancing cluster competitiveness in the region.

8.3 Critical Mass

Klofsten et al. (2015) state that in order for a cluster initiative to flourish there needs to be involvement of the members. The membership size should be large enough to make up critical mass, both with regards to the amount and also diversity. Klofsten et al. (2015) also assert that committed members are crucial for cluster development. This essentially denotes that Telematics Valley needs the involvement of a decent and adequate number of members, who are also diverse, for it to function effectively. It is also highlighted that the number of members, valuable exchange and networking aspects are all vital factors that reinforce the cluster initiative.

The Importance Of Networks

The members involved in Telematics Valley make up a specialised network, connecting professionals within the field for valuable exchange of ideas. It has been repeatedly expressed by the respondents that the network function is immensely valuable for them. It was stressed that the member organisations and the individuals involved in the association constitute a unique network of competences and expertise, bringing together all the experts within the field of telematics and connectivity together. Therefore, the more Telematics Valley will expand and attract more members, the stronger the network aspect will be.

Inkinen & Suorsa (2010) have highlighted the role of cluster initiatives is to act like a networking organisation. Many respondents' views correspond to this, as they have underlined that the network element to be the most valuable. Since it has enabled them to build contacts, where people with relevant expertise and skills work together on solving problems and build alliances. Furthermore, some of the respondents have also claimed that the Telematics Valley network has

enabled them to build informal connections within the industry, where they can connect anytime on a short notice to work together on ideas and problems. The authors thus believe that increasing the membership base for Telematics Valley will further enhance and strengthen the network ties, connecting and bringing more professionals together through the platform. However, Klofsten et al. (2015) argue that increasing the membership size can on one side increase the intensity and ability of what the cluster initiative does but it can also dilute the connection and contact with each member, limiting the member exchange. Therefore the authors want to highlight the importance of only involving relevant members that can positively contribute to the organisation, and not aim for just increasing the membership base, solely to gain a larger mass in the organisation.

The network function is at the core of all benefits that the cluster initiative offers. The cluster needs valuable interactions and exchange between relevant actors to take place, for it to become competitive. This creates a favourable environment in the region, enhances business opportunities, where people in the industry have strong ties with one another and can potentially collaborate and work together, leading towards innovation and regional development (Chapman, 2009; Berzina & Garanti, 2013; Porter, 2000).

Open Vs. Closed Community

Beyond a certain number of members, the type of members involved also holds importance. Klofsten et al. (2015) have highlighted that the lack of diversity will limit the opportunities for valuable exchange and therefore it is essential to have diverse members in the cluster initiative. Diversity is highly important for a cluster initiative to function effectively and consequently for a cluster to grow and , requiring a constant influx of people from varying backgrounds, knowledge and experiences (Klofsten et al., 2015).

Currently, Telematics Valley is considered to be a closed community of people with a regional focus. Some respondents express that it is therefore difficult to come and gel in the organisation, if you are from an international background or if you are new to the association. The shared perspective of the respondents suggests that there is a lack of diversity in terms of international and non-regional players and members in the community, since the focus is densely on regional professionals and experts within the field, which tends to form an informal closed group of members. However, the question of whether Telematics Valley should be an open or closed community varies, where some respondents expressed their desire to see more individuals with diverse and international backgrounds. While some argued for a closed community, implying that the content and knowledge discussed and shared is sensitive and therefore should not be open and available for all. The author believes that Telematics Valley could pursue the action of keeping a closed community where trust is created within the membership base. However, it seems to be of value that Telematics Valley should open up more for external actors in terms of events since a diverse variety of actors invigorates more valuable exchange to occur through which is crucial for achieving success in a cluster.

Many respondents also mentioned that there is a need for Telematics Valley to include more members, also more diverse members, both from actors in the industry and also from other connected industries. There were also discussions about including more people from different departments (for example legal and IP) from the member organisations. There was also discussion about the type of members Telematics Valley should reach out to and how to make sure that these members actually can contribute to the organisation. There seemed to be a shared view that Telematics Valley should not be an organisation which has the aim of just recruiting new members for the sake of it. One example of how to avoid those organisations becoming members without the right motivation was to ask future members to motivate why they want to be members, and then a decision can be made from the board.

The respondents have specifically mentioned involving academia and engaging more students and a younger dimension in the organisation. By doing this, Telematics Valley could diversify the influx of knowledge and experiences into the organisation and can exploit a more fresh and modern approach. The input from academia, for example Chalmers University and Gothenburg University in the region, can enable them to understand future needs and demands for the association. This also corresponds with the Triple Helix model, which implies that regional development occurs through the interaction and close collaboration of three key actors: *firms, universities and society* (Klofsten et al., 2015). Thus, it can be argued that having 'critical mass' is essential, since the membership size and diversity reinforces the cluster initiative, strengthening and expanding the network. Klofsten et al. (2015) state that variety in a network is crucial for achieving success in a cluster. Therefore, a strong network invigorates more valuable exchange to occur through which the cluster can achieve competitive advantages, which in turn creates development in the region (Berzina & Garanti, 2013).

Knowledge Exchange

The authors consider knowledge exchange to sync well with the factor 'critical mass', because many respondents have shared that the result of interacting and networking with people from diverse backgrounds and perspectives, leads to exchange of great ideas and knowledge, which thus boosts innovation. According to the respondents, inspiration and sharing of ideas is what essentially leads to an organisation's innovation capacity and competitiveness. There have been discussions about how the association has enabled the members to learn and gain more knowledge about certain innovative technologies and innovations within the area of connectivity. Learning about new trends, disruptive technologies, the market and the industry in general, are all results of knowledge exchange that is enabled through the specialised network of Telematics Valley. The authors are also in agreement that the primary outcome of networking and having a community of professionals is the ability to exploit each other's knowledge and gain more insights from one another. This exchange between members is realizable since the members of Telematics Valley belong to different types of organisations with different expertise. Through the interaction between firms and organisations, different types of information and knowledge can be gained and exchanged, as also highlighted by Edquist (1997). The critical mass of cluster initiatives ensures that there is valuable exchange and interaction taking place amongst the members and they are able to solve problems jointly. Krugman (1991) stated that clusters

facilitate the process of organisation's knowledge and sharing and gaining, which could improve the competitiveness of the region (Lin et al., 2006). This is one of the reasons why clusters are seen as the drivers of regional innovation.

The role of a cluster initiative is to act as a bridge between different actors. It connects them and acts as a facilitator to spread capability, knowledge and to fill in the gaps needed (De Silva et al. 2017; Smedlund, 2006; Howells, 2006). This corresponds with the respondents' views who see Telematics Valley as their crucial source of gaining knowledge through the offered network and connections within the industry. The exchange of knowledge and ideas boosts the innovation capacity of the involved organisations which in turn creates a favourable environment for both the members and the other actors involved.

8.4 Activities

Kettles & Memedovic (2008) and Laur et al. (2012) argue that cluster initiatives should facilitate and develop services and activities for the actors in the cluster. This corresponds to what Klofsten et al. (2015) state in the theoretical framework, that there should be planned activities that make it beneficial to be a part of the cluster initiative for the members.

The element regarding the activities of networks corresponds with what both the respondents and the literature stated. Klofsten et al. (2015) argue that the activities of promoting networking and the creation of relationships is crucial for the cluster initiative. Porter (2000) and a majority of the authors who are specialised in cluster literature, argue that the networks and the 'nodes' between the different actors in the cluster are considered to have a strong positive impact on both the firm level and on the regional level. This in turn creates competitiveness in the cluster (Berzina & Garanti, 2013). Since the majority of the respondents perceived the role of Telematics Valley as a facilitator for networks and connectedness in the industry, this success factor seems to be the foundation of the organisation. However, even though the respondents are pleased with the networking activities such as lunch seminars that Telematics Valley arranges, the respondents had additional thoughts on planned activities that Telematics Valley could indulge in order to make the cluster initiative more successful.

Another element that Klofsten et al. (2015) describes as important in the factor 'activities' is the presence of entrepreneurs, who are also labelled as 'champions'. These entrepreneurs impact and act as mentors and role models for young entrepreneurs in the region. However, in the empirical data, there were no discussions regarding the presence of entrepreneurs. Neither was this mentioned in the literature review of this study. Since Klofsten et al. (2015) stress on the importance of having an entrepreneurial spirit and culture in the cluster initiative and also state that entrepreneurial individuals need to participate and be involved in the cluster initiative. Therefore, the entrepreneurial aspect has the potential to be further looked into and investigated.

Potential activities, content and arrangements

Klofsten et al. (2015) also mention that there are several elements in the success factor

'activities', that could enhance the attractiveness of the activities. One of them is how well the activities are adapted to the firm and its degree of maturity. The observation was made from the empirical data that there has been poor attendance during the last Telematics Valley events. The reason for this, according to respondents, is that the topics discussed during these events could be more suitable for the specific member organisations. The authors therefore observe that there seems to be a need for activities in Telematics Valley that are more appealing and valuable for the members.

The specific topics that the respondents would like to see more of during the seminars and events differ. However, there was a consensus that the topics should be interesting and up to date and in accordance with what the member companies are currently facing in the industry. Many of the respondents wanted to have more subjects regarding innovation and future technologies. A sub-theme regarding the activities including the aspect of sustainability was derived from the empirical results. Fourteen respondents stated that sustainability should somehow be incorporated within Telematics Valleys activities. Some respondents believed that sustainability should not be separately focused on in the events but should naturally be a part of what they do and focus on. However, there were also a few respondents who see value in sustainability topics to be focused on as separate subjects during the events and seminars. The authors believe that it is more of value to incorporate the area of sustainability in all main subjects of the seminars, rather than focusing on having sustainability as a main subject on events.

Round-table discussions was another activity that the respondents suggested. This type of activity could also involve audience participation. One respondent expressed the need of having an activity of follow-ups on certain topics that are discussed in the seminars and events. The ideas of what activities Telematics Valley can provide the members with, was to bring in more inspirational speakers and to give perspectives from different types of industries. As mentioned in the analysis section 'critical mass', some respondents mentioned the activities of involving students and a youngster dimension in the organisation. Activities that could potentially be done from this perspective, is to involve the students in the events and even let them be responsible for the administrative parts. This could also potentially increase the participation of the actual member companies.

The authors believe that it is of great value for Telematics Valley to listen to their members' needs in terms of the subjects that should be involved in the offered activities. Since Klofsten et al. (2005) argues that this could enhance the attractiveness of the activities. *Training and Education*

One of the key activities that Klofsten et al. (2015) distinguished was training and education programmes in the cluster initiative. Currently Telematics Valley does not offer any types of training or education. However, four respondents expressed the need and willingness to participate in educational and training programs. One of these respondents mentioned that Telematics Valley could support the companies and educate them in subjects like service-focus, business models, artificial intelligence (AI) and cloud computing, since subjects like these are important for the industry to further develop.

According to Tödtling & Tripp (2005) and Cook et al. (2007), the RIS approach requires the regional authorities to provide infrastructure for education and R&D, for example science parks and innovation centres. Cook et al. (2007) states that the various key players within a RIS can be complemented by intermediaries that connect the 'links' between the firms within the region. Since Telematics Valley could be considered as an intermediary, the question is if it is up to the cluster initiative to arrange training and education activities or if this is something that should be offered through regional authorities and institutions. Telematics Valley is currently a smaller non-profit organisation which does not have the resources or finance to support their members with advanced educational programmes, the authors therefore suggest that Telematics Valley can act to connect the links between members and actors who offer training and educational programmes, for example test facilities.

Moreover, Foster et al. (2015) argue that cluster initiatives should have specific knowledge, competences and skills within their area of field. This is something that the authors assume that all members in Telematics Valley have since they to a great extent are involved in the industry. This could potentially mean that the actors in the cluster initiative could arrange their own educational activities within their specific area of expertise and share this with the other members.

Activities based on the skills and services available in the region

The main idea of a cluster is to have geographical closeness and that all actors in the cluster benefit from each other. The cluster initiative should work to facilitate the interactions between these various actors and this could also mean to arrange activities that are beneficial for different perspectives. Since Klofsten et al. (2015) state that the activities arranged by the cluster initiative needs to be based on the skills and services which are already available in the region and specifically have been developed for the cluster, an observation was made that Telematics Valley could arrange activities which are connected to already existing projects arranged by the region of Gothenburg. One example of this is engaging in the Green City Zone Project. The main contribution that Telematics Valley could give to this project is the unique network that the members have according to the respondents. Further, by being involved in this arranged activity members could get more involved in the RIS and the cluster of Gothenburg which could lead to more connections, learning and business opportunities for the members. This could in turn also benefit the Green City Zone Project, which means that the region can gain more competitive advantage since more actors who are working on the same goal can enhance the development of the industry.

Activities during and after Covid 19

Due to the fact that Telematics Valley has not arranged any activities during the last year because of Covid 19, several respondents had opinions regarding how the organisation can plan future activities based on the current situation. A majority of the respondents mentioned that online interaction does not provide enough value as physical meetings. Seven respondents stated that this is why Telematics Valley made an active choice to not have online interactions during Covid

19. Four respondents were pro digital interaction and events and seven participants were pro a hybrid approach between online and physical interaction. No matter what type of approach the respondents were for or against in this question, a majority of all respondents shared the view that Telematics Valley should plan an activity or do some type of action as soon as possible - whether it is physical or online. The reason for this is that the organisation needs to get into people's minds and show other external actors that they exist. The authors agree that it is crucial for the organisation to make up an action plan promptly since this might possibly determine the future development of Telematics Valley.

Independent of how the situation in the world evolves in the future, Telematics Valley could choose between three options how they would like to arrange their activities: only through physical interaction, only digital interaction or a combination of these two. Depending on the approach that Telematics Valley chooses in this specific question, the authors want to underline the importance of remaining active throughout the process. If an online approach is being considered within the period of 1-3 years, then the importance lies in finding a suitable digital platform for discussion and setting up action plans for the content and structure of digital events and seminars. Also, if the online approach is chosen, then it could potentially be a good idea to set time aside and start planning for upcoming physical events that could stimulate the development and attractiveness of the organisation. If a physical approach is chosen, then the importance lies in reaching out to members and planning relevant physical activities that the members will benefit from.

Collaboration

The most mentioned activity from the respondents was to gather and include various organisations in related industries in the Telematics Valley events. A majority of the respondents also believe that Telematics Valley should focus on encouraging collaboration with other organisations and actors in the regional industry since collaboration is considered to be better than competition. The respondents stated that through collaboration, the actors in the industry will become more connected with each other. Through this, the creation of a strong and attractive environment can develop. This type of environment can make people travel from all over the world just to come to these events which will create attraction to the region. Lin et al. (2006) state that this type of activity could lead to a competitive environment in the cluster since the effects of this could be higher productivity and efficiency of the actors. Porter (2000) states that an organisation's ability to innovate is greatly dependent on the collaborative ties and cooperation between the actors in a cluster. These collaborative ties have a strong positive impact on both the firm and the regional level, which creates cluster competitiveness. Ketels & Memedovic (2008); Howells (2006); De Silva et al. (2017); Smedlund (2006) and Inkinen & Suorsa (2010) support the arranging of activities that facilitate the interaction and collaboration between the members in the cluster. This leads to competitiveness in a cluster which in turn provides a favourable environment for business growth, survival and the establishment of new enterprises, which then could lead to regional growth and development (Berzina & Garanti, 2013). Therefore the encouragement of collaboration in the cluster is beneficial for both individual actors and the region in whole.

One type of collaboration that would benefit the relationship between the actors in the industry according to the respondents, is to join forces and have joint events and conferences with other similar organisations in the region. Joining forces and splitting the workload is a basic way to help each other to promote each other's events through the different networks. The respondents also shared their thoughts regarding the potential collaboration arenas Telematics Valley can work with in the future. Examples of organisations that were mentioned as potential collaboration partners were MobilityXlab, DRIVE Sweden, Fordonskomponentsgruppen, Connect West, GREAT, Lindholmen Science Park and DRIVE Tel Aviv. However, as stated in the value offering section of the analysis, to be able to achieve this type of activity involving collaborations with other similar organisations, there needs to be some sort of a win-win situation for both partners to make the decision to collaborate.

Klofsten et al. (2015) argue that the activities that a cluster initiative arranges, should complement and not compete with the existing activities which are being offered in the cluster. Nonetheless, many of the respondents were clear that all different organisations mentioned filled a gap in the cluster. For example MobilityXlab is focused on the start-up scene and Connect West is about venture capital. Even though there are similar organisations in the region, several respondents believed that Telematics Valley as an organisation is unique and there are not many similar organisations that offer the same benefits. Collaboration with other similar platforms potentially means that Telematics Valley can find the gap of the activities they should arrange which are not already offered by other platforms. This is why it is necessary to have a defined niche and a unique value offering of Telematics Valley.

Through collaboration with other similar platforms, the actors in the cluster can become stronger together. The reason for this is that the different collaboration platforms mentioned by the respondents, have different focus areas and they all strive for the same agenda: to learn more, develop and find business opportunities. This means that the actors in the same industry can take advantage of each other's expertise which could further develop the regional industry. One respondent mentioned that when pushing for collaboration and by arranging shared events with other organisations and actors, there are risks that innovation will be picked up by someone. But regardless, if these types of activities are done between regional or national actors in the region, it could mean that these companies can be stronger together and gain competitive advantages compared to other international actors. According to Asheim & Coenen, (2005) regional growth and development is achieved through that. organisations join forces and innovate together.

There were also discussions regarding having more collaboration with actors in other industries that focus on connectivity. This is because the value chain of telematics is complex and many different players need to be involved. As stated in the empirical background section, the Gothenburg region has a strong automotive cluster, but also many companies that operate within the areas of life sciences, IT, program development, technology and telecommunications. Since many of the actors within these industries are working for mobility solutions and data transfer, a more varied type of industries could be something of value for collaboration with the actors in Telematics Valley.

8.5 Organisation

The factor 'organisation' according to Klofsten et al. (2015), is essential for a cluster initiative's success, since it refers to the activities of coordinating and developing the organisation. This success factor also includes how the cluster initiative needs to manage relations which is important for its development and further growth. The author's standpoint is to organise and plan strategies and make decisions regarding what the organisation stands for in order to establish what valuable activities and relationships the members need. To be able to achieve this success factor, the authors want to highlight the significance of stating the mission, vision (as stated in 'idea') and the desired role for Telematics Valley. Since it is the basic ground for smooth functioning of the organisation.

The future potential role of Telematics Valley

The current perceived role of Telematics Valley by the respondents is that of a facilitator for networks in the regional industry and an enabler of knowledge sharing between the member organisations. However, the data results also showed that the respondents had a desire for the organisation to evolve into something else and become more established and more appealing for the region. It is evident that the members would like Telematics Valley to take on a bigger role in the regional cluster than just facilitating networks (even though the current role is something that the respondents perceive as very valuable). Examples of what kind of role Telematics Valley could take according to the different respondents are: *integrator, thought leader, advisory, catalyst, inspirational role, influencing role.* The desired future role of Telematics Valley differs somewhat from the various respondents, however the content was rather similar since the terms used to describe the future role of Telematics Valley was to act as an intermediary that inspires and supports the members with different links.

The role that a cluster initiative should play in a regional cluster is to facilitate the interaction between the members in the cluster (De Silva et al., 2017); Howells, 2006); Ketels & Memedovic, 2008; Smedlund, 2006). As stated above, the respondents perceive that this is something that Telematics Valley currently does. However, what must be taken into consideration is that the respondents perceive that the interaction that is facilitated by Telematics Valley is exclusively within the group of actors that are members of the cluster initiative. In other words 'enterprises from the industry' as described by Berzina & Garanti (2013). What Ketels & Memedovic (2008) and Smedlund (2006) mean by facilitating the interaction between the members in the cluster, applies to all actors that exist in the cluster. Apart from enterprises from the industry, Berzina & Garanti (2013) describe the other actors in a cluster as governmental institutions, education and other institutions, enterprises from the industry and related companies. It could then be necessary for Telematics Valley to become a successful cluster initiative, to act as a facilitator of interaction between all members of the cluster.

Providing links to Regional authorities / Public sector

The success factor 'organisation' by Klofsten et al. (2015) refers to the cluster initiatives'

management of relations essential for its development and further growth and the establishment of links with outside actors like financiers and policy actors. Inkinen & Suorsa (2010) stated that a cluster initiative should work to communicate opportunities and regional development activities to businesses and the public sector. Porter (1998; 2000) argues that all institutions such as education, research, financial, governmental and other institutions are crucial for a cluster's development since they can support enterprises with support regarding financing, innovation and knowledge transfer among other benefits. Therefore, it might be valuable for Telematics Valley to start to connect the member organisations with outside actors like policy actors just as Klofsten et al. (2015) states that a cluster initiative has to do for achieving the success factor 'organisation'.

Currently, Telematics Valley does not support the actors in the cluster with these types of links and support. However from the perspective of striving towards contributing to regional growth and development, this might be something for Telematics Valley to provide to the members. There were a few respondents that mentioned that Telematics Valley might need more interaction with for example governmental bodies, traffic agencies and municipalities. The reason for this is that the respondents wanted to get more understanding and help regarding systems of innovation and become a part of the automotive environment in Sweden since both the city and the transport authority are responsible for the road infrastructure for smart vehicles. One of these respondents gave the perspective from an international cluster initiative and mentioned that the role of an organisation like Telematics Valley is to gather all information and communicate this to the government, so the government can react or adapt to what is happening in the industry. The respondent further means that the role of a cluster initiative means to identify financing, as for example European funding and gain visibility towards the region, the nation and even the European Union. If Telematics Valley succeeds in providing a supportive environment for business development, it could contribute to regional development according to Pachura (2010) and Stimson et al. (2006).

Some respondents thought that Telematics Valley should offer connections with for example Business Region Gothenburg since they could help the members to understand what position they have in the region and how they could achieve more competitive advantages. Since Business Region Gothenburg represents the city of Gothenburg, more interaction with this initiative could potentially be a first step. The members could express their specific needs and bring this up with the board who then takes the discussion further with Business Region Gothenburg. If the members are in need of funding opportunities, other types of requests that concern connections with other cluster organisations, governmental authorities or other municipalities, this can plausibly be communicated to Business Region Gothenburg which has expertise in many fields.

Telematics Valley is a non-profit organisation and currently the only revenue comes from the membership fee. Regarding governmental funding for Telematics Valley, only a few respondents believed that funds from the state were necessary for the development of the organisation. The respondents highlighted that the lack of funds is one of the reasons why Telematics Valley is not as established as for example DRIVE Sweden. However, many respondents expressed the opinion that they did not think that Telematics Valley should be as 'wide and open' as DRIVE Sweden. The question is therefore whether Telematics Valley should strive for funding

opportunities in order to expand. Telematics Valley can find funding opportunities that are suitable for the organisation's purpose, this could benefit the organisation since the funding can be used for arranging interesting activities and projects for the members. This in turn can lead to that the attractiveness of the organisation increases which means that the cluster initiative can become more competitive. Berzina & Garanti (2013). The authors believe that governmental funding could be beneficial for the organisation since it could enhance its capabilities to smoothly run events and administrational tasks that are necessary for the cluster initiative management. It is also essential to further strengthen the cluster and invest in the organisation, by hiring an employee who can work to run the operations for Telematics Valley.

Revampment of the organisation

A majority of the respondents highlighted the need of redesigning and modernizing Telematics Valley to make it more in sync with the current needs of the members. By reconstructing the organisation, Telematics Valley can develop their ability to manage the relations which are essential for its development and further growth, just as Klofsten et al. (2015) highlights in the success factor 'organisation' in the framework. When the organisation has achieved common grounds and expectations from the members, then the prioritisation needs to be to coordinate activities and manage essential relationships that will develop the organisation further. The discussions regarding to 'lift' the organisation, creating a '2.0' version of Telematics Valley and to be more forward oriented was recurrent during the interviews.

One respondent mentioned that Telematics Valley could be considered more as a 'coffee corner' where people from the industry meet and have informal dialogue and according to the authors, this is not how Telematics Valley wants to be considered as an organisation. Most of the respondents had suggestions about how Telematics Valley could change this pattern and develop further as an organisation. Firstly, one thing was to get more attendees and participants of the organised events and seminars and to make the organisation more appealing and valuable for the existing members. Klofsten et al. (2015) stated that the activities and programmes carried out should be developed to suit the needs and desires of the members. Since the authors made an observation regarding that the attendance of the events that Telematics Valley used to arrange could be higher, it could be an idea to a greater extent, involve the 'ambassadors' of each member company more and offer them solutions of how they should reach out to more relevant people that can attend the events. The discussion about the concerns regarding the scenario of 'losing' an ambassador also came up. Therefore, Telematics Valley should potentially arrange a structure where the organisation has contact points in each member or potentially organize a structure hand-over between the past ambassadors and the new ones.

Moreover, the discussions regarding the creation of active marketing and communication plans were identified by the authors as a gap in the organisation today. There were three respondents that did not even know that the organisation existed or if they still were active. The authors regard this as a significant sign that urgent efforts need to be made when it comes to the marketing and branding of the organisation and also to plan for how the organisation can adapt to the trends and technologies and develop interesting and current subjects that will attract both the member organisations and external actors. In order for Telematics Valley to understand what activities and subjects that are relevant for the members (which also could lead to the comprehension of what strategy to take in the organisation), two respondents mention the importance of indulging in market research and conducting surveys for the members. The authors believe that by revamping the organisation, could potentially lead to a more favourable environment in the region since this can produce more attraction from the perspective of both involved and external actors. Furthermore, the authors believe that the time to revamp and restructure Telematics Valley is now. As this is the time for potential growth with new technologies and innovation emerging. This is the time where organisations within the cluster can benefit such a cluster initiative.

Name of the organisation

Several respondents mentioned that it could be suitable for Telematics Valley to change the name of the organisation. The reason for this is that the term Telematics can be considered to be oldfashioned and the terms Mobility, IoT and Connectivity are more frequently used today. Many of the respondents mentioned that the terms 'connectivity' or 'mobility' should be included in the name instead. Since a majority of the respondents do not use the term telematics in combination with that several of the respondents highlighted the importance of implementing the '2.0 version' of the organisation, a name change might be something of positive value according to the authors. The reason for this is that the authors interpret the organisational perspective that Klofsten et al. (2015) highlighted as a key factor of a cluster initiatives success, is the ability to establish and manage an organisation. According to the authors, there is a need to first establish a solid foundation to create a well-functioning organisation. Since there has been a stagnation of the activities and development of Telematics Valley during the last years (and additionally one year of basically no interaction or activities at all due to Covid 19), there could now potentially be a window opportunity to make a new start for the organisation. A name change could potentially lead to an increasing interest from external actors, future members and existing members. The authors think that even a small thing as a name change, could play a big role since the name of an organisation can communicate the core and purpose they want to be associated with. If Telematics Valley wants to characterize itself as an organisation that keeps up with the trends, the newest technology and connecting actors in the industry, they might need to consider having a name that communicates this.

The Regional vs. Global Approach

During the interviews, a theme regarding what type of geographical approach Telematics Valley should have to benefit the members and the region to the utmost was observed. Several respondents mentioned that they think that the regional cluster in Gothenburg has unique benefits for companies that work with connected solutions and products. According to some respondents, the region can benefit from a cluster initiative like Telematics Valley through that the organisation can bring down the barriers and facilitate knowledge flows which gives competitive advantages that in turn can benefit the whole nation as well. However the question that Telematics Valley currently is struggling with, is whether they should focus on keeping the

network on a regional level or if they should broaden the perspective to gain more competitive advantages in the cluster. There were shared views from the respondents whether Telematic Valley should solely have a regional approach or if the organisation should expand and go for a more international approach. There seemed to be a high degree of ambiguity and uncertainty regarding the subject.

Eleven respondents believe that there is a need to reach wider out in the world, (however these eleven respondents also accept that Telematics Valley has always been a strong local network with a regional approach). The reason why the respondents think that an international approach is more suitable is because of that the industry and the markets for automotive, connectivity and mobility are international and thus many believe that the members specifically will lose out if they are not connected with global actors and players within the field. Eight respondents were positive that a strong regional approach gives the best advantages.. The reason why the respondents believe in a local approach is because it facilitates organisations to leverage high quality of the regional network which contributes to good connections between the actions that are established in the region. The main reason why the respondents were against an international approach was that the network could get diluted and that the purpose of the organisation is not to have a large and broad membership base, it is rather the opposite. Two respondents mentioned the Nordic approach and three respondents mentioned the benefits of having a national approach. The national approach could be beneficial since Sweden is a small country and it is better to have collaboration than competition between for example Stockholm and Gothenburg. One respondent even thought that Stockholm based companies should be a part of Telematics Valley.

Doloreux & Parto (2005) argue that specialization, proximity, and cooperation are the most common factors within clusters, which leads to alliance, spill-overs and innovation in the regional innovation system. Further, Porter (1998); Krugman (1991); Lin et al. (2006) and Künzel et al. (2016) state that the geographical proximity of organisations facilitates the process of knowledge gaining and sharing of specialized skills and knowledge which lead to a competitive environment since the effects of this could be higher productivity and efficiency. This in turn, can enhance the region's innovation capacity and the development of the cluster Berzina & Garanti (2013). Since the literature states the benefits of the organisations being geographically close to each other, this is something that should be taken into consideration when making a decision of what type of organisation Telematics Valley should be and what approach they should take.

However, even though Telematics Valley decides to continue to remain the prioritisation of a local network, this does not exclude the strategy of broadening the network further than the boundaries of the region or nation. Two interesting statements were made from two different respondents according to the authors. These statements concerned the approach of remaining regional but to strive for making the region of Gothenburg as a connectivity hub for players and actors within the field, from all over the world. The authors believe by having this approach, Telematics Valley can assist the regional actors and also play a role of bringing both regional and international professionals within related fields to Gothenburg for example, at an annual conference which would put both the region and the nation on the map. The regional growth and

development can therefore be exploited further by inviting people from all around the world to visit this local hub for interesting exchange of ideas and knowledge. This can create a favourable environment as Berzina & Garanti (2013) states. The latter mentioned approach is to both find a way of positioning in a local sense, but also to open up for the world. It does not mean that Telematics Valley should have events abroad. It rather means that the organisation should have its base in Gothenburg, focusing on the local network but during the same time act as a role model for other similar international cluster initiatives, and welcome other international actors to Gothenburg once a year and make it become the main event in Europe that people in the industry wants and needs to attend. However, the authors want to underline the importance of first establishing a well-functioning regional network and continue to focus on the involvement of members in the region. Telematics Valley should prioritise taking actions and taking an approach which could make the cluster more competitive, which would then could contribute towards regional growth and development (Berzina & Garanti, 2013).

9. Discussion

In this section the authors critically discuss the key findings of the study in a conclusive manner. The discussion aims to show how the key findings fit with the existing body of knowledge about the specific area.

To answer the main research question, the authors have analysed the framework by Klofsten et al. (2015) which highlights the key factors that a cluster initiative needs in order to be successful. These factors are: *Idea, Driving forces & commitment, Critical mass, Activities and Organisation.* The themes derived from the collected empirical results were all well-suited into the five success factors highlighted by Klofsten et al. (2015), which has been discussed in detail in the analysis section. The themes and the sub themes divided into the five success factors can be visualised in *figure 6* below:



Figure 6: 'Themes and the sub themes divided into the five success factors' (Compiled by the authors)

The obtained themes from the empirical data corresponded well with the stated factors in the success factors framework. The authors believe that the perspectives shared by the respondents in combination with the literature background, reiterate the importance of the success elements highlighted and framed by Klofsten et al. (2015). It puts together the results of this research in a coherent and cohesive manner, and effectively answers the research question(s).

The authors can argue that the five factors *(Idea, Driving force & Commitment, Critical Mass, Activities and Organisation)* are essential for Telematics Valley to become successful. However, they are currently absent from the organisation. Therefore, Telematics Valley needs a plan and execution of certain actions to effectively realize these factors, which will positively impact the cluster initiative's success. The derived themes wholly reflect the actions that Telematics Valley can potentially undertake, to not only reinforce the cluster but also enhance regional growth.

To answer the sub-research question, the authors investigated and analysed the framework 'regional cluster effect on regional growth and development' by Berzina & Garanti (2013). Further, the five factors outlined by Klofsten et al. (2015) and the corresponding themes within them, together aid in answering the research questions regarding the critical success factors and the actions needed by Telematics Valley. The actions needed by Telematics Valley to both achieve the five stated success factors and thus enhance regional growth and development are:

A well formulated *idea* is a crucial success factor for Telematics Valley. This implies the need for management actions regarding the development of a proper *mission and vision* statement and a strategic action plan in close coordination with the board and the involved members. This will be a process where the right target group and the precise need fulfilled by the cluster initiative will be identified, discussed and translated into specific goals and actions. The result will be the strategic planning to realise the mission and vision, properly illustrating what the cluster initiative wants to achieve from a long term perspective. Furthermore, defining the *value offering* for Telematics Valley is essential, which calls for action for the core group of the organisation to work towards defining the specific niche and value the cluster initiative provides for its members. Defining the value offering will also open up opportunities for Telematics Valley to collaborate with potential partners and establish alliances.

Driving forces and commitment is critical for Telematics Valley since it focuses on the involvement of motivated and driven individuals for the cluster initiative. These individuals are the ones to plan and drive the processes and the activities forward for the organisation. A potential action is the *recruitment of an employee* (either for a short or long period) since it is of great importance to develop a human resource plan for Telematics Valley. The management needs to take action regarding the possibility of hiring a driven and committed employee based on competency, who assists to drive the operations and handle the administration for Telematics Valley. However, it was made clear that the control of strategic direction and purpose for the organisation remains with the core group of the cluster initiative. The core group must stay in power to drive the overall organisation and retain their passion by being in charge. The administrative tasks can however be delegated. Moreover, *openness and trust* and the action of creating a positive ambience and feeling of trust is needed to be ensured in Telematics Valley. This can be attained through involving only truly dedicated and genuine members within the association. So that valuable member exchange can occur, which can lead to collaboration and increased innovation.

For gaining Critical mass in Telematics Valley, there is a need to take the action of enhancing and strengthening network ties, connecting and bringing more professionals with unique competences and expertise together, to facilitate valuable knowledge exchange. This means that the action needed is to involve a decent and adequate number of members who all are diverse in terms of backgrounds, knowledge and experiences, for the cluster initiative to function effectively and create competitive advantages for the member organisations. The involvement of actors within the specific industry, other connected industries, people from various departments from the member organisations and further, involving academia and engaging more students in the critical mass is therefore important. However, this action requires that Telematics Valley carefully chooses the membership base, since the aim is not to achieve an increasing membership size, as that could potentially dilute the intensity and connections between the members. In terms of the open and closed approach, Telematics Valley should focus on both approaches. The closed approach should be applied on keeping the membership base unique and tightly knit, where there is trust. The open approach should be applied in terms of letting external actors (non-members) into events and networking activities. However, non-members should not be invited to the yearly meeting and get the same benefits as the paying members. The inclusion of external members

should be done on a regular basis in terms of broadening the network and business opportunities for the members. The reason for this is that it is of value to have a diverse variety of people which invigorates more valuable exchange, which is crucial for achieving success in a cluster.

Activities are crucial for a cluster initiative to offer for its members. These offered activities should be appealing and valuable that make it beneficial to be a part of the cluster initiative for the members and which promotes the networks in the cluster. This means that the content and arrangement of the seminars and events should be interesting and up to date and in accordance with what the member companies are currently facing in the industry, for example innovation, future technologies and the incorporation of sustainability in the main subjects. Further actions are to join forces and have joint events and conferences with other similar organisations in the region. Moreover, Telematics Valley should offer the activities of providing education and training should be included, this can be done both through connecting links between members and actors who offer training and educational programmes and arrange activities where the members educate each other in their specific area of expertise. Additionally, the actions of encouraging *collaboration* with other organisations and actors in the regional industry is important since the value chain of telematics is complex and many different players need to be involved. Engagement in the Green City Zone Project could also be a valuable action. Regarding the actions during and post Covid 19, the future activities should be offered by using a hybrid approach, where the network activities happen physically and the knowledge exchange, discussions and education potentially can be done through a digital platform. The only missing element in the collected data was the incorporation of entrepreneurial activities and the spirit of entrepreneurship within Telematics Valley. Telematics Valley therefore needs to consider involving entrepreneurs for its different activities and events. Fostering entrepreneurship is an important aspect that has been highlighted by Klofsten et al. (2015), stating its significance for a cluster intuitive success. However, this aspect is missing in the collected data and the shared views of the respondents.

The organisational factor is essential for a cluster initiative's success. Telematics Valley therefore needs to have a defined organisational structure, outlining the specific roles and responsibilities - for better coordination of tasks. Telematics Valley needs to take on the actions of investigating the expectations from the members and then prioritise a *revampment* of the organisation in order to coordinate activities and manage essential relationships that will develop the organisation further. The authors want to reiterate that the time for revamping Telematics Valley is now. As the rise in 'connectivity' and 'mobility' makes this a good time for this cluster initiative to develop and reinforce the cluster. In terms of taking on the action of reconstructing Telematics Valley, a name change which is more up to date and appealing from an external perspective, which potentially includes the terms connectivity or mobility is of value. In terms of revamping Telematics Valley, the actions that are essential are the creation of a structure of how hand-overs between the past ambassadors and the new ones should be established. Telematics Valley further needs to construct a structure regarding how the ambassadors should work for reaching out to relevant people that can attend the events. Other important actions are the creation of active marketing, branding, communication plans, market research and the conduction of surveys for the members. The role that Telematics Valley should play in the

regional cluster is the role of a facilitator of links between the member companies and the other actors in the cluster, such as governmental authorities, traffic agencies and the municipality, and not only facilitating networks between the members. This role can be simplified through more interaction with Business Region Gothenburg that represents the city of Gothenburg and which has expertise and connections in many fields. The stated future role therefore emphasizes the *geographical approach* of remaining regional since the proximity of organisations facilitates the process of knowledge gaining and sharing of specialized skills. However, taking on this approach does not exclude the approach of opening up for international actors. The actions that can be made is to make the region of Gothenburg as a connectivity hub for players and actors within the field, from all over the world.

By incorporating the five success factors stated by Klofsten et al. (2015) and undertaking the relevant actions to achieve them, Telematics Valley can reinforce itself as a successful cluster initiative. By becoming a successful cluster initiative, Telematics Valley can enhance the growth and development of the region since these actions can make the **regional cluster more competitive.** The reconstructing of Telematics Valley together with a well-defined niche and with a varied and unique membership base, motivated members can connect in an open atmosphere. This could open up doors for potential partnerships and alliances, boosting interaction, strengthening of networks and knowledge exchange between actors in the industry. By opening up for external actors, offering relevant activities and by taking the role as a facilitator of network links between the member organisations and the various actors in the cluster, Telematics Valley can enhance knowledge exchange and innovation capacity. This can thus lead to the regional cluster competitiveness which in turn contributes to a **favourable environment for business growth, survival and establishment of new enterprises** which then leads to **regional growth and development** as Berzina and Garanti (2013) states.

Furthermore, the purpose of the study was also to propose practical recommendations to Telematics Valley. These recommendations are based on the collected insights and the overall results of the thorough investigation of the research subject. The following section will thus focus on the detailed description of the recommendations.

10. Practical Recommendations

In this section, several potential recommendations are provided through the four actions framework. These recommendations aim to communicate what Telematics Valley should create, raise, reduce and eliminate in order to achieve the five different success factors and what actions the organisation should take in the future to enhance the regional growth and development in Gothenburg.

The recommendations provided in this section are based on the analysis which was derived from the empirical results and the collective insights. The authors are here presenting their proposal and perspective as to what needs to be considered by Telematics Valley in order to become successful and reinforce the regional industry. The recommendations are based on the actions that Telematics Valley needs to *create, raise, reduce and eliminate,* to become a successful cluster initiative. These recommendations are divided into the five success factors (*idea, driving force and commitment, critical mass, activities and organisation*) individually.

CREATE	RAISE	REDUCE	ELIMINATE
 A mission & vision statement to be able to translate the vision and mission into actions and objectives. Define a niche and a unique value offering. An overall future strategy and a functional action plan. A way of finding the specific needs that Telematics Valley fulfils for its members and the industry in general in order to find the current gap, which is not being offered by other cluster organisations within connectivity and mobility. Cluster benchmarking and analysis of the strengths and weaknesses of the cluster. An unanimous decision and outlook from the board since this is required to take the organisation to the next stage. An effective internal communications system for better integration and achievement of goals, keeping all the stakeholders and members aligned. 	 The pace and work regarding defining the idea of Telematics. This is a crucial area, which needs to be addressed post-haste, if Telematics Valley wants to continue its existence and swiftly progress in the future. That the board members of the organisation works towards a defined purpose, which will help to enhance the efficiency of the organisation. The question of involving students in the development of a value proposition. This will enable the organisation to find a better fit in terms of the potential collaborative partners and members. 	 Ambiguity in terms of the purpose and goal of the organisation. The varying and distinctive opinions amongst the board members regarding the approach and strategic future goal of Telematics Valley through internal communication. 	 The former view and vision of just being a networking platform needs to be altered. Telematics Valley has the potential to accomplish and implement more. The stagnant path of not investigating the purpose for the organisation's existence.

Idea

Driving Force & Commitment

CREATE	RAISE	REDUCE	ELIMINATE
 Human resource development plan - hiring a driven employee to run the operations for Telematics Valley (for a period of 6-12 months). This employment could be half or full time. A well-planned organisational structure - specifying roles, decision making and responsibilities. The awareness that the board members are in control of setting the strategy, purpose and direction for the organisation, not the hired employee. The right balance between freedom of action and control for the core individuals. A welcoming atmosphere with positive energy for walueble avalance to occur. 	 Currently it is the passion that drives Telematics Valley forward, therefore this passion needs to be raised and sustained in the future. A motivating and positive environment which excites people to be a part of this platform. This involves finding the key factors which boosts the energy and the enthusiasm of the involved individuals. Stimulation of operations and speeding up of processes within the acception 	• The risks of putting too much pressure on the board members to drive the development progress themselves in their free time by collectively making an action plan which clearly describes who is responsible for what.	• The possibility of board members leaning back if an employee is hired through ensuring well-defined roles and responsibilities.
 An analysis regarding which kind of companies would benefit from being members (energy, IT) to make this a strong cluster. 	within the organisation.		

Critical Mass

CREATE	RAISE	REDUCE	ELIMINATE
 Membership base A critical mass in terms of size and diversity, by including members from not only the telematics industry, but also from other connected industries. The assurance that members have diverse expertise and experiences in order to create valuable knowledge exchange and networking. A structure of asking for motivation from future members regarding why they want to be members, and make a decision in the board, in order to just include members who are aligned with Telematics Valley. <i>External links</i> A more open approach where external actors can be involved in events and networking activities. External links and partnerships outside the cluster initiative, involving in the triple helix model. This means engaging actors from academia, related firms and the society in general. Involvement of students and adding a younger dimension in the organisation in order to exploit a more fresh and modern approach. 	 The attraction for Telematics Valley and gain more members to strengthen the network ties through integration and creation of interpersonal links and social networks which will lead to a feeling of a close-knit community and a unique membership base where there is trust. The question of including more people from different departments (for example legal and IP) from the member organisations. The knowledge exchange regarding new trends, disruptive technologies, the market and the industry in general between the members through a diverse and established network. 	• The image that Telematics Valley is a closed organisation which does not include external actors that are not established in the region, by opening up towards more external interactions on events.	 The idea of expanding the membership size drastically, since that could potentially lead to dilution of the connections and exchange. The risk of not including a diverse set of members since a cluster initiative needs people from varying backgrounds, knowledge and experiences.

Activities

CREATE	RAISE	REDUCE	ELIMINATE
 Action plans regarding internal activities and events. Educational activities of connecting the members to other actors in the cluster and the RIS. Collaboration with actors in other industries that focus on connectivity and with similar organisations. Arrangements where members can volunteer to hold a 60 minute educational seminar within their specific area of expertise. The engagement of students in activities who can help to arrange events and handle the administrative parts. A hybrid approach where the networking activities happen physically and the educational activities and discussions occasionally occur digitally. A suitable digital platform where the members can create discussion threads and have discussion forums online. The prioritisation of arranging any type of activity very soon, whether it is physical or digital to get back into people's minds. The engagement of entrepreneurial spirits through incorporating entrepreneurs and entrepreneurship based activities. 	 The attractiveness of the offered activities that are more up to date and more suitable for the members. Incorporating sustainability in the main topics of the seminars and events. Activities to stimulate development of innovation projects and cooperation, improving innovative capabilities of cluster members. The arrangement of interactive activities such as round-table discussions, discussion forums, deep-dive events in a particular subject and adding more inspirational speakers to the activities. 	 The idea of collaborating with larger similar organisations like DRIVE Sweden and larger international cluster organisations. The false perception that innovation can be picked up by someone through regional collaborative activities, if these types of activities are made together with trustworthy actors in the region or nation, it still gives competitive advantages compared to other international actors 	 The hesitance to engage in online activities via digital platforms. The idea to have the sustainability perspective as the main topic in seminars and events, it should rather be incorporated in other main subjects and activities. The risks of students getting too much involvement in the events so that the members lose interest and motivation.

Organisation

CREATE	RAISE	REDUCE	ELIMINATE
 The role of acting as a bridge and providing links to all actors in the regional cluster such as regional authorities, traffic agencies and municipalities, various institutions and related companies in the industry. A strong regional base in Gothenburg, promoting Telematics Valley as a connectivity hub for players and actors within the field. Openness towards international networks and bringing international professionals within Gothenburg at an annual conference which would put both the region and the nation on the map. A reconstruction of the organisation enhancing the visibility and recognition in the region through concrete marketing and communication plans and branding. Market research and exploration of market trends and development potential and opportunities. Conduction of surveys for the members for relevant topics and events. A structure where the organisation has contact points in each member and a structured hand-over between the past ambassadors and the new ones. Engagement of students in the reconstruction process of Telematics Valley. A more modern name for Telematics Valley which includes the terms 'connectivity' or 'mobility'. The investigation of potential funds for Telematics Valley. 	 The facilitation of networks between the members and within regional network through relevant events and thereby strengthening the organisation's position in the region. The attractiveness of the organisation for international organisations and cluster initiatives to travel to Gothenburg to take advantage of the Telematics Valley network by arranging a well- known annual conference. The attendance of relevant actors on the events by developing a structure regarding how the ambassadors should work for reaching out to relevant people that can attend the events. The competitive advantages of being established in Gothenburg though specialization, proximity, and cooperation. The interaction with Business Region Gothenburg which represents the city of Gothenburg. 	The pressure of that Telematics Valley should be as established as organisations that are initiated by the government.	 Current name of the organisation. The old patterns of being perceived as a "coffee corner". The idea of recruiting international members. The ambiguity of having a regional or international approach.

11. Conclusion

In the following section, the authors finalize the research by concluding the main findings. Firstly, the results are connected back to the aim and research questions of the study followed by the answering of the stated research questions. The contributions of the study and future research proposal are also highlighted.

The purpose of this study was to investigate and identify the crucial success factors needed by the cluster initiative Telematics Valley and what actions it needs to be undertaken to contribute towards regional growth and development.

Connecting back to the main research question for the study, which was stated as:

- What are the crucial factors for Telematics Valley in order to become a successful cluster initiative?

The themes derived from the collected empirical results were all well-suited into the five success factors highlighted by Klofsten et al. (2015). The critical success factors that Telematics Valley needs to entail are summarised as follows:

- 1. A well-defined and visualised **idea** that assists in identifying the purpose and the exact needs ought to be fulfilled by the cluster initiative.
- 2. The presence of **driving forces & commitment** from the individuals involved who drive the processes forward and who embody the right eagerness, enthusiasm and vigour.
- 3. The creation of a **critical mass** which denotes a sufficient number of membership base and also a diverse set of skills, background and knowledge.
- 4. Relevant planned **activities** which makes it beneficial for the members to be a part of the cluster initiative.
- 5. Skilful and organised ways of coordinating and developing the organisation.

The sub-research question was stated as:

- What potential actions should Telematics Valley undertake to enhance regional growth and development?

The derived themes wholly reflect the actions that Telematics Valley can potentially undertake, to not only reinforce the cluster but also enhance regional growth. By incorporating the five success factors stated by Klofsten et al. (2015) and undertaking the relevant actions to achieve them, Telematics Valley can reinforce itself as a successful cluster initiative. Thus, together aids in answering the research questions regarding the critical success factors and the actions needed by Telematics Valley.



Figure 7: 'Conclusion overview' (Compiled by the authors)

To conclude, the authors can say that all the derived themes and sub themes fitted well into the framework and the factors by Klofsten et al. (2015) Therefore, the authors believe that together we think that the identified factors and actions have aided us to effectively answer the research questions for the study. The results of this study supports a better understanding of what specific factors make cluster initiatives successful and what actions are needed in order to realise these factors, so that in turn regional competence can be enhanced.

The authors deduce that the success of a cluster initiative is a multifaceted process and entails multiple factors. This study aimed to identify the crucial factors needed for Telematics Valley. It involved taking into account distinct shared perspectives and insights, exploring it through the lens of the interviewed respondents. The authors can argue that achieving cluster initiative success is complex and requires multilateral coordination and elements to be taken into account. The result of this study supports a better understanding of what specific factors make cluster initiatives successful and what actions need to be undertaken to realise these factors. Moreover, the results also highlight the success factors and the required actions as important strategic tools for regional development and growth. It is thus evident that cluster initiatives can in fact contribute towards reinforcement of regional competence. The outcomes of the study, enables one to holistically view the entire system within which Telematics Valley exists and then how the right success factors and actions taken can consequently lead towards cluster competitiveness, which in turn boosts regional development.

11.1 Contribution Of The Study

The contribution of the study can be separated into academic contribution and practical contribution.

Academic Contribution

The main contribution of this study is a deeper understanding of the success factors that can make cluster initiatives successful, across all industries and geographical locations. It gives insights into the actions which are required to attain those factors and how that leads to regional growth and development. Moreover, since there is a shortage of research related to cluster initiative success management, this research provides an academic contribution within the subject.

However, the authors argue that there is still room for further research on this subject, which is touched upon in the future research proposal (Section 11.2).

Furthermore, the study validates the success factors framework by Klofsten et al., (2015) and how that fits well with the framework of Berzina & Garanti (2013) regarding how clusters contribute to regional development. The study thus illustrates how regional growth and development can be achieved by having a successful cluster initiative. The adapted framework created by the authors contributes towards giving a holistic view of how a cluster initiative works within the RIS and a cluster and how that directly impacts the region's progress. Therefore, the authors believe there is scientific value in how these theories complement and support each other, and provide a better understanding of the success factors and actions that a cluster initiative needs.

Practical Contribution

This study has generated an in-depth understanding of the crucial success factors needed by Telematics Valley and the actions it needs to take to enhance regional development. This has enabled the authors to observe and conclude some practical recommendations for the cluster initiative. These recommendations form the practical contribution for the study, highlighting and stressing on the potential actions which are important for Telematics Valley to take in the near future in order to facilitate for the organisations in the regional cluster. The recommendations are based on the insights and data collected during the interview process and also through the overall investigation carried out by the researchers. These recommendations will be accounted for in detail and can be found in section 10.

11.2 Future Research Proposal

This study focused on the cluster initiative Telematics Valley and the success factors that are needed for the organisation to become competitive in the regional telematics cluster of Gothenburg. Furthermore, the focus of the study was to investigate what actions are needed by Telematics Valley in order for the cluster initiative to contribute towards regional growth and development. This study therefore had distinctive focus areas which were explored through the perspective of Telematics Valley and the region of Gothenburg. As stated in the problem discussion, there are few studies that concern how the organisations within the clusters are facilitated through cluster initiatives. Since this particular study only investigated how one specific cluster initiative potentially could facilitate for involved organisations in the regional cluster of other cluster organisations would be of value. This type of comparative benchmarking could compare how different cluster initiatives from different nations can facilitate organisations within the specific regional clusters.

There is a lack of research that is directly concerned with success factors needed by cluster initiatives. The reason for this is that qualitative success is difficult to define and measure. For future research, the authors therefore suggest a quantitative study on factors which makes cluster initiatives successful.

As mentioned, Telematics Valley needs to find their specific value offering. The creation of a value proposition which would enable the organisation to find a better fit in terms of the potential collaborative partners and members would therefore be of value. Since framing a value proposition requires extensive and precise research, a potential future investigation area could be to conduct market research and in depth exploration of how Telematics Valley can frame their value proposition.

References

Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review. *English Linguistics Research*, *3*(1), 39.

Andersen, I. (1998). Den uppenbara verkligheten: Val av samhällsvetenskaplig metod. 1st Ed. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Andersson, T., Schwaag-Serger, S., Sörvik, J., & Wise, E. (2004). *Cluster Policies Whitebook*. IKED -International Organisation for Knowledge Economy and Enterprise Development.

Asheim, B. T. (1995), 'Regionale innovasjonssystem en sosialt og territorielt forankret teknologipolitikk', Nordisk Samhällsgeografisk Tidskrift, Vol. 20, pp. 1734.

Asheim, B. (1996). Industrial districts as 'learning regions': A condition for prosperity. *European Planning Studies*, *4*(4), 379–400.

Asheim, B. T. (2012). The Changing Role of Learning Regions in the Globalizing Knowledge Economy: A Theoretical Re-examination. *Regional Studies*, *46*(8), 993–1004.

Asheim, B., & Gertler, M. S. (2005). The Geography of Innovation: Regional Innovation Systems. In J. Fagerberg, D. C. Mowery, & R. R. Nelson (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Innovation* (pp. 291-317). Oxford University Press.

Asheim, B. T., & Coenen, L. (2005). Knowledge bases and regional innovation systems: Comparing Nordic clusters. *Research Policy*, *34*(8), 1173–1190.

Audretsch, D. B., & Feldman, M. P. (2004). Knowledge spillovers and the geography of innovation. In *Handbook of regional and urban economics* (Vol. 4, pp. 2713-2739). Elsevier.

Baecke, P., & Bocca, L. (2017). The value of vehicle telematics data in insurance risk selection processes. *Decision Support Systems*, *98*, 69–79.

Ball, W. L. (2006). Telematics. Prehospital Emergency Care, 10 (3), 320-321.

Baptista, R., Swann, P., 1996. The Dynamics of Growth and Entry in Industrial Clusters: a Comparative Study of the US and UK Computer Industries, Working Paper a165, Centre for Busi- ness Strategy, London Business School.

Baptista, R., & Swann, P. (1998). Do firms in clusters innovate more?. *Research policy*, 27(5), 525-540.

Bell, E., Bryman, A., & Harley, B. (2019). *Business Research Methods* 5th ed. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Braczyk, H., Cooke, P., & Heidenreich, M. (1998). *Regional Innovation Systems: The Role of Governances in a Globalized World* (1st ed.). Routledge.

Bryman, A and Bell, E. (2015). *Business Research Methods*. Oxford University Press. Third Edition.

Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research Methods. 4th ed. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.

Carlsson, B., & Stankiewicz, R. (1991). On the nature, function and composition of technological systems. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, *1*(2), 93–118.

Chapman, K. (2009) Industrial Location. International Encyclopedia of Human Geography. Ed. R. Kitchin, N. Thrift. Elsevier Science. P. 396–401.

Chung, S. (2002). Building a national innovation system through regional innovation systems. *Technovation*, *22*(8), 485–491.

Creswell, J.W. (2014) Research design, *Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc.

Clarke, I., & Ramirez, M. (2014). Intermediaries and Capability Building in 'Emerging' Clusters. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, *32*(4), 714–730.

Cooke, P. (1992). Regional innovation systems: Competitive regulation in the new Europe. *Geoforum*, 23(3), 365–382.

Cooke, P. (2001). Regional Innovation Systems, Clusters, and the Knowledge Economy. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, *10*(4), 945–974.

Cooke, P. (2004) "*Regional innovation systems – an evolutionary approach*" In book: Regional Innovation Systems 2nd Edition, Routledge. Editors: P. Cooke et al. 2004.

Cooke, P., Gomez Uranga, M., & Etxebarria, G. (1997). Regional innovation systems: Institutional and organisational dimensions. *Research Policy*, *26*(4–5), 475–491.

Cooke, P., & Morgan, K. (1998). *The Associational Economy: Firms, Regions, and Innovation* (1st ed.). Oxford University Press.

Cooke, P.-Laurentis, C.-Tödtling, F.-Trippl, M. (2007): *Regional Knowledge Economies*. *Markets, Clusters and Innovation*. New Horizons in Regional Science, Edward Elgar Publishing.

Delgado, M., Porter, M. E., & Stern, S. (2016). Defining clusters of related industries. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *16*(1), 1-38.

Delgado, M., Porter, M. E., & Stern, S. (2014). Clusters, convergence, and economic performance. *Research policy*, *43*(10), 1785-1799.

Doloreux, D., & Parto, S. (2005). Regional innovation systems: Current discourse and unresolved issues. Technology in society, 27(2), 133-153.

De Silva, M., Howells, J., & Meyer, M. (2018). Innovation intermediaries and collaboration: Knowledge–based practices and internal value creation. *Research Policy*, 47(1), 70–87.

Duranton, G. and Kerr, W. 2015. The Logic of Agglomeration. Working Paper 16-037. The New Oxford Handbook of Economic Geography.

Dyer, W. G., & Wilkins, A. L. (1991). Better stories, not better constructs, to generate better theory: A rejoinder to Eisenhardt. The Academy of Management Review, 16(3), 613–619.

Edquist, C. (2012). Systems of Innovation: Technologies, Institutions and organisations (Science, Technology and the International Political Economy) (1st ed.). Routledge.

Eisenhardt, K.M. (1989) The Academy of Management Review. Vol. 14, No. 4 (Oct., 1989), pp. 532-550.

Etzkowitz, H., & Leydesdorff, L. (2000). The dynamics of innovation: from National Systems and "Mode 2" to a Triple Helix of university–industry–government relations. *Research Policy*, 29(2), 109–123.

Flyvbjerg, B., 2006. Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research. Qualitative Inquiry 12, 219–245.

Foster, P., Manning, S., & Terkla, D. (2013). The Rise of Hollywood East: Regional Film Offices as Intermediaries in Film and Television Production Clusters. *Regional Studies*, *49*(3), 433–450.

Frana, P. L. (2018). Telematics and the Early History of International Digital Information Flows. *IEEE Annals of the History of Computing*, 40(2), 32–47.

Economy of Latvia. Latvijas Universitātes Raksti. 754: 9-22.

Ketels, C. 2003. *The Development of the cluster concept – present experiences and further developments*. Volume 5. NRW conference on clusters, Harvard Business School.

Kettles, C., Memedovic, O. (2008). *From clusters to cluster-based economic development*. Int. J. Technological Learning, Innovation and Development, 1(3): 375–392

Kirch, W. 2008. Health Telematics. Encyclopedia of Public Health. Springer, Dordrecht.

Kim, W. C. (2005). Blue ocean strategy: from theory to practice. *California management review*, 47 (3), 105-121.

Klofsten, M.; Bienkowska, D.; Laur, I. and Sölvell, I. (2015) Success factors in cluster initiative management: Mapping out the 'big five', Industry and Higher Education, 29, 1, 65–7.

Koch, M.; Wang, H.; Bürgel, R. and Bäck, T. (2020). *Towards Data-driven Services in Vehicles*. In Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Vehicle Technology and Intelligent Transport Systems.

Korres, G.M. (2012). Handbook of Innovation Economics. Economic Issues, problems and perspectives. Nova Science Publishers.

Krugman, P. (1991) Increasing Returns and Economic Geography. The Journal of Political Economy. 99 (3): 483–499.

Künzel, M., Meier zu Köcker, G., Köhler, T. (2016). Clusters and Innovations: Cluster Initiatives as Drivers of Innovations. Ministry of Economic Affairs, Labour and Housing Baden-Württemberg.

Laur, I., Klofsten, M. and Bienkowska, D. (2012) '*Catching regional development dreams: a study of cluster initiatives as intermediaries*', European Planning Studies, Vol. 20, No. 11, pp.1909–1921.

Liao, S.-, Fei, W.-C., & Chen, C.-C. (2007). Knowledge sharing, absorptive capacity, and innovation capability: an empirical study of Taiwan's knowledge-intensive industries. *Journal of Information Science*, *33*(3), 340–359.

Ligenzowska, J. (2016). Regional Innovation Systems in Sweden. *Ekonomia Międzynarodowa*, *16*, 388–405.

Lin, C. H., Tung, C. M., Huang, C. T. (2006) Elucidating the Industrial Cluster Effect from a System Dynamics Perspective. Technovation. 26 (4): 473–482

Lundvall, B.A. (1992) National Systems of Innovation: Towards a Theory of Innovation and Interactive Learning. Pinter Publishers, London.

Madden, R. 2009. "Philosophical approach to economic recovery." Marketing Week, 32:15-16.

Markusen, A. (1996). Sticky Places in Slippery Space: A Typology of Industrial Districts. *Economic Geography*, 72(3), 293.

Malerba, F. (2002). Sectoral systems of innovation and production. *Research Policy*, *31*(2), 247–264.

Maurer, I., Bartsch, V., & Ebers, M. (2011). The Value of Intra-organisational Social Capital: How it Fosters Knowledge Transfer, Innovation Performance, and Growth. *organisation Studies*, *32*(2), 157–185.

McEvily, Bill, & Marcus, Alfred (2005). Embedded ties and the acquisition of competitive capabilities. Strategic Management Journal, 26, 1033–1056.

Mikulski J. (2010) Using Telematics in Transport. In: Mikulski J. (eds) Transport Systems Telematics. TST 2010. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol 104. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Morris, P. (2007). Value Judgement, BRW, Vol.29: 64-64.

Moss, T. (2009). Intermediaries and the governance of sociotechnical networks in transition. *Environment and Planning A*, *41*(6), 1480-1495.

Pachura, P. (2010) Regional Cohesion: Effectiveness of Network Structures. Springer- Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.

Porter, M.E. (1990) The Competitive Advantage of Nations. New York: Free Press

Porter, M.E. (1998). *Clusters and the New Economics of Competition*. Harvard Business Review, 76, pp.77-90

Porter, M.E. (1998) Location, Clusters and the 'new' Microeconomics of Competition. *Business Economics*. 33 (1): 7–17.

Porter, M.E. (2000) Location, Competition and Economic Development: Local Clusters in the Global Economy. Economic Development Quarterly. 14 (1): 15–31.

Porter M.E. (2001) Clusters and Competitiveness. Findings from the Cluster Mapping Project. Corporate Strategies for the Digital Economy. Cambridge: Sloan Industry Centre.

Porter, M.E. (2003) The Economic Performance of Regions // *Regional Studies*. 37 (6&7): 549–578.

Poveda, A. C. (2011) Economic Development and Growth in Colombia: An Empirical Analysis With Super-efficiency DEA and Panel Data Models // Socio- Economic Planning Sciences. 45 (4): 154–164.

Puga, D. (2009) The Magnitude and Causes of Agglomeration Economies. Journal of Regional Science. 50 (1): 203–219.

Reagans, Ray, & McEvily, Bill (2003). Network structure and knowledge transfer: The effects of cohesion and range. Administrative Science Quarterly, 48, 240–267. Rocha, H. (2004) Entrepreneurship and Development: The Role of Clusters. A Literature Review. Small Business Economics. 23 (5): 363–400.

Rogers, A., Castree, N., and Kitchin, R. (2013). A Dictionary of Human Geography. Oxford University Press.

Schrempf, B., Kaplan, D., and Schroeder, D. (2013). National, Regional, and Sectoral Systems of Innovation – An overview, Report for FP7 Project "Progress"

Schug, S.H. 2001. European and International Perspectives on Telematics in Healthcare: International Study of the Health Telematics Action Forum for Germany. IOS Press.

Schweiger, A., Sunyaev, A., Leimeister, J. M., & Krcmar, H. (2007). Information Systems and Healthcare XX: Toward Seamless Healthcare with Software Agents. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 19, 692–709.

Siggelkow, N., 2007. Persuasion with Case Studies. The Academy of Management Journal, 50(1), 20-24.

Sleet, D.A & Naumann, R.B. (2011) In book: Handbook of Traffic Psychology. Academic Press, 2011.

Slevitch, L. (2011). Qualitative and quantitative methodologies compared: Ontological and epistemological perspectives. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, *12*(1), 73-81.

Smedlund, A. (2006). The roles of intermediaries in a regional knowledge system. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, 7(2), 204–220.

Sternberg, R.J. (2009). Innovation, International Encyclopedia of Human Geography, edited by Thrift, N. and Kitchin, R. Elsevier Science Ltd, Oxford UK.

Stimson, R. J., Stough, R. R., Roberts, B. H. (2006) Industry Clusters and Industry ClusterAnalysis. Regional Economic Development: Analysis and Planning Strategy. Ed. R. J. Stimson,R. R. Stough, B. H. Roberts. New York: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Swords, J. (2013). Michael Porter's cluster theory as a local and regional development tool: The rise and fall of cluster policy in the UK. *Local Economy: The Journal of the Local Economy Policy Unit*, 28(4), 369–383.

Sölvell, Ö., Lindqvist, G., Ketels, C. (2003) The Cluster Initiative Green Book. Ivory Tower, Stockholm.
Tödtling, F., & Trippl, M. (2005). One size fits all? Research Policy, 34(8), 1203–1219.

Yin, R.K (1984) Case Study Research: Design and Methods. Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, California.

Van Wijk, Raymond, Jansen, Justin J. P., & Lyles, Marjorie A. (2008). Inter- and intraorganisational knowledge transfer: A meta-analytic review and assessment of its antecedents and consequences. Journal of Management Studies, 45, 830–853.

Wennberg, K., & Lindqvist, G. (2010). The effect of clusters on the survival and performance of new firms. *Small Business Economics*, *34*(3), 221-241.

Wu, Wei-ping (2008). Dimensions of social capital and firm competitiveness improvement: The mediating role of information sharing. Journal of Management Studies,45, 122–146.

Önday, Ö. (2016). National and Regional Innovation Systems, Industrial Policies and their Impacts on Firm Innovation Strategies and Performance - Economic Role of Knowledge. International Journal of Contemporary. Applied Sciences Vol. 3, No. 2, February 2016

Websites and online reports [URL]

All State (2020) "How Telematics May Help You Save Money on Car Insurance" retrieved 2021-03-18. [URL]

Business Region Gothenburg (2018) "*Cluster analysis automotive*" retrieved 2021-03-01. [URL]

Business Region Gothenburg (2021) "Gothenburg Green City Zone" retrieved 2021-02-02. [URL]

Chalmers University (n.d) "Wireless systems" retrieved 2021-02-11. [URL]

Electric City Gothenburg (n.d) "*ElectriCity – cooperation on tomorrow's transports*" retrieved 2021-02-11. [URL]

Ericsson (n.d) "Ericsson in Sweden" retrieved 2021-02-10. [URL]

Ernst & Young (2013) "The quest for Telematics 4.0Creating sustainable value propositions supporting car-web integration" retrieved 2021-03-01. [URL]

European Commission (2014). "Framework for State aid for research and development and innovation" (Commission Communication 2014/C 198/01) retrived 2021-03-06. [URL]

European Cluster Collaboration Platform (n.d) "*Cluster definitions*" retrieved 2021-02-15. [URL]

European Commission (n.d) *"European Telematics - Advancing the Information Society"* retrieved 2021-03-18. [URL]

European Commission (2015) "*eCall in all new cars from April 2018*" retrieved 2021-02-20. [URL]

European Commission (2018) "The European Capital of Innovation Awards" retrieved 2021-03-10. [URL]

Fortune Business Insights (2020) "Vehicle Telematics Market Size, Share | Global Industry Trends [2027]" retrieved 2021-03-01. [URL]

Manning, J., 2018. *Fleet telematics must comply with EU's new data protection rules*. [online] Fleet Europe. Available at: (URL)

GoCo (n.d) "A new health innovation cluster in West Sweden" retrieved 2021-02-06. [URL]

Gothenburg City (2021) "Brief municipal facts" retrieved 2021-02-05. [URL]

Gothenburg University (2020) "Digitalization of society" retrieved 2021-02-10. [URL]

Invest In Gothenburg (n.d) "Automotive" retrieved 2021-02-05. [URL]

Invest in Gothenburg (2020) "Swedish Minister breaks ground on health cluster expansion" retrieved 2021-02-06. [URL]

McKinsey & Company (2018) "Telematics: Poised for strong global growth" retrieved 2021-02-20. [URL]

Mordor Intelligence (2021) "Telematics Market - Growth, Trends, COVID-19 Impact, and Forecasts (2021 - 2026)" retrieved 2021-02-20. [URL]

OECD (2005) "The Measurement of Scientific and Technological Activities: Guidelines for Collecting and Interpreting Innovation Data: Oslo Manual, Third Edition" prepared by the Working Party of National Experts on Scientific and Technology Indicators, OECD, Paris, para. 71. retrived 2021-03-04. [URL]

Statista (2021) "*Telematics penetration rate worldwide in 2016, by key country*" retrieved 2021-02-20. [URL]

Telematics (n.d) "What Is Telematics Insurance" retrieved 2021-03-18. [URL]

Telematics (n.d.) "What is vehicle telematics?" retrieved 2021-01-29. [URL]

Telematics Valley (n.d.) "About us" retrieved 2021-01-29. [URL]

Vinnova (2017) – "*The automotive industry in Sweden - A cluster study*". Author: Hans Pohl - RISE Viktoria, Vinnova - Swedish Governmental Agency for Innovation Systems/Verket för Innovationssystem. retrieved 2021-02-21. [URL]

Vinnova (2020) "Making future transportation fossil-free" retrieved 2021-02-05. [URL]

Vision Research Reports (2020) "Automotive Telematics Market Size, Statistics, Industry Growth, Value Chain, Trends And Forecast To 2027" retrieved 2021-03-07. [URL]

Volvo group (n.d) "Looking back – stories from the archive" retrieved 2021-02-05. [URL]

WHO (2009) WHO Global Observatory for eHealth, 2009. *Telemedicine: opportunities and developments in Member States: report on the second global survey on eHealth*. (Global Observatory for eHealth Series, 2) retrieved 2021-03-05 [URL]

World Economic Forum (2020) *"These are the most innovative economies in the world"* retrieved 2021-02-10. [URL]

Appendices

Appendix A: Interview Guide

Introduction

• Description, purpose & structure of the interview will be presented (the number of questions asked &

the approximate length of the interview will also be stated).

- Do you accept that this interview is being recorded, for the purpose of transcription?
- Do you have any further questions before we proceed?

General – Industry

1. What does your organisation do and what role do you have?

2. How do you/your clients/your member organisations leverage telematics in order to offer

your/ their different connected services?

3. How do you think cluster initiatives could enhance and contribute towards regional growth and development?

Telematics Valley

3. Tell us about your experiences with Telematics Valley so far? How familiar are you with the organisation?

4. How would you describe what the interaction looks like between your company/association and

Telematics Valley?

Potential follow up: Have you been participating in any of the Telematics Valley meetings or seminars? What would you like more/less of during these gatherings? What would have been beneficial for you? What can they do better?

5. What are the biggest values that a cluster initiative like Telematics Valley brings to the regional industry and to the member organisations in Gothenburg?

6. What contexts/offerings do you think that organisations within the telematics industries who are part of a regional cluster lack? What should Telematics Valley support the members with that they lack?

Potential follow up: We understand that there are not enough resources to have employees for Telematics Valley, but do you think that Telematics Valley would benefit from having one employee half/full time during a shorter period of time?

7. Now during Covid 19, how do you think Telematics should act in order to move forward, bring more value to the regional industry and to perhaps recruit new members?

8. What actions should Telematics Valley focus on in a mid-term perspective?

Follow up: Do you think that the members would benefit more from a more globalized network? What approach is most suitable for Telematics Valley? Global or regional? Digital or more physical? Should they communicate in English or in Swedish?

Or perhaps a hybrid version?

Innovation

10. How do you think Telematics Valley can assist in driving your innovation processes forward?

12. Is there any organisation/collaboration arena that you think Telematics Valley study/collaborate with?

Follow up: What kind of collaboration should that be?

Sustainability

13. We have been thinking about the sustainability question. All initiatives need sustainability to be a

part of their DNA. What value can Telematics Valley bring from a sustainability perspective?

14. Are you aware of the Green City Zone Project in Gothenburg? What value could Telematics Valley

bring to this concept?

15. Is there anything you would like to add in the end?

Appendix B: Thematic Analysis Process



Visualised by the authors

Appendix C

Codes	Concepts	Themes
Role, facilitator, integrator, consultant, innovator, catalyst, structuring, helping, identifying, gather information, advisory role inspirational role, connector, thought leader	 Telematics Valley needs to facilitate the connections and coming together of related organisations. There is a need for Telematics Valley to provide more valuable offerings to the actors in the region 	The role of Telematics Valley
Network, contacts, meeting people, connections , conversations, interaction, relationships, connecting dots, dialogues	 Telematics Valley is a network organisation tha connects people and brains The telematics industry requires a stronger network within the region. More people need to connect and build contacts for the future. Meeting people in the same area of field is important for development and innovation at organisation, industry and regional level 	The Importance of Networks
Internal Openness between members , Activeness, engagement, positiveness, presence, energy, honesty, trust, mindset, passion	-There is a need for involvement of the member companies in Telematics Valley. Organisations need to be open in terms of sharing their experiences and expertise with each other	Openness and Trust Within Networks
Knowledge, knowledge exchange, sharing discussions, experiences, solutions, information gaining/sharing, know-how, learning, gaining knowledge, different perspectives, ideas, capacities, innovation creation	 Knowledge exchange enhances innovation performance of firms. Builds awareness about the new radical innovations, trends and technologies. Sharing of best practices and experiences amongst each other 	Knowledge and Knowledge Exchange
Collaboration, Partnerships, cooperation, finding solutions together, work jointly, occasions , projects, partnerships, cross- industry collaboration, involvement	 Collaboration can aid in firms' innovation processes. Getting help and support from relevant organisations and actors within the same industry Telematics Valley wants to promote collaboration in the regional industry. 	Collaboration Between Actors in Related Industries

Rebranding, Marketing, 2.0, Rebranding, new start, standardization, market study, survey, market research, developing, evolving, modernizing, structuring, revamping, becoming established, promotion	- Telematics Valley needs to revamp itself and modernise it, there is a need for Telematics Valley 2.0	Revamping of Telematics Valley				
Mission, vision, reach a common understanding, common expectations and interests, business model, ambition	-The need of a clear mission and vision statement and finding a common ground for the members expectations	Defining the Mission and Vision Value Offering				
Value offering, value proposition, value creation, needs, reward, win-win situations, value capture, strength, expectations, purpose reason for existing, achievements, offerings, sweet-spot, competitive edge	- The need of finding the purpose and the value offered by Telematics Valley					
New name, name change, telematics, connectivity, IoT, old fashioned Employee, recruitment, full time, half time	-A potential name change which is more up to date	Name Change				
	- The potential action of recruiting someone to handle the coordinating and administrative tasks	Recruitment of an Employee				
Activities, support, arrangements, representatives, education, workshops, round table discussions, student, specific meeting topics, events, content, new perspectives, involve academia, focus areas, administration Governmental support/funding opportunities, authorities, investments, infrastructure, city, state European Union, triple helix	- The importance of offering and arranging relevant activities and interesting content	Potential activities, content and arrangements				
Sustainability, Green city zone	- Involvement of areas of sustainability and the Green City Zone	The Sustainability Perspective				
Short term, Covid 19, Digital interaction, mental presence, physical/online, hybrid approach	-How the interaction should look like during and after Covid 19 (physical or digital)	Strategy During and After Covid 19				
Regional, local, closeness, national approach global approach, international, barriers, globalization	- What geographical approach Telematics Valley should take in order to make the cluster initiative competitive	The Global vs. the Regional Perspective				
Gothenburg as a region, cluster, Lindholmen, proximity, uniqueness, competencies/ Industry specific knowledge	- The advantages of having a proximity to related industries in the region	Gothenburg Region				
Open, closed, excluding, including	-The question regarding how open Telematics Valley should be for external actors	Open vs. Closed Community				

Appendix D

Number of code within the specific themes	Resp- ondent 9	Resp- ondent 3	Resp- ondent 6	Resp- ondent 13	Resp- ondent 14	Resp- ondent 11	Resp- ondent 7	Resp- ondent 10	Resp- ondent 12	Resp- ondent 8	Resp- ondent 15	Resp- ondent 1 & 2	Resp- ondents 4 & 5	Resp- ondents 16 & 17	Total Codes
The Role of Telematics Valley	8	5	3	4	2	8	5	6	7	2	4	10	4	5	91
The Importance of Networks	10	11	7	12	14	24	22	4	18	1	4	13	23	29	138
Openness and Trust Within Networks	3	3	0	1	0	13	3	0	9	0	3	23	0	22	80
Knowledge Exchange	1	11	3	10	0	16	11	8	5	0	5	9	2	10	91
Collaboration Between Actors in Related Industries	18	5	3	6	6	20	14	26	8	3	3	7	3	10	132
Revamping of Telematics Valley	6	5	2	2	14	7	3	3	2	10	5	20	0	7	86
Defining the Mission and Vision	0	0	0	8	2	4	7	0	2	0	14	4	3	2	46
Value Offering Name Change	9	5	11	32	24	13	16	6	8	1	8	8	9	12	162
Recruitment of an Employee	1	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	3	4	1	9	22
	2	2	5	0	3	6	0	0	0	0	4	0	4	7	33

Role of Telematics Valley	3	6	9	6	14	15	3	2	4	0	23	10	4	7	106
Future Activities	12	7	3	8	14	16	14	4	10	1	21	14	4	20	148
The Sustainability Perspective	2	3	5	1	6	5	5	4	3	1	5	4	5	5	54
Strategy Durin and After Covid 19	5	8	4	0	8	14	6	4	14	4	14	13	3	4	101
The Global vs the Regional Perspective															
Global	5	2	4	5	4	6	11	8	8	6	6	9	3	7	84
Regional	2	4	8	0	7	1	4	7	0	1	7	5	7	5	58
Gothenburg Region	3	2	5	4	0	5	4	1	3	6	2	2	10	11	58
Open vs. Closed Community	0	1	0	1	0	13	3	0	1	0	3	0	9	7	22